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          1  FINANCE AND PUBLIC SAFETY

          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Good morning, and

          3  welcome to the end of the second week of the City

          4  Council's Finance Committee hearings on the Mayor's

          5  Executive Budget for Fiscal Year 2007.

          6                 My name is David Weprin, and I'm

          7  Chair of the City Council Finance Committee.  This

          8  hearing is going to be Co-Chaired by Peter Vallone,

          9  Jr., Chair of the Public Safety Committee.  We will

         10  have a number of Members joining us shortly.  But

         11  right now, we have Council Member Alan Gerson, from

         12  Manhattan, and I also saw Council Member Robert

         13  Jackson, from Manhattan.  I know he's floating

         14  around here somewhere.

         15                 The first segment of today's budget

         16  hearing will cover the budgets of the Police

         17  Department, the Office of Emergency Management, the

         18  Civilian Complaint Review Board, and the District

         19  Attorney's Offices, and Special Narcotics

         20  Prosecutor.  We have invited the City Police

         21  Commissioner, Raymond Kelly, who is here now, to

         22  testify and share his outlook on the Police

         23  Department's proposed Fiscal Year '07 budget.

         24                 This Committee hopes to determine the

         25  manner in which the Department plans to deploy 800
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          2  additional officers which the Executive Plan has

          3  provided funding for, and the additional 400

          4  officers who will be redeployed to policing

          5  functions as part of the Department's

          6  civilianization plan.

          7                 In addition, this Committee would

          8  like an update on the Departments efforts to secure

          9  counter-terrorism funding from the federal

         10  government.  This money would contribute

         11  significantly to our City's counter- terrorism

         12  efforts to assure the safety of our City's

         13  residents.

         14                 Subsequently, we will be hearing from

         15  the Office of Emergency Management, and we'll be

         16  inquiring as to the sufficiency of their budget,

         17  their efforts to obtain emergency preparedness

         18  grants, and the status of the new OEM Command

         19  Center.

         20                 Immediately following their

         21  testimony, we will hear from the Civilian Complaint

         22  Review Board, which receives, investigates, and

         23  recommends actions to the Police Commissioner on

         24  complaints by the public against the New York City

         25  Police Department members.  Currently, the Board is
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          2  in need of additional funding in order for the Board

          3  to hire and maintain a sufficient number of

          4  investigators.

          5                 In the last segment of today's

          6  hearing, we will be hearing testimony from the

          7  District Attorney's Special Narcotic Prosecutor's

          8  offices.  The City's five DAs are responsible for

          9  criminal and penal law enforcement, which include

         10  the initial screening of cases, preparation of

         11  hearings, presentation of cases in court for trial

         12  and appeal.

         13                 Our Committees are eager to hear

         14  about and discuss proposed increased funding to

         15  enhance the Child Abuse Investigation and

         16  Prosecutions and the capacities of Child Advocacy

         17  Centers throughout the City of New York.

         18                 I will now turn the mike over to my

         19  colleague, Chair Peter Vallone Jr., Chair of the

         20  Council's Public Safety Committee.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you Chair

         22  Weprin.  I'd just like to recognize that we've also

         23  been joined by our Minority Leader, Jim Oddo, one of

         24  the Council's leading voices for the additional

         25  police officers we were successful in finally
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          2  receiving and also more money for our District

          3  Attorneys.

          4                 I will forego our opening statements.

          5    I know that the Commissioner has just informed me

          6  obviously, that most of us know there is a power

          7  outage which has affected Amtrack, and needs to get

          8  back to work to deal with that situation.  So we

          9  will move straight into your testimony Commissioner.

         10    Thank you.

         11                 COMMISSIONER KELLY:  Thank you very

         12  much.  Good morning.  Thank you for the opportunity

         13  to discuss the Mayor's Executive Budget for the 2007

         14  Fiscal Year.  Since my last appearance here in

         15  March, crime in New York City has continued to fall

         16   --  let me introduce my colleagues.  Excuse me.

         17  Our Deputy Commissioner of Management and Budget,

         18  Edward Allocco is here.  And also our Chief of

         19  Personnel, Raphael Pennaro, and our Commanding

         20  Officer of our Criminal Justice Bureau, Chief

         21  William Morris is here.  And John Gerish, the Deputy

         22  Chief from our Office of Analysis and Planning.

         23                 In the first four months of 2006,

         24  major felonies decreased by four and a half percent

         25  Citywide, and 33 percent in the subway system.  This
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          2  remarkable success was achieved in large part to the

          3  strategic deployment of personnel at peak times for

          4  criminal activity in the subways, which are school

          5  dismissals and the evening rush hour.  This focused

          6  deployment of resources is also the key to the

          7  success of Operation Impact, which since its launch

          8  in 2003, has helped the Department to continue to

          9  drive crime down to new lows.  As of April 30, major

         10  felonies are down 17 percent in our 20 Impact zones.

         11

         12                 If we are going to build on the

         13  outstanding achievements of New York City police

         14  officers, we must stop the flow of illegal guns into

         15  the City.  Violent and senseless killings, like the

         16  deaths of Detectives Dillon Stewart and Daniel

         17  Enchautegui, are the inevitable price of illegal

         18  firearms circulating on our streets.  Stopping them

         19  before they get here is one of the most pressing

         20  issues in laws enforcement today.  As you know,

         21  Mayor Bloomberg recently convened a meeting of

         22  mayors from across the country to discuss the

         23  problem of illegal guns.  At that meeting, we shared

         24  some of the experiences of the Police Department in

         25  dealing with this menace.
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          2                 While the strict enforcement of gun

          3  laws has always been a primary concern for the

          4  Police Department, as evidenced by the 16 percent

          5  increase in gun arrests over the last two years, we

          6  are taking steps to focus our efforts even further.

          7  As you may know, we recently established a Firearms

          8  Suppression Division, which joins existing resources

          9  such as the Firearms Investigation Unit, and the

         10  Joint Firearms Task Force.  The results, we believe,

         11  is a comprehensive approach to fighting gun crimes

         12  and gun trafficking.

         13                 Our partnership with the Department

         14  of Education remains very strong.  In our efforts to

         15  maintain a safe learning environment for children,

         16  we continue to utilize a host of police resources,

         17  including precinct youth officers, patrol borough

         18  truancy units, and our School Safety Division task

         19  forces, which are made of both uniformed officers

         20  and schools safety agents.  So far this school year,

         21  major felonies in public schools have fallen nearly

         22  10 percent, while our Impact schools have

         23  experienced a 16 percent decline.

         24                 Our aggressive traffic enforcement

         25  efforts are also showing results.  So far, in 2006,

                                                            10

          1  FINANCE AND PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  we've made nearly 3,000 arrests for driving while

          3  intoxicated, and issued nearly 44,000 summonses

          4  related to aggressive driving.  As of the end of

          5  April, traffic related fatalities are down 21

          6  percent.  The City's streets are safer not only for

          7  motorists, but for bicyclists as well.  There's been

          8  just one bicycle fatality this year, down from seven

          9  last year at this time.  That's a decline of 86

         10  percent.

         11                 Of course, fulfilling our core

         12  mission requires a sufficient number of uniformed

         13  officers.  We're very grateful to Mayor Bloomberg

         14  for allocating funds in his proposed Executive

         15  budget for the hiring of 800 additional police

         16  officers.  The hiring of 400 new civilian members

         17  will further increase the number of police officers

         18  on the streets.

         19                 Expanding our ranks will allow us to

         20  offer more flexible patrol coverage and will ease

         21  some of the train on policing resources caused by

         22  our counter- terrorism initiative. Upon the

         23  completion of their training, we will assign our new

         24  officers through the Patrol, Housing, and Transit

         25  Bureaus, based on our analysis of where they can be
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          2  deployed most effectively.

          3                 We remain as committed as ever to

          4  strengthening our counter- terrorism capabilities.

          5  We are maintaining our defense of the City's

          6  landmarks and transit hubs through Operation Atlas,

          7  while sharpening our intelligence gathering.  We

          8  constantly seek new ways to protect New York City

          9  from both terrorism and crime. Last month, we began

         10  deploying new closed circuit cameras in public

         11  locations as part of Operation Argas.  This system,

         12  in coordination with the MTA's expanded video

         13  surveillance program, will provide a crucial layer

         14  of security for New Yorkers and visitors to the

         15  City.               We will continue to make use of

         16  federal funding to keep our City safe.  To date, the

         17  Department has received $280 million in counter-

         18  terrorism grants.  Of this, $47.7 million was

         19  provided in Fiscal Year 2002; $99.2 million in FY

         20  2003; $58.9 million in Fiscal Year, federal Fiscal

         21  Year 2004; $74.2 million in federal Fiscal Year

         22  2005.  As I mentioned in March, the Department of

         23  Homeland Security is currently considering its grant

         24  funding allocation for federal Fiscal Year 2006.

         25  The City's application included a request for $219.7

                                                            12

          1  FINANCE AND PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  million for the Police Department to be spent as

          3  follows:

          4                 $81.5 million for the Lower Manhattan

          5  Security Initiative

          6                 $100 million for FY'07, to fully fund

          7  Operation Atlas, and enhance security coverage of

          8  the transit system

          9                 $38.2 million for ongoing

         10  counter-terrorism training, Personnel Protective

         11  Equipment, CBRNE detection equipment, inter-operable

         12  communications and equipment for information

         13  gathering and intelligence analysis.

         14                 The grants will be awarded to the

         15  states on May 31, 2006.  However, the NYPD allotment

         16  will not be known until July of 2006.  In the weeks

         17  in between, New York State will divide the award

         18  among local governments, after retaining 20 percent

         19  of the total.  After this, OMB will distribute its

         20  allocation to City agencies.

         21                 As I reported in March, the City

         22  vigorously advocated for a revision of the State

         23  Homeland Security Grant formula, so that funding

         24  would be distributed based on threat level, rather

         25  than population.  As a result of intense lobbying
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          2  efforts, under the federal Fiscal Year 2006, State

          3  Homeland Security Grant, and the Law Enforcement

          4  Terrorism Prevention Program, each state will

          5  receive 0.75 percent of the government's total

          6  allocation, and the remainder of funds will be

          7  allocated based on analysis of risk and need.

          8  Further, the President's Budget for the Federal

          9  Fiscal Year 2007 includes a proposal to lower state

         10  minimums to 0.25 percent and allocate the rest of

         11  the funding based on risk.

         12                 The President's proposed budget for

         13  2007 also calls for an increased funding to the

         14  Urban Area Security Initiative and the State

         15  Homeland Security Grant programs.  But it proposes

         16  to eliminate the Law Enforcement Terrorism

         17  Prevention Program.  This would mean a net reduction

         18  of $244 million nationwide.

         19                 As for the Executive Budget and its

         20  impact on the Police Department:

         21                 The Department's Fiscal Year 2007

         22  budget is $3.8 billion, of which 93 percent is

         23  allocated for personal services and seven percent

         24  for OTPS.  The FY '07 budget is $73 million lower

         25  than this year's budget of $3.9 billion.  City funds
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          2  have increased by $85 billion.  However, this

          3  increase is offset by $158 million in federal,

          4  state, and private funds that are not included in

          5  the FY 07 Executive Budget.  The Department

          6  anticipates that new grant funding and unspent FY

          7   '06 grant funds will eventually be added to the

          8  FY'07 budget.

          9                 The major highlight of the Executive

         10  Budget is the provision to add 1,200 new members of

         11  the Department.  Of those new personnel, 800 will be

         12  uniformed police officers.  And 400 will be

         13  civilians who will take on administrative duties

         14  currently performed by uniformed officers, thereby

         15  freeing them for deployment to enforcement

         16  responsibilities.

         17                 The first 400 uniformed positions

         18  will be added to the July '06 class.  The second 400

         19  will be added to the January '07 class.  The 400

         20  civilians will be hired in June '06, and February

         21   '07, in groups of 80, which is the most that the

         22  Police Academy can accommodate in each training

         23  session.

         24                 The funding provided for these new

         25  positions is as follows: $20.6 million for FY '07
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          2  for the uniformed positions, increasing in fiscal

          3  years thereafter to reflect changes in the officers'

          4  salaries.  Civilian positions are funded with $8.5

          5  million in FY '07, rising to $12.2 million in FY

          6   '09.  In addition, $2.7 million in FY '07, $2.4

          7  million in FY '08, and $12. Million thereafter is

          8  allocated for various OTPS items such as vests,

          9  helmets, vehicles, fuel, and miscellaneous supplies

         10  necessary to equip and support the additional

         11  officers.

         12                 The Executive Budget also includes

         13  new funding for the following major initiatives:

         14                 18,000 Threat Level II vests will be

         15  replaced with redesigned Level IIIA vests.  To fund

         16  the replacement, the City Council and the Mayor

         17  provided $12 million over the next two fiscal years.

         18    We estimate that the entire process, which

         19  includes measurement, manufacturing, testing, and

         20  distribution of the new vests will take

         21  approximately 18 months.

         22                 The Department's recruitment

         23  advertising budget has been increased by $500,000 in

         24  FY '06, and by $2 million annually, beginning in FY

         25   '07.  This will fund and expanded media campaign
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          2  required by the increase in the number of open

          3  filing days.  In FY '07, applicants will be able to

          4  file for the police exam any day of the year.

          5                 To support the transfer of the

          6  Department of Transportation Parking Control Unit to

          7  the NYPD, $5.6 million in FY '07, and $4.1 million

          8  annually thereafter is provided to fund 99 civilian

          9  positions and associated OTPS costs.  This

         10  functional transfer will centralize the enforcement

         11  of traffic and parking regulations within the New

         12  York Police Department, allowing for more efficient

         13  and effective operations.

         14                 As a result of the additional funding

         15  for uniformed personnel provided in the Executive

         16  Budget, the Department's peak uniformed headcount

         17  will increase from the federal requirement of 37,038

         18  officers to 37,438 in July, and 37,838 in January

         19   '07.  Our goal is to hire approximately 2,000

         20  officers this July, and 2,000 officers in January of

         21   '07.  These numbers include the 800 newly funded

         22  positions as well as approximately 3,200 to replace

         23  officers lost to attrition.

         24                 Our full- time civilian headcount

         25  will be increased to 10.272.  This increase includes
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          2  the addition of 400 positions for the

          3  civilianization program, and 99 positions created by

          4  the transfer of DOT's Parking Control Unit to the

          5  Police Department. The FY '07 part- time staffing is

          6  7,644.  Part- time staffing includes School Safety

          7  Agents, School Crossing Guards, and Police Cadets.

          8  The total civilian authorized headcount for Fiscal

          9  Year 2007 is expected to be 17,916.

         10                 Our Fiscal Year 2006 overtime

         11  spending projection is $412 million, nearly $90

         12  million of which will be reimbursed through grants

         13  and other streams of revenue, leaving a balance of

         14  $321 million to be paid with City funds.  This is

         15  $21 million more that the $300 million in City funds

         16  spent in Fiscal Year 2005.  The change is

         17  attributable to a decrease in federal dollars for

         18  Operation Atlas.  The current Fiscal Year 2006

         19  overtime budget is $317 million, plus expected

         20  revenues, will cover all but $75 million of this

         21  year's costs.  The remainder will be funded with

         22  existing PS surplus.

         23                 The FY '07 overtime budget is $295.2

         24  million, which is $21.5 lower than the current FY

         25   '06 budget of $316.7 million. During the Executive
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          2  Plan process, the Department's uniformed overtime

          3  budget was increased by $2 million in FY '07, and $4

          4  million annually thereafter, to cover overtime

          5  expenses incurred by the new 800 police officers.

          6  Additionally, $350,000 was added to meet the needs

          7  of the Parking Control Unit.  In spite of these

          8  increases, the FY '07 overtime budget will be

          9  insufficient to cover the projected expenditures of

         10  $384.7 million.  As I mentioned during the March

         11  hearing, the Department's overtime budget has been

         12  reduced over the past two fiscal years, notably in

         13  the category of New Arrests and Planned Events.

         14                 As always, the Department will

         15  endeavor to achieve overtime savings wherever

         16  possible.  Thanks to the efforts of department

         17  management and the members of the Overtime

         18  Assessment Committee, between calendar year 2002,

         19  and the end of calendar year 2005, the uniformed

         20  deployment to planned events has decreased by a

         21  cumulative total of $42.9 million.

         22                 The Mayor has also released the

         23  Fiscal Year 2007 Executive Capital Budget Commitment

         24  Plan, which totals $589.1 million for the Police

         25  Department, and covers Fiscal Years 2006 to 2010.
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          2  In the Executive Plan, the Department has been able

          3  to secure an additional $28.6 million for use in the

          4  following ways:

          5                 $16.8 million is provided to expand

          6  and/or complete various Department technology

          7  initiatives, including $10.9 million for the Local

          8  Area and Wide Area Network Infrastructure Project;

          9  $4.1 million for the Real Time Crime Center; and

         10  $1.8 million for Computer Forensic equipment.

         11                 And additional $10 million is

         12  provided as a lump sum to be used between 2007 and

         13  2010 for the renovation of leased space.  This is

         14  necessitated by the Department's relocation from

         15  various facilities.  All relocations are pending the

         16  identification of suitable alternative sites and the

         17  negotiation of lease terms by the Department of

         18  Citywide Administrative Services.

         19                 $1.8 million for the renovation of

         20  the Headquarters Firing Range has been restored.

         21  Funding for this project was re allocated to

         22  subsidize a series of boiler and chiller replacement

         23  projects, which are no longer eligible for ENCORE

         24  financing.

         25                 Lastly, $5.4 million in design funds
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          2  for the new 40th Precinct was advanced from Fiscal

          3  Year 2009 to Fiscal Year 2008.

          4                 The Department is moving forward with

          5  the design and construction of two precincts on

          6  Staten Island.  The new 121st Precinct, and a new

          7  facility for the existing 120th Precinct.  As I

          8  mentioned at the Preliminary Budget Hearing, the

          9  120th Precinct has an approved budget of $46.1

         10  million.  At this time, there are no appropriations

         11  for $33.2 million of this approved budget. Without

         12  the full $46.1 million, the Department cannot

         13  proceed with the construction of this facility.

         14                 For the construction of a new 121st

         15  Precinct, $25 million has been budgeted.  However,

         16  it's estimated that the total of $31.7 million, or

         17  an increase of $6.7 million will be needed to

         18  complete this project.  As I noted in March, once

         19  this project reaches 50 percent of design

         20  development, we will conduct a joint engineering

         21  review of scope, specifications, and prevailing

         22  construction costs with OMB.  Upon conclusion of

         23  this review, the budget will need to be adjusted.

         24                 Four other precincts replacement

         25  projects are included in the Capital Plan.  We are
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          2  currently working with DCAS to find appropriate

          3  sites for the 66th and 110th Precincts.  We are also

          4  evaluating the possibility of reconstructing the

          5  precincts in their present locations if suitable

          6  sites are not available. Design of the new 40th

          7  Precinct will begin in FY '08.  The precinct will be

          8  located at East 149th Street and Saint Ann's Avenue

          9  in the Bronx.  For the new 70th Precinct, we have

         10  asked DCAS to begin acquiring a site located on

         11  Ocean Avenue in Brooklyn.  The $25 million budgeted

         12  for each of these precincts may not be sufficient.

         13  Again, all funding requirements will be updated

         14  after the joint engineering review with OMB is

         15  conducted.

         16                 In addition to these projects, the

         17  rehabilitation of the 9th and the 17th Precincts is

         18  underway, and the design process for the renovation

         19  and restoration of the landmark Central Park

         20  Precinct has begun.

         21                 This concludes my summary of the

         22  Department's recent successes, and our priorities

         23  for 2007.  We certainly look forward to continuing

         24  to work with the City Council to enhance the

         25  public's safety.  Thank you for the opportunity to
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          2  be here.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you to the

          4  Commissioner. We've been joined by some more

          5  colleagues.  We have Council Member --  I saw Erik

          6  Martin Dilan, from Brooklyn; Council Member Diana

          7  Reyna, from Brooklyn and Queens; and Council Member

          8  Dan Garodnick, from Manhattan.

          9                 Congratulations, Commissioner on what

         10  I like to think is a joint effort on the part of the

         11  Administration, the Mayor, and yourself, as well as

         12  the City Council.  And Chair Vallone, I know, early

         13  on as well, took a major lead in fighting for funds

         14  from the federal government, certainly in the area

         15  of counter terrorism, based on needs.  And security

         16  risks, as opposed to other distributions across the

         17  country, to places that don't necessarily have the

         18  security need, or have not been in the alert

         19  situation that we've been in.  At the same time,

         20  once you get into politics and distribution of

         21  Congressional funds, it often gets bogged down in

         22  politics unrelated to security concerns.  And I

         23  think it was really a joint effort.  It took a

         24  while, obviously, a joint effort, but it sounds like

         25  you know, in your testimony you've identified that
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          2  the bulk of all the anti- terrorism funds will be

          3  distributed based on need, not based on you know,

          4  population or states, or any other so- called pork

          5  barrel- related issues.

          6                 Just as a follow up to that

          7  statement, can you describe for us the process by

          8  which the Police Department applies federal Homeland

          9  Security counter- terrorism funding?  And what

         10  timelines are involved?  And how long will it take

         11  till we actually see some of this funding?

         12                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well we have

         13  already applied  -- I think I spoke briefly about

         14  this in March.  One of the major initiatives that we

         15  have asked funding for is the Lower Manhattan

         16  Security Initiative.  It's $81.5 million that we've

         17  asked for.  We won't know until July whether or not

         18  we're going to receive that money, or some portion

         19  of that money.  The process now  --  a determination

         20  is made.  It goes through the State.  The State will

         21  take 20 percent of whatever is allocated  That

         22  provision still remains in the law.  And as I say,

         23  we'll know in July.  But it's an ongoing process.

         24  Actually, the mechanics of it is done through OMB.

         25  Our DCMB office is involved as well.
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          2                 We are enthusiastic about the Lower

          3  Manhattan Security Initiative.  It involves license

          4  plate readers; it involves security cameras; it will

          5  also have some physical barriers in place; it will

          6  be in essence, positioned from Chamber Street south.

          7    And we also hope to acquire a Coordination Center

          8  where both public and private representatives will

          9  be in place to coordinate activities in that area.

         10                 Now this does not mean that this

         11  equipment will be limited only to the southern part

         12  of Manhattan, but most of it will be focused there.

         13  But we'll be able to take a lot of this equipment

         14  and put it in vehicles and position on all of the

         15  bridges, the 17 bridges, for instance that come into

         16  Manhattan, it will give us a much better ability to

         17  use the information that we have to protect the

         18  City.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: You certainly

         20  have the Council's support in that and anything that

         21  we can do in that effort to you know, speed that up,

         22  it would be appreciated by all.

         23                 Would you say, you know, of the

         24  Homeland Security money, and the money we're

         25  supposed to be getting for overtime, and I know this
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          2  has been you know, a problem with FEMA, and some of

          3  the administrative you know, situation with FEMA.

          4  Has that gotten better, as far as actually trying to

          5  get reimbursed for some of the money that we laid

          6  out in previous budgets for security, overtime,

          7  which was directly related to September 11th?

          8                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: As far as

          9  September  11th, you know, we've gotten virtually

         10  all of the money that has been requested.  It's an

         11  ongoing process.  I know Chairman Vallone has been

         12  very much involved in that, and has championed our

         13  position. I think maybe Ed could talk to that.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ED ALLOCCO: Yes.

         15  As Commissioner said, that's been an ongoing process

         16  that goes back to September 11th, in dealings

         17  between you know, the City and the federal

         18  government to get reimbursed you know, for all of

         19  the costs incurred for the response and the

         20  recovery.  We've been successful in getting over

         21  $800 million reimbursed.  There's a very small

         22  residual amount that hasn't been reimbursed, but in

         23  that process, FEMA  --  the City was successful in

         24  getting FEMA to relax some of the requirements and

         25  limitations on the kinds of items that could be
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          2  reimbursed.  So we eventually were able to get

          3  reimbursed not only for overtime costs and other

          4  losses, but straight time costs as well.  And

          5  Chairman Vallone was very instrumental and

          6  persistent, and we appreciate those efforts.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  Thank you.

          8                 Turning to another subject.  You

          9  know, again, I want to thank you, Commissioner, and

         10  the Mayor for your cooperation with the City

         11  Council.  As you know, one of our initiatives in the

         12  City Council response to the Mayor's Preliminary

         13  Budget was to add the $12 million for the bullet-

         14  proof vests, and we could not have done it without a

         15  joint cooperation with you and the Mayor.  And I

         16  want to thank you for that publicly.

         17                 Having said that, I believe you said

         18  in your testimony that the significant period of

         19  time that would take place before all the vests

         20  could be fitted and distributed.  I wasn't clear

         21  about the actual timeframe.  And is there any way

         22  that that could be expedited?

         23                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well let me

         24  express my appreciation of the Department for the

         25  Council's willingness to come forward with the
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          2  increased funding for the vests.  Anything that can

          3  improve the officers' safety of course, everybody is

          4  in favor of.  After the terrible tragedy with the

          5  shooting of Detective Dillon Stewart, we took a look

          6  at our vests.  We have top- of- the- line vests now.

          7    They're a Level IIIA vest that protects the

          8  officers from high- powered ammunition.  But

          9  Detective Stewart was shot in the side.  Actually a

         10  ricochet that was off the windshield and hit him

         11  under the arm.  So we went further and we designed a

         12  new vest that actually overlaps, and will allow for

         13  any increase in weight that officers might have.

         14  And it also covers the neck a little higher than

         15  what we have right now.

         16                 As we stand now, we have

         17  approximately half of the officers in the Department

         18  with Level IIIA vests.  And the other half with

         19  Level II vests, which also provide protection

         20  against high- powered rounds.  Each of these vests

         21  will require the officer to be individually

         22  measured.  They are in essence, custom fit to each

         23  officer.  So that means 18,000 officers will have to

         24  go to a central location to be measured.  And they

         25  have to manufactured. So the manufacturer is on
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          2  board.  Certainly wants to work with us. But it's

          3  going to take  --  we estimate at least 18 months to

          4  go forward with these you know, 18,000 vests.  It's

          5  going to  --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Is there any way

          7  to expedite that 18 months?  Will additional funding

          8  make a difference?

          9                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: No.  Well, not

         10  really.  We think that it's going to involve

         11  overtime, because officers will have to do it after

         12  their tour, or before their tour.  It's going to

         13  involve four hours overtime for each officer.  We

         14  think, all things considered, that this is the kind

         15  of optimal time you know, we can get the job done.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  Well I'll

         17  leave that to your judgement, but obviously, if  --

         18  is there an RFP process for getting the

         19  manufacturer?  Or is there  --

         20                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: I think all of

         21  that's been done. We have the manufacturer lined up.

         22    This is the manufacturer of the Level IIIA vest

         23  that we're using now.  This is just a --  as I say,

         24  it's going to have even enhanced protection, because

         25  of the overlap feature and the higher neck coverage.
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          2

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay. Because

          4  what I was going to say, if they hadn't been

          5  selected, you might want to you know, try to compare

          6  to see if anybody feels that they could do it in a

          7  quicker timeframe.  You know, obviously, we don't

          8  want  --  nobody wants a situation where there's you

          9  know, any more tragedies like the situation with

         10  Officer Stewart.  But a lot of that is out of our

         11  hands.  We understand that you're doing  --  it's in

         12  your interest and the Department's interest to you

         13  know, to see it as expeditiously as possible.  And

         14  we appreciate that and we'll leave that in your

         15  hands, but obviously, if it's possible to reduce

         16  that time, you know, that would obviously be

         17  beneficial to all.

         18                 In your testimony,  --  and by the

         19  way, I was happy to see again, this new cooperative

         20  relationship between the City Council and the Mayor

         21  and the Administration, because I know the City

         22  Council has been pushing for a while.  And I know

         23  Chair Vallone as well as myself have been pushing

         24  for additional police officers in previous budgets,

         25  so we're very happy that you will be adding 800 new
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          2  police officers and eventually, I guess 1,200 new

          3  police officers once the 400 civilian officers are

          4  in place and we can hopefully get more officers on

          5  the streets.

          6                 What I was a little troubled by, or

          7  maybe you know, I wasn't quite clear on, was the

          8  fact that once we have these 1,200 officers in

          9  place, I would assume that that would eventually

         10  reduce overtime costs.  But based on your testimony,

         11  it looks like it didn't have that affect.  If

         12  anything, the overtime costs continues to grow.  Can

         13  you maybe elaborate a little bit more on why that's

         14  the case?  And what can be done to you know, reduce

         15  overtime costs?

         16                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, the Police

         17  Department is not like some other agencies, let's

         18  say, in City government, where you have a let's say

         19  a fixed post approach, where you'll have a certain

         20  position that has to be covered.  If there's no one

         21  there to work that position, then someone has to

         22  fill it with overtime. And then if you know, under

         23  that model, if you increase your staff, then that

         24  will reduce your overtime.  In the Department, our

         25  overtime is generated in a variety of ways.
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          2  Arrests, for instance. So if you increase your

          3  officers  --  if you increase the Department by 800,

          4  they're going to be out there making arrests. Or

          5  1,200 officers.  They're going to be out there

          6  making arrests. They're going to be generating

          7  potentially more overtime.  So that's just one

          8  example.  Really, it has to do with the business of

          9  policing, versus some other government functions.

         10  We're just not structured in a manner that other

         11  agencies are, where additional headcount might

         12  result in reduced overtime expenditures.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: So basically  --

         14  so what you're saying is, it really wouldn't matter

         15  how many officers we added, if we added 2,000 or

         16  3,000 new officers, that also wouldn't reduce

         17  overtime?

         18                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: No.  Not

         19  necessarily.  It depends.  I mean just a blanket

         20  view that it's going to reduce overtime, it might

         21  reduce it in some of our counter terrorism

         22  initiatives, additional officers.  But it's complex.

         23    I think you have to look at each function to

         24  determine whether or not additional resources are

         25  going to reduce overtime.  Again, we're an agency
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          2  that right now, as we speak, we're 4,800 police

          3  officers below where we were in October of 2000.  So

          4  some of those functions are being taken up with

          5  overtime.  Of the functions of the officers that we

          6  have.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: So potentially,

          8  if we can get you up to that level, those extra

          9  4,800 or whatever officers, that --  at that point

         10  you might see a reduction in overtime?

         11                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes.  I mean

         12  again, I mean, it's complex.  In some areas yes.  In

         13  some areas no.   You have to look at kind of each of

         14  our discrete functions.  Some are counter terrorism,

         15  some of our normal patrol functions.  We doing  --

         16  we have searches in the subway system, for instance.

         17    You know, we might construct discrete units to do

         18  certain functions, and that would reduce overtime.

         19  But you really have to look into the weaves of the

         20  Department to make a determination as to where

         21  significant increases in headcount would result in

         22  reduced overtime expenditures.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Well obviously,

         24  City Council is committed to supporting the 800

         25  officers and the 400 civilians for this budget.  But
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          2  any information you could give us, long term, as to

          3  any headcount, or any increase in offices which

          4  would result in a decrease in overtime, it's

          5  possible in future budgets as we get the police

          6  force back up to close to those levels where the

          7  Police Department was at full staffing, we would

          8  love to see that data, because that could be a

          9  strong argument for adding additional police

         10  officers in future budgets, and obviously, keeping

         11  the force growing at the same time paying for that

         12  at a reduced level, based on reduction of overtime.

         13  So if you could kind of provide us with that data,

         14  as we go through this process, and next year's

         15  budget, that would obviously be useful in our

         16  calculations.

         17                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes.  You know,

         18  it's important to note that tour, for an officer,

         19  fully loaded straight time tour, is more expensive

         20  than an overtime tour.  When you look at fringe

         21  benefits, those sorts of things.  So overtime is a

         22  complex issue, but we'd be glad to make that

         23  information available to the Council

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.  I

         25  know a number of our colleagues have questions, so

                                                            34

          1  FINANCE AND PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  I'm not going to monopolize the floor.  So if there

          3  are some areas that we don't cover, I may come back

          4  to them.  But for now, I'll turn it over to Chair

          5  Vallone.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you Chair

          7  Weprin.

          8                 Commissioner, regarding the first

          9  Homeland Security money, the good news as Chair

         10  Weprin said, is that we finally prevailed on

         11  Washington to give this out in a threat basis

         12  assessment.  The bad news is that they included

         13  national disasters in those threats, and they

         14  lowered the total pot of money.  When we were here

         15  recently for our Preliminary Budget hearing, both

         16  you and I were at a loss as to how that would wind

         17  up affecting New York City.  Is there any update in

         18  what your thinking is?

         19                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: We don't know,

         20  because the dispersal hasn't been made yet.  The

         21  determination hasn't been made.  So we'll have to

         22  wait and see.  You know, that is the construct that

         23  is the theory, that they're moving forward with.

         24  We'll see as to you know, what that translates to.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay.  We've
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          2  been joined by Councilman DeBlasio, Council Member

          3  Reyna, and Council Member Monserrate.  Thank you all

          4  for coming.

          5                 You mentioned twice the fact that New

          6  York State takes 20 percent of the money, which I

          7  believe is ours, from the federal government.  In

          8  Homeland Security grants.  And as you know, because

          9  we've discussed this, I've been having an ongoing

         10  discussion with our SEMO head, Mr. McMahon,

         11  regarding what they do with that money.  Which by

         12  law is supposed to be used here, in the urban area

         13  of New York City.  He has informed me that he is in

         14  constant contact with you regarding where this money

         15  is spent and how it is spent, and that they spend

         16  this $20 million here in New York City.  I'm at a

         17  loss to see how they spend that money.  You

         18  testified before that you're basically at a loss to

         19  see how they spend that money.  I got another letter

         20  from Mr. McMahon saying that he has conferred with

         21  you and he spent it here in New York City on

         22  National Guard, again, which some of us may see in

         23  Penn Station, but that's about it.  Do you have any

         24  opinion, first of all on the fact that they take the

         25  $20 million?  And second of all, do you have any
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          2  input on how they use it?

          3                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well I'm not

          4  happy with the fact that they take the $20 million.

          5  I mean, certainly, you know, I'd like to see the

          6  money come directly to the City.  But that's the way

          7  it's structured.  That's the way Washington has

          8  structured it.

          9                 The only amount of money we can

         10  identify, I think, is that $8 million is the amount

         11  of money that I've seen that the State has spent.

         12  If there's more, there may be more, they haven't

         13  shown it to us.  I don't know where it is.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And when was

         15  your last contact with Mr. McMahon?

         16                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Probably in the

         17  last six months, we've had some contact, but I don't

         18  recall anything more recent than that.  I've seen

         19  him socially, but I don't recall any direct contact

         20  on the issue of expenditures in the City.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you.  I'll

         22  update you on our next conversation.  My next

         23  conversation with Mr. McMahon.

         24                 On page two of your testimony, you

         25  discuss Operation Argas.  Closed circuit cameras.
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          2  First of all, let me congratulate you on keeping up

          3  the tradition of the best names for programs in New

          4  York City.  Hercules, Atlas, and this is once again

          5  Greek mythology.  I believe he was a giant with 100

          6  eyes.  Argas was.  He was eventually slain by

          7  Hermes.  Maybe not --

          8                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: That's in

          9  deference to the Astoria neighborhood that we try to

         10  do Greek mythology.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I represent

         12  Astoria.  The Greeks, yes.  Well it happens to also

         13  be the name of a secret nuclear program back in

         14  1958, I believe.  So Argas may not bode well.  A

         15  little before I was born.

         16                 But my concern with Operation Argas

         17  is, not the name, but the fact that I just had a

         18  hearing on surveillance cameras in New York City,

         19  and never heard that term before.  This isn't just a

         20  new name for a program that we've been discussing in

         21  the past?  Or is this something new?

         22                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: This is a new

         23  name for that  -- or a name for the 500 cameras that

         24  you know, we're deploying throughout the City.  We

         25  have about 27 cameras that are up. They're in
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          2  Brooklyn North, that's where we started the project.

          3    And we hope to have the 500 cameras deployed

          4  ideally by the end of the calendar year.  We'll see.

          5    They've been well received in the neighborhood.

          6  People seem to be happy with the fact that they're

          7  there.  They're clearly identified as the NYPD

          8  cameras.  We  have a logo on it.  We have the sign

          9  on it.  So I mean, it's nothing surreptitious in

         10  nature with these cameras.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay.  I just

         12  wanted to make sure it wasn't a program that I

         13  hadn't been informed of, or that it was something

         14  new.

         15                 Then speaking of cameras, the Lower

         16  Manhattan Security  Initiative.  We also discussed

         17  that.  Is there any update as to when that will be

         18  beginning to come into effect?

         19                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, we will

         20  know more about that when we get word from Homeland

         21  Security as to the determination as to the approval

         22  or nonapproval of our grant application.  Again,

         23  we're looking for $81.5 million for Lower Manhattan

         24  Security Initiative.  I know the Mayor is very

         25  supportive of this, and let's see what comes forward
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          2  from Homeland Security, but I think we'll be going

          3  forward with significant initiative in Lower

          4  Manhattan hopefully starting before the end of this

          5  year.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay.  Thank

          7  you.  The new officers, which we discussed at length

          8  at our last hearing, whenever I asked you in the

          9  past about where you're going to pull officers from,

         10  to fill whatever new need you have, you've normally

         11  said the 14th Precinct in my district.  So the new

         12  officers that we've hired.  Have you made any

         13  decisions as to how they will be deployed, other

         14  than the fact that most will come to the 14th

         15  Precinct to replace all the ones you pulled?  In

         16  their deployment.

         17                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, they're

         18  going to be on patrol.  We know that you know,

         19  there's areas that are of concern right now, but we

         20  want to do it when in fact they're on board and

         21  ready to be deployed.  Some areas may need them more

         22  than others. But they'll be in our  --  certainly in

         23  our Patrol Bureau, in the Transit Bureau, and the

         24  Housing Bureau.  Those  --  all three bureaus will

         25  receive those officers.  They'll all be deployed in
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          2  one of those three bureaus.  They'll be in uniform.

          3  We want to increase our uniformed presence as much

          4  as we can throughout the City.

          5                 And also, we want to use them to

          6  lessen the impact of some of our counter- terrorism

          7  issues.  For instance, we have with our Atlas

          8  program, we're drawing resources from patrol

          9  precincts throughout the City.  They mobilize twice

         10  a day.  They're coming from patrol commands to do

         11  that.  So we want to look at ways to lessen the

         12  impact of that deployment.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay.  I'll have

         14  follow up questions perhaps  --  I mean, I'm going

         15  to have more now, but on the topics I'm hitting,

         16  there will be follow up either in person or later

         17  after other Council Members go.

         18                 On overtime, which is our own little

         19  public safety committee version of the budget dance,

         20  I believe, where I ask, or I complain that it's too

         21  high, and ask what you're doing about it. You give

         22  us all the reasons, and that it won't be that high

         23  in the future.  We come back next year and discuss

         24  why it's higher than it was last year.  And it

         25  sounds like we're doing that again.  Every year,
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          2   '03, '04, '05  --  '05 was $405 million, and we're

          3  expected, in '06 to reach $412 million.  Overtime

          4  goes up.  You discussed how certain areas of

          5  overtime are down, but it seems that the total

          6  overtime budget is once again up.

          7                 You also discussed our future budgets

          8  for overtime are down, and that is true, but based

          9  on these projections, and past performance, there

         10  doesn't seem to be any reason to believe that future

         11  overtime will go down, despite the fact that its

         12  budgeted to go down.  The same question I always

         13  ask, what are we going to do to change that trend?

         14  And why are we budgeting less when there is no

         15  indication in the past that we've ever been able to

         16  spend less in overtime?

         17                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well as far as

         18  budgeting less, we've had the same discussion

         19  before.  That's an approach that OMB uses.  We've

         20  always been historically, since I've been in the

         21  Police Department, we've been budgeted less for

         22  overtime than we reasonably project to spend.

         23  That's just an approach that they use.  But as far

         24  as the overtime expenditures, we all know we live in

         25  a changed world.  A significant portion of our
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          2  overtime is spent on our counter- terrorism

          3  initiatives.  We get some of that back from the

          4  federal government.  And we are hopeful that you

          5  know, we'll get even more.  We'll see what comes

          6  down the pike from Homeland Security.

          7  Operationally, we've done a lot of things.  We are,

          8  I think, policing major events more effectively than

          9  ever. We're using our barriers.  We're using our

         10  equipment that we've obtained.  And we're using

         11  fewer officers to police planned events.

         12                 But then there's an array of

         13  unplanned events and demonstrations.  Whatever

         14  demonstration that takes place, it's going to cost

         15  us overtime.  If you look at the day, Saturday is a

         16  very expensive day for us.  Sunday is the most

         17  expensive day for us.  We have fewer people

         18  scheduled to work on Sunday and Saturday. Why?

         19  Because in our Enforcement Unit, we have to

         20  coincide, to a certain extent, with the court. With

         21  the hours that the court works.  Or the days that

         22  the court works.  So that's just a fact of life.  We

         23  have more and more events that spring up, that are

         24  placed upon us to police.  Immigration

         25  demonstration.  Anti- war demonstrations.  These are
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          2  not planned events.  It's the major unplanned events

          3  that cost the money.  And we have to respond to

          4  them.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Just based on

          6  again, past experience, we probably should start

          7  planning for some unplanned events in our budget,

          8  because we know they're going to happen.  In your

          9  defense, as I look at these numbers, you probably

         10  would have been under last year's expenditures if

         11  not for the transit strike this year.  How much,

         12  exactly, did the transit strike cost the Police

         13  Department in overtime?

         14                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: The transit

         15  strike costs, if I can recall, $10.4 million.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: That's $10.4

         17  million.

         18                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: $10.4 million,

         19  yes.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Has there been

         21  any reimbursement to the Police Department for that

         22   --  for those expenditure?

         23                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, I believe

         24  the State, which of course are involved with the

         25  union and the union paying penalties for the strike,
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          2  I think the State has agreed to pay the City $2.5

          3  million.  That's the last information that I have.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: That's what I've

          5  read also. But that's $2.5 million in total to New

          6  York City in fines.  Do you know if any of that is

          7  earmarked for the Police Department?  Or has the

          8  Police Department received any reimbursement up to

          9  this date?

         10                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: No.  We haven't

         11  received any reimbursement.  Of course, this money

         12  goes into the you know, general coffers of the City.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Do you believe

         14  the Police Department should be reimbursed for that

         15  $10 million?

         16                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well the City

         17  should be, yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you.  Last

         19  question on overtime.  One other way to reduce that

         20  would be to   --  and we discussed this in the past

         21   --  have private companies who are asking to have

         22  events here in New York City pay for some of the

         23  costs of their events.  We discussed MTV.  Let's

         24  assume someone, I don't know off the top of my head,

         25  like Mark Echo, decides to have a graffiti fest in
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          2  Manhattan.  Have you been asking for corporations

          3  such as those, which are self promoting, obviously,

          4  to pay for the cost of overtime, if they decide to

          5  have an event?

          6                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: The City has.  We

          7  don't, as a agency, ask.  We're not really the  --

          8  and I don't want it to be the function of the Police

          9  Department.  But when you approach the City to do a

         10  major event, that's being factored in.  I believe

         11  the last number I saw was $2.5 million was obtained

         12  as a result of events where you know, police

         13  services were needed.  But that negotiation is

         14  taking place with the Community Assistance Unit, or

         15  other components of City government.

         16                 I agree.  I think it makes sense.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: So it's the

         18  Community Assistance that would make that decision

         19  as to whether to ask?

         20                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: I think  --

         21  let's say the Mayor's Office.  Deputy Mayors are

         22  involved in that. You know, Economic Development.

         23  Those sorts of functions in City government. And I

         24  think those are the ones that would be engaged in

         25  the private sector in negotiating these types of
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          2  fees.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay.  Again,

          4  we'll follow up on that.  I'm winding down.

          5                 Recruitment.  Obviously, it's been in

          6  the press lately.  You discussed some of the ways

          7  that you intend to increase your recruitment.

          8  There's money spent on advertising.  You discussed

          9  keeping your days for filing open seven days a week.

         10    But you also discussed goals in your testimony of

         11  2,000 more officers in July of '06, and 2,000 more

         12  officers of July of '07, which of course, I 100

         13  percent support.  Will the recruitment  --  first of

         14  all, discuss whether or not you're having

         15  recruitment problems recently.  And second of all,

         16  will problems, if you're having them, affect your

         17  ability to reach the goals you discussed?

         18                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well we're

         19  hopeful.  I think we'll be able to reach the number,

         20  the 2,000 class.  We're hopeful. Chief Pennaro, who

         21  is here, people have done a terrific job.  You know,

         22  the Department has  --  we have, in essence,

         23  exchanged, you might say, a third of the Department

         24  when this group came on board. We've hired already

         25  almost 12,000 officers.  That's a very heavy lift.
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          2  Logistically, you have to test people.  Medical

          3  testing psychological testing, background

          4  examinations, all of that.  So it's a monumental

          5  task.  We're hopeful that we'll be able to reach the

          6  2,000 number in July.  But our applications are

          7  down, to take the police examination.  I've said

          8  this.  You and I have had the discussion.  I don't

          9  think you can drop a salary, a starting salary 40

         10  percent and not expect to have an impact on

         11  applications.  It's just not realistic.  So  --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: How much are the

         13  down?

         14                 COMMISSIONER VALLONE: They're down

         15  about 25 percent. But you know, we have a pool of

         16  people who have you know, are in the pipeline.  And

         17  we're as I say, hopeful we'll be able to reach that

         18  number for the hiring in July.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And if, for some

         20  reason, you're not able to reach that number, is

         21  there a contingency plan?  Will standards be

         22  dropping and other  --

         23                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: No.  We are

         24  committed to maintaining our standards.  The

         25  standards that we have now.  As far as I'm
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          2  concerned, we're not  If we don't hit the number, we

          3  don't hit the number.  We are maintaining our

          4  requirement to have 60 college credits.  Our

          5  background investigation will be just as strenuous

          6  and as comprehensive as it's always been.  We're not

          7  changing our standards.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: When will we

          9  know whether we hit the number?

         10                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, you know if

         11  you get very close to the hiring date.  Because

         12  there are people who will go through the process,

         13  all the way through the process, and then decide not

         14  to come on board.  So it's hard to judge until

         15  you've already got close to the day when they'll

         16  have to raise their right hand.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And when will

         18  that be?

         19                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: In July.  The

         20  latter part of June.  This hire will be the first

         21  part of July.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay.  I have

         23  some more questions on Peace Act too, and things

         24  like that.  But I want to give some of my colleagues

         25  a chance to ask questions.  So now to Council Member
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          2  Oddo.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you Mr.

          4  Chairman.  Good morning Commissioner.

          5                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Good morning.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I just want to

          7  start out with an FYI, as I read it on my little

          8  trio here.  The owner of Tyson Cards and Gifts, on

          9  Highland Boulevard, near Princeton Avenue was

         10  arrested for allegedly possessing $500 worth of

         11  fireworks that he intended to sell.  I've been

         12  reading more about more of those arrests in the last

         13  few weeks, in the Staten Island Advance.  I thank

         14  you for that, and I look forward to standing next to

         15  you and Mayor Bloomberg, as we get closer to the

         16  Fourth, and try to get the word out the Staten

         17  Islanders that there will not be a repeat of the

         18  last two year.

         19                 The other thing I want to start out

         20  with in terms of thank you's, is for the work that

         21  you do, and the men and women of your agency, on the

         22  street, with respect to guns.  And your work with

         23  Mayor Bloomberg in lobbying and bringing  --

         24  creating new front in this fight.  I proudly,

         25  frankly, break my party on a national level, and I

                                                            50

          1  FINANCE AND PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  think that the work that you're doing, and the work

          3  that Mayor Bloomberg is doing on this issue is the

          4  most important thing that we can do.  And I probably

          5  represent a district, if not the most, second or

          6  third most in the City in terms of legal gun permit

          7  holders.  And I know they bristle at any effort that

          8  they deem is sort of curbing their rights.  I don't

          9  know how they see it this way, but your efforts to

         10  stop the flood of illegal guns in our streets is

         11  God's work, and I thank you for that.

         12                 I was going to ask a question about

         13  the recruiting, but Council Member, Chairman Vallone

         14  touched on it, so I guess I'll just get to the

         15  parochial stuff, which I'm sure you're expecting. I

         16  was not here in the March hearing, so I'm going to

         17  ask you I guess, to repeat some of the things that

         18  you probably explained back then.

         19                 But with respect to the new precincts

         20  slated for Staten Island, in your testimony, on page

         21  five, you mention regarding the new one, 121

         22  Precinct, that "upon conclusion of this review, the

         23  budget will need to be adjusted".  Can you sort of

         24  explain to me what they means in a little bit more

         25  detail?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, the normal

          3  position that OMB takes for any new construction of

          4  a station house was, for $25 million into the

          5  budget.  Then, as planning goes forward, and it

          6  becomes a harder number, a harder target as to what

          7  it's actually going to take a particular facility,

          8  then more money is added.  You can't build a station

          9  house these days for $25 million is the reality of

         10  it.  So to determine the exact amount of money,

         11  there's a process that goes forward, based on design

         12  work.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Clearly, we seem

         14  to have an issue, north of the 121, or east of the

         15  121, or with the new 120. And that the fact that

         16  there's $33 million that is needed to complete that

         17  job, and there seems to be a question of where the

         18  money is coming from.

         19                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Right.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Do we have a

         21  similar problem, or do we anticipate a similar

         22  problem with the 121, in that the additional money

         23  above and beyond the $25 million is in question as

         24  to where that money is coming from?

         25                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: I don't think so.
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          2    I mean  --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: So that money is

          4  coming from the Administration?

          5                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes.  I mean, to

          6  the best of my knowledge.  I mean, certainly the

          7  Mayor is committed.  He's made a commitment that 121

          8  is going forward, and I think there's always some

          9  sort of negotiation that goes on between I assume

         10  through the Council and OMB, the Mayor's staff.  But

         11  the Mayor is certainly committed that that structure

         12  is going forward.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: How do we

         14  resolve the 120 issue?  I mean, where do we come up

         15  with  --  where is the  --  I mean, I know this is

         16  not your bailiwick, this is a battle between OMB I

         17  guess and  --  but clearly, we need to find $33

         18  million. Where do we anticipate this money coming

         19  from?  From the Council side?  Is that the

         20  anticipation of the  --

         21                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: You know, I'm

         22  really not involved in those discussions.  I can't

         23  tell you. But I'm confident that it will be worked

         24  out, because I mean, I know the Administration is

         25  committed to doing both.  So the construction of the
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          2  new 120 and the creation of the 121st Precinct.  So

          3  I'm confident that it's going to be worked out.

          4  Exactly, the mechanics of that I don't know.  This

          5  is a kind of inside baseball negotiation that goes

          6  on between OMB and the Council.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: The last

          8  question I have Mr. Chairman, and staying on that

          9  topic, in generally speaking, how long does it take

         10  from shovel in the ground to ribbon cutting and

         11  having officers in a new precinct?

         12                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Shovel in the

         13  ground, I'd probably say maybe max, three years.

         14  Ideally three years.  Maybe more than three years.

         15  But three years.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you. Thank

         17  you Mr. Chairman.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you. We've

         19  been joined by Council Member Maria Baez, from the

         20  Bronx.  The next questioner is Councilman Jackson.

         21  Council Member Robert Jackson.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you Mr.

         23  Chair.

         24                 Commissioner, good morning to you and

         25  your staff. Let me just say that I think overall,
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          2  NYPD does a great job.  And in fact, I've said all

          3  along, even though my cup of tea is education, the

          4  most important thing that affects my constituents -

          5  and you've heard me say this before  --  is the

          6  safety and well being.  And when we're in trouble,

          7  we call 911.  And we depend on the NYPD in order to

          8  respond to our emergency distress calls.  And I say

          9  that  --  I just made a couple of notes as to

         10  Northern Manhattan.  I say that the safety and

         11  security of Northern Manhattan has been shaken, as a

         12  result of recent incidents.  And let me just cite

         13  some of them.

         14                 The murder of a senior citizen, in

         15  which that individual, 6'7", 230 pounds, was caught.

         16    Let me just say that we're so happy that he was

         17  captured, because he preyed on the elderly in

         18  Northern Manhattan, beat them up, and robbed them.

         19  And we're so happy that he was captured and

         20  apprehended.

         21                 But also the unresolved murder of

         22  Sara Fox, up in Inwood Hill Park; the sexual assault

         23  and robbery of a young woman about two weeks ago, in

         24  the wee hours of the morning; the shooting of the

         25  bystander on 204th Street and Broadway.  You know
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          2  about that.  And most recently, this past couple of

          3  days, the slashing of 35 automobiles up in Inwood,

          4  on Payson Avenue Park Terrace East and West.  It

          5  clearly has the residents of Northern Manhattan  --

          6  and these are the districts that I represent  --

          7  very uneasy.  And I know that NYPD cannot be out

          8  there 24 hours a day.  As an elected official, I'd

          9  be naive if I said I expected you to be out there

         10  24/7.

         11                 But I say to you though, that the

         12  confidence of people that I represent are a little

         13  shaken as a result of these most recent incidents.

         14  And how does that relate to  --  this is my question

         15    --  the headcount of the precincts, which is the

         16  area that I just talked about, all stands within the

         17  34th Precinct.  How does that affect the headcount

         18  that are in the precincts overall in Northern

         19  Manhattan?  And how --

         20                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: What do you mean,

         21  how does it affect it?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Right.  How

         23  does the headcount in the precincts affect all of

         24  these recent incidents that have occurred?  And how

         25  does it affect the sense of not  -- my residents not
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          2  being secured, safety and security overall?

          3                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, everybody

          4  would like to have more police in their precinct.  I

          5  certainly would like to have more.  As I said, we're

          6  down almost 5,000 police officers.

          7                 Crime in the 34th Precinct is down

          8  about seven percent this year, and you know, down

          9  probably well over 70 percent in the last 12 years.

         10  So it's certainly moving in the right direction.

         11  These are you know, these are unfortunate incidents.

         12  We have a city of 8.1 million people.  So every

         13  Council Person could relate to crimes that happen in

         14  their district.  And it's just reality.  We have

         15  crime.  Thank God we have a lot less crime than

         16  we've had in the past.  We have  --  crime has gone

         17  down almost 25 percent since September 11, 2001.  So

         18  the men and women of the Department are doing a

         19  phenomenal job.  Right now, about 4,000 officers,

         20  officially a little more than that, but yet crime

         21  continues to go down.  And arrests were made, and

         22  some of these cases that you mentioned, we can tell

         23  you that they're being  -- the ones where arrests

         24  have not been made, are being aggressively

         25  investigated.
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          2                 So headcount is something that I'd

          3  certainly like to see increased.  And the Mayor

          4  certainly wants to do that.  And he's agreed to  --

          5  and pushed to have 800 additional police officers

          6  hired.  And we're going to put them where they're

          7  needed most.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I read in the

          9  paper recently that an agreement was reached to

         10  increase the hiring rate for new recruits from the

         11  current  --  is that  --  am I mistaken?

         12                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: No sir.  No way.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: You mean the

         14  recruits are still being paid $25,000 a year?

         15                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Absolutely.  Yes

         16  sir.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I thought

         18  there was an agreement that the were going to be

         19  paid $36,000.

         20                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: I think you've

         21  got to read a little more closely.  What happened is

         22  the Administration, in negotiations with the PBA,

         23  made public their proposal in those negotiations.

         24  So that  --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: So that has
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          2  not been  --

          3                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: No, not at all.

          4  Right now, as it stands today, we go forward, we

          5  hire any new recruit.  That recruit is being hired

          6  at $25,100.  Which is the same starting salary,

          7  approximate starting salary that it was 20 years

          8  ago.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Well, as a

         10  legislator, and someone that represents Northern

         11  Manhattan, in which you know, as I indicated to you,

         12  the safety and security has been shaken, thousands

         13  of the people that I represent, that is totally

         14  unacceptable, to pay new recruits $25,000.

         15                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well I agree.

         16  And it's an arbitrator's decision that reduced the

         17  starting salary.  We have a starting salary for the

         18  class last July of almost $40,000.  So the class

         19  that we hired this January comes in a $25,100.  Well

         20  obviously, there's something wrong there.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Well as a

         22  labor relations -

         23                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: We hope that that

         24  can be rectified.  That the City and the union can

         25  reach an agreement as quickly as possible.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Are they

          3  working on that now?  As far as negotiations?

          4  Because quite frankly, I do believe that that  --

          5  and you said it, and I've read about it  --  that

          6  that has clearly impacted the recruitment of the

          7  number of people applying for the exams and

          8  accepting the positions at NYPD.

          9                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes, it's only

         10  logical.  It's only common sense to think that if

         11  you reduce a starting salary by 40 percent, that it

         12  potentially is going to have some impact on

         13  recruiting.  That's what the arbitrator did.  That's

         14  the decision that was made.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: So the

         16  numbers that you referred to in your testimony as to

         17  the new classes that are coming in, are they the

         18  numbers as far as classes, individuals going into

         19  the academy  --  are those the numbers that you had

         20  expected?  Or are those numbers reduced numbers?

         21                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: No, those are the

         22  numbers that we've always intended to hire.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Always

         24  intended to hire.

         25                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes. We have a
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          2  certain headcount that we are aiming for.  It was

          3  37,038 is an agreement that we have with the federal

          4  government, that we have to hit twice a year.  Now

          5  under the Mayor's granting of the 800 new officers,

          6  we've increased that number  --  and those are the

          7  target number  --  to be 37,438 in July of this

          8  year.  That's the additional 400 and then hopefully,

          9  another 400 will be added in January '07.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Now, let me

         11  just switch, if you don't mind, to the contract

         12  budget.  I'm reading here in our budget briefing

         13  document that in Fiscal 2007, NYPD plans to let out

         14  429 contracts, valued at approximately $32.7

         15  million.  And that it only represents about 0.86

         16  percent of the overall expense budget. As you know,

         17  Mayor Bloomberg signed into law, last, I think

         18  December 29th, or 27th, around that time, the

         19  Minority and Women Owned Business Enterprise Law.

         20  And also recently, I think just the other day,   --

         21  I'm looking for Diana Reyna  --  just the other day,

         22  the Disadvantaged Enterprise Law.  How is NYPD, at

         23  this point in time, in compliance, moving towards

         24  full compliance with the Minority and Women- Owned

         25  Business Law that Mayor Bloomberg signed into law
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          2  December 29, 2005?

          3                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well as I

          4  understand it, that law sets out goals and

          5  certainly, we are going to do everything we can to

          6  reach those goals.  We've designated a coordinator,

          7  a point person for the Department, our Contracting

          8  Officer who will be in charge of those ethics.  And

          9  we'll do everything we can to adhere to the new law.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.  Well

         11  thank you for now.  And those are the only questions

         12  I have at the moment.  Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: We've been joined

         14  by some more Council Members.  We have Council

         15  Member Linda Katz, from Queens; Council Member Helen

         16  Sears, from Queens; and Council Member Vincent

         17  Gentile, from Brooklyn.

         18                 The next questioner is Council

         19  Member, former officer Monserrate.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Before we get to

         21  Councilman, one second.  I'd like to thank everyone

         22  for keeping their questions short.  As I said, the

         23  Commissioner has to leave by the latest, at 12.  We

         24  should be able to get everyone in if everyone keeps

         25  their questions to the five to seven minute range
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          2   --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Is that a

          4  hint?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: No, Alan Gerson

          6  comes after you, that's why  --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  Actually,

          8  Alan was supposed to go next, but to his credit, he

          9  did defer to Hiram, who does need to leave.  So

         10  thank you very much.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: I

         12  definitely respect the Commissioner's time.

         13  Definitely one of the best men in the City of New

         14  York.  Good morning Commissioner.

         15                 I have a few questions.  I have to

         16  follow up with -  I know my colleague Council Member

         17  Jackson touched upon, the issue of pay and the

         18  recent press accounts about the offer by the

         19  Administration  --  I believe it was 36, is that

         20  correct?

         21                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: I believe so,

         22  yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: As it was

         24  reported.  Is any of that increased money in this

         25  Executive Budget?  Have we budgeted the possible
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          2  increase?

          3                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, not that

          4  I'm aware of. Again, I'm not involved in the

          5  negotiations, and I don't see any money in the

          6  budget for it.  But again, this is a proposal.  This

          7  happened to be made public by the Administration.

          8  This was a proposal that was made to the PBA in

          9  negotiations, as I understand it.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Right.

         11  But what I'm saying  --  I guess when you hear a

         12  press account that it was made public by the

         13  Administration, which obviously, you represent also,

         14  you hear an announcement about an increase, but you

         15  don't see it in the budget.  So I wonder where the

         16  money comes from.

         17                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, again, this

         18  is a proposal. I don't know if it's always

         19  identified.  I'm sure there's some money in the

         20  budget that could be moved around.  But this is a

         21  part of a negotiating process.  I don't know if

         22  they, at this stage of the negotiations that they

         23  get that specific.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Well

         25  obviously, you could understand that it is a very
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          2  sensitive issue to me.  Part of that proposal was

          3  also police officers giving up 10 vacation day.

          4  Isn't that part of the proposal?

          5                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: So in

          7  essence, this entire mode of paying for salaries

          8  through give backs.  This is give backs.  Police

          9  officers are working men and women in our City. They

         10  do a gallant job.  Many times, they pay with their

         11  own blood and their lives, as you know.  Because of

         12  many of the wakes and the funerals.  And I'm

         13  extremely concerned about the Administration's

         14  positioning on this issue.  That a police officer

         15  should give back one vacation day, even one vacation

         16  day that they should give back in order to make a

         17  semi- living wage, because police officers, and

         18  recruits in particular, entry- level officers are

         19  making in the 20s for the type of work they do is

         20  outrageous.  And I know that you have also been very

         21  supportive of the fact, and you have publicly stated

         22  even today that this salary is extremely low.  But

         23  for the Administration to counter that, in order to

         24  do better, they need police officers to give back

         25  vacation days.  I think is equally outrageous.  And
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          2  I want to say that I understand that you are not the

          3  individual in the negotiations, but you are the

          4  Police Commissioner.  And I want to express to you,

          5  as a Commissioner, and I want to express to the

          6  Administration, that none of the New York City

          7  police officers should have to give back one day's

          8  pay, one day's vacation, and that they should make a

          9  living wage, even if they're rookie cops.  Because

         10  in 1988, when I was in the academy, I came in at

         11  $26,000 a year.

         12                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: I just said that.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Yes.  So I

         14  understand that Commissioner.  But I'm saying, I

         15  guess I'm venting some of my unpleasant anger at the

         16  Administration, for their treatment of our police

         17  officers, in particular, our rookie police officers.

         18    And that's just not right.  I don't think that the

         19  Administration or any of the Council Members or

         20  anyone in government should be out taking credit for

         21  the crime drops, and praising our police officers as

         22  heroes, and then telling them, give us back 10 days

         23  vacation, and we can only pay you $25,000.  And then

         24  to argue that it's because of the arbitrator's

         25  decision.  Well you know what?  If the
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          2  Administration today wanted to give rookie police

          3  officers more money, they could do it outside of an

          4  arbitrator's decision.  And I'm sorry that you're

          5  here listening to this, because I know it's not

          6  directed to you, but I'm upset about this, and I

          7  don't like the way the Administration is treating

          8  our police officers. I'd like you to help me relay

          9  that message to do the right thing by our cops.

         10                 I want to go back to the issue of

         11  civilianization. I see that in the Executive Budget

         12  report, you have additional positions for civilians.

         13    I think you mentioned 400 additional positions.

         14  How many more positions do you, as being able to

         15  fill with civilians  --  in other words,

         16  civilianization, how much more can we expect

         17  feasibly, from the Department, that you believe is

         18  doable?

         19                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: I think we have

         20  about 700 positions for civilianization.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Is that

         22  700 on top of the 400 that you  --

         23                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: That includes the

         24  400.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: So there's
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          2  300 in addition more.

          3                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Right.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: And what's

          5  the timeframe for that civilization?

          6                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, we can only

          7  handle 80 police administrative aides being trained

          8  in the police academy at any one time.  And it's a

          9  two- month training process.  So we have an every-

         10  other month hire.  Eighty PAAs as we call them.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: So three

         12  years?

         13                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: The early part of

         14  2007.  We'll be starting in July, and moving as

         15  expeditiously as we can.  But we do our training at

         16  the police academy.  It's a building built for 600

         17  male recruits in 1965.  We now handle  --  as I say,

         18  we'll have a class of ideally 2,000 police officers.

         19    The building just is not adequate for the amount

         20  of training that we have to do.  So we want to do it

         21  as expeditiously as possible.  We want to get as

         22  many cops as we can back on the street.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Right.  I

         24  have two more questions Mr. Chair.  Is there a

         25  tracking system today in place in the Department
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          2  with respect to the police officers who were doing

          3  clerical or administrative duties who are now

          4  reassigned back to uniformed patrol, or another

          5  uniform?

          6                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes, there is.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERATTE: So we're

          8  ensuring that those officers that are being moved

          9  out by civilization are actually doing police work,

         10  and not clerical duties.

         11                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Okay.  And

         13  my last question is, can you give us numbers and/or

         14  percentages of the members of the Department who are

         15  actually on patrol?

         16                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: When you say,

         17   "actually on patrol", do you mean in all

         18  enforcement units?  Or patrol, you can you know  --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Patrol is

         20   --  the guys on foot and the radio car responding

         21  to radio calls.

         22                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, you have

         23  transit officers, you have housing.  And you have

         24   --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Well those
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          2  are patrol. You have transit and housing.  Transit

          3  and housing and the precincts.

          4                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: We probably have

          5  maybe all told, supervisors, we probably have about

          6  19,000.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: So 19,000

          8  on patrol. And what's the total headcount today?

          9                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Thirty six.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: And out of

         11  that 19,000, what is the percentage of police

         12  officers?

         13                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: About oh, I don't

         14  know percentage, but 15,500 to 16,000 maybe.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Okay.

         16  Thank you very much Commissioner.  Mr. Chair.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

         18  Gerson.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you very

         20  much Chair Vallone, Chair Weprin.  Chair Vallone,

         21  when you made the point about time limits, you

         22  obviously forgot about the exemption for the Council

         23  Member representing the Commissioner's home

         24  district.  So --  But nevertheless, I'll be brief,

         25  because so much has been covered.
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          2                 Good afternoon Commissioner.  You

          3  know all of New York is proud of you and what you've

          4  accomplished.  But I must say, we in Lower Manhattan

          5  are especially proud of you.

          6                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Thank you.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I just first

          8  want to be associated with the comments of my

          9  colleagues, with respect to police officer

         10  compensation.  Even with the proposal, when you

         11  factor in the proposed give backs of vacation days

         12  noted by my colleague, City officers will be

         13  compensate at a rate less than what is offered in

         14  many, if not all of the surrounding suburban

         15  counties.  And to me, that is not only an injustice

         16  and an insult to our police officers, but to me, if

         17  it sustains itself, it's approaching a public safety

         18  crisis for the City, because of they don't do

         19  something about this, we recognize, Commissioner,

         20  that you have called for us to do something about

         21  this, but if we do not heed your call, and the calls

         22  of my colleagues, clearly, we will lose officers,

         23  potential officers who will go elsewhere, who should

         24  be coming here.  And that is not acceptable. And if

         25  this is the result of the current collective
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          2  bargaining arbitration system, then we need to fix

          3  that system.  Whether it's through establishing some

          4  kind of a commission of competitiveness to review

          5  what flaws are necessary to keep this City at a more

          6  than competitive rate, or some other methodology,

          7  this Council must act to correct the system and

          8  correct this unacceptable, outrageous, indeed

          9  dangerous result. And I just cannot state that

         10  strongly enough.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: You just used up

         12  the  --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: No, that's my

         14  exemption time. There you go.

         15                 Just very briefly, just going to the

         16  Homeland Security, I'm also a little nervous  --

         17  you know, the request by the City, you pointed out

         18  in your testimony is $219 million, and clearly we

         19  need at least that for all the initiatives and the

         20  continued programs you outlined.  But that is more

         21  than what we have received in any given  --

         22  significantly more  --  than what we have received

         23  in any given year since 911.  So is there something

         24  in the works that leads you to be optimistic that we

         25  will receive this much more this year?  And if not,
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          2  what are we going to do if what we receive is

          3  similar to previous levels?  Will the money for the

          4  counter- terrorism initiatives come from elsewhere

          5  in the Department?  Or will some of these

          6  initiatives have to be delayed to future years?

          7  What's going to happen?  I mean, I know there's a

          8  new funding formula in place, but that is both good

          9  and bad news, as our Chair pointed out.  So what is

         10  our plans  --

         11                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: We're going to

         12  see what we get. As you know, they've changed to

         13  approach.  They're now saying that after the states

         14  get their base amount of money, that it will now be

         15  distributed on a threat evaluation basis.  We'll see

         16  as to what we get.  And you know, some of the

         17  expenditures, obviously, we're always looking for

         18  overtime compensation, always looking for personnel

         19  compensation.  The federal government generally has

         20  been against doing that.  We're trying to change

         21  that.  We'll see what the response will be.

         22                 Some of those expenses, yes, will be

         23  borne by you know, by tax levy funds, City funds.

         24  Some things we just won't do. But you know, we  --

         25  we'll see.  I can't say we're optimistic. We're
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          2  hopeful.  You know, is it business as usual in

          3  Washington? We'll find out.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Well, clearly,

          5  as expressed, the Council will support you in this

          6  effort.

          7                 The role of the Auxiliary Police,

          8  including the Auxiliary Police associated with the

          9  Emergency Services Unit, which is technically, I

         10  believe, associated with the  Seventh Precinct, or

         11  they work with the ESU.  Do we have in the budget

         12  both expense and capital sufficient support?  We

         13  know in 911, many of these units performed side by

         14  side heroically. Should we in the Council, in your

         15  opinion be looking to, if we can, increase funding

         16  in that area?  Or are we at a satisfactory level

         17  equipment wise  --

         18                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: I think we're

         19  trying to get them another vehicle.  I think it was

         20  through, I think the allocation of a vehicle that we

         21  are normally using in our patrol in Emergency

         22  Service to reassign a vehicle to them.  I think

         23  that's in the  --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Is that in the

         25  budget currently?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: It's in the

          3  process.  Whether or not it's in the budget, I'm not

          4  certain.  But they're terrific.  We --  I think

          5  we're making it  --  as far as my experience is

          6  concerned  --  better us of auxiliary forces not

          7  than ever before. They're turning out more

          8  regularly.  They're pitching in and helping us in

          9  parades and major events.  I think more effectively

         10  than ever before.  Years ago, we had a lot of names

         11  on the rolls, but they didn't necessarily come to

         12  work.  Now I think the percentage- wise, in terms of

         13  people who are actually functioning in an active

         14  role is much greater.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Well that's

         16  clearly more good news.  Would you just  --  would

         17  the Department just apprise us on the process with

         18  the vehicle as this budget you know process unfolds.

         19    So if we need to do something to help you secure

         20  the vehicle, we'll be happy to be able to do that.

         21                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Okay.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Just two last

         23  specific question.  To shift to kind of if you will,

         24  the other end of the spectrum of the police mission.

         25    From Homeland Security to livability.  Over the
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          2  past few years, the Department  --  and I know from

          3  my district  --  has been called upon increasingly

          4  to get involved in noise situations, potential

          5  illegal construction situations, air vent

          6  situations, and the list can go on.  Due in part to

          7  conditions in the City due in part to cutbacks and

          8  enforcement agents you know, of the other

          9  departments which have overlapping jurisdiction.

         10  And I know your communities are often frustrated

         11  when they're told, understandably and reasonably,

         12  you know, the Department has other priorities.  If

         13  someone is   --  you know, if there's a crime being

         14  committed, or a violent crime.  And of course,

         15  counter terrorism, that is going to be a priority.

         16  But in many ways, we're talking about apples and

         17  oranges.  Because as a city, we can't let ongoing

         18  livability issues persist.  We need to figure out a

         19  way to do both.

         20                 So my question  --  and maybe it's

         21  just the beginning of a new phase of a dialogue  --

         22  is to ask philosophically, as well as from a policy

         23  perspective, are we approaching this in the best,

         24  most cost- effective way to yield the best results?

         25  Are we right to call upon the NYPD to the extent
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          2  that we do?  Should we be looking to do it

          3  differently?  Some other kind of force of division?

          4  Or should we be looking to give your Department more

          5  resources to do this job?  For example, noise

          6  enforcement, with noise meters.  Any thoughts?  This

          7  is you know, that you have on this now or in the

          8  future, I know we'd be interested.

          9                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Hey, we never

         10  turn down more resources.  Let me just go back in

         11  history a little bit.  In December  --  let's say

         12  January of 2002, you know, four months after 911,

         13  people thought the world would go to hell in a hand

         14  basket.  They were very much concerned about a whole

         15  myriad of issues.  Crime going up, quality of life

         16  slipping.  One of the first things that we did, the

         17  Mayor announced at a press conference four days

         18  after he was sworn in, we initiated Operation Clean

         19  Sweep, which is a program that focuses on quality of

         20  life issues. It kind of takes a template and moves

         21  it throughout the City.  And precinct commanders are

         22  held accountable for quality of life concerns in

         23  their commands.  I even have a group of officers

         24  that report directly to my office that go out and

         25  take pictures of quality of life concerns.  And I
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          2  would say that the Department has done a admirable

          3  job in responding to quality of life issues that a

          4  lot of people thought would somehow go out of

          5  control after September 11th.

          6                 The other thing that's been

          7  particularly useful to us has been 311.  I think 311

          8  has been very effective.  And we're the agency of

          9  first resort and last resort.  People call us for

         10  everything. And that's lessened, to a great extent

         11  as a result of 311.  Now, the things that we can do

         12  and should do are funneled to us.  Are transmitted

         13  to us through the 311 system.  We have a

         14  computerized  --  two computers in every precinct

         15  that handle the 311 calls, which are the types of

         16  things that you're talking about. Noise complaints,

         17  and a myriad of other things that citizens are

         18  concerned with.  And I think  -- you know, I look

         19  back at the history in our Department, we're more

         20  effectively handling those lower level concerns now

         21  than ever before.  We're not perfect.  We you know,

         22  people are always, never going to be 100 percent

         23  satisfied.  But I think we're doing an effective

         24  job.  We're handling those noise complaints to the

         25  extent we can.  Because they come in conflict often
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          2  times with businesses that are growing in

          3  neighborhoods that are being re- gentrified.

          4  There's going to be that sort of conflict.

          5                 So to answer your question, I believe

          6  we're doing an effective job.  I don't see any

          7  immediate need in terms of you know, major

          8  resources.  There's been some changes in the law.

          9  Changes that are perhaps going to come about in

         10  terms of code violations, noise code violations,

         11  that sort of thing.  Those things could be helpful.

         12  But in the big sense, I don't see anything that we

         13  need additionally to help us do the job more

         14  effectively.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Well let me

         16  just comment on --  and Mr. Chair, I'll wrap it up,

         17  but I think we do need to continue with this

         18  important conversation.  I generally agree that the

         19  Department has done an admirable job but for which

         20  things would be much worse than they currently are.

         21  And things are getting better as a result.  But I

         22  could tell you, we need to do better overall as a

         23  City on persistent livability offenses that are

         24  chronic in too many areas, and this is not a

         25  criticism of the Department, it's a reaching out to
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          2  figure out what we need to do together to do better.

          3    Because we're told  --  and I can tell you from

          4  the precinct level, on many of these chronic issues,

          5  look, we're doing the best we can, but we have other

          6  priorities.  So whether it's for simplifying the law

          7  to make it easier to enforce, or some other

          8  strategy, I just think we, going forward, need to

          9  you know, strategize a little bit more about this.

         10                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: In your district,

         11  you have a lot of areas that are just business area,

         12  that close down at six o'clock at night.  Now,

         13  that's changed.  So there's a lot of these issues

         14  that are surfacing now that didn't exist before.

         15  Yes, it requires a dialogue. Some of these issues

         16  are complex.  So I agree with you.  It's something

         17  that has to be looked at.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: So I'll look

         19  forward to doing that.

         20                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: In terms of our

         21  responsiveness, I believe that it's better than any

         22  time in my memory.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And on that I

         24  think we also agree.  So just finally, on a specific

         25  issue.  The garage at One Police Plaza, that was
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          2  being renovated and was going to be reopened just

          3  for vehicles of security personnel.  Where do we

          4  stand with the renovation?  Is it done?  Do you have

          5  the capital funds you need to open it up to its full

          6  capacity?  Do we need to get you more capital funds?

          7    That will obviously help in a very real way with

          8  certain parking issues Downtown.  Do you  --

          9                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: We have 400 spots

         10  there that are now all being used.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Is that

         12  maximum capacity?  Or is it still under renovation?

         13                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: I believe it's

         14  maximum  --  I believe there's some more that has to

         15  be done in the garage, but I believe it will be

         16  finished by the end of next month.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay. Well

         18  thank you again Commissioner.  Other issues to be

         19  continued.  Thank you Chair Vallone.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you

         21  Councilman.  Council Member Baez.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BAEZ: Thank you Mr.

         23  Chair.  Good morning Commissioner.

         24                 In your testimony, you talked about

         25  one of the highlights, the 1,200 members to the
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          2  Police Department, with 800 being uniformed police

          3  officers, and 400 civilians.  I just want clarity in

          4  terms of the civilians.  These individuals are not

          5  going to take over the responsibility of the

          6  uniformed officers, freeing them for enforcement

          7  responsibilities.

          8                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BAEZ: Are these 400

         10  new individuals, is it the same recruitment and

         11  training process?

         12                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Are there 400 new

         13  individuals? Yes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BAEZ: No, the one.

         15                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: We're going to be

         16  hiring 400 new employees at a Police Administrative

         17  Aide title.  There will be some promotions involved

         18  as well.  Senior Administrative Aides. But in

         19  essence  --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BAEZ: And it's the

         21  same training?

         22                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Same training as

         23  police officers?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BAEZ: Right.  It's

         25  not.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: No.  No.  These

          3  are basically clerical duties.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BAEZ: Right.  Right.

          5  Okay.  And it's only 80.  It's my understanding that

          6  it's in groups of 80s.  How is that going to be

          7  broken down by boroughs?

          8                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, we're going

          9  to send them as they're needed.  The training is

         10  going to take place all in the police academy.  It's

         11  done on 20th Street in Manhattan.  And then they'll

         12  be assigned to the commands where they're needed.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BAEZ: And will the

         14  advertisement for these individuals, would it

         15  reflect the civilian and both police officers?

         16                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: I'm sorry  --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BAEZ: In terms of

         18  advertisement for the civilians that are going to be

         19  hired, how will we know that 400 individuals are

         20  going to be hired as civilians?

         21                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: I think through

         22  the normal processes.  Through newspapers.  You

         23  know, there's an application process that like any

         24  other City employee, or job that's being advertised.

         25    You have people who are interested in it.  Now the
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          2  easiest answer is to call 311.  You get information

          3  as to how to apply.  You're directed to the right

          4  place to go.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you

          6  Commissioner.  Just a couple of more questions and

          7  we'll get you out of here at 12 o'clock.

          8                 As you know, the Speaker, myself,

          9  Members of the City Council have been urging the end

         10  of this so- called Budget Dance that has been

         11  commonly referred to where the Council constantly

         12  restores certain money at the end of the budget

         13  process, and now money doesn't somehow always end up

         14  at the beginning of the next budget cycle, when the

         15  Mayor proposes his Executive Budget in January.  The

         16  Police Department, I guess, is not a victim of that

         17  as much as some other agencies.  But the one area

         18  that the Council seems to add at the end of every

         19  budget, and seems to disappear at the beginning of

         20  the next budget is the crossing guards.  And I know

         21  you just recently wrote a letter in response to an

         22  inquiry by Chair Vallone, and you indicated that you

         23  had trouble recruiting crossing guards.  First of

         24  all, what can we do to help in that recruitment

         25  effort?   What is the starting salary for crossing
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          2  guards?

          3                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: I think it's

          4  about $10 an hour.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: How much?  I'm

          6  sorry?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ALLOCCO: The

          8  starting salary for school crossing guards is $9.60.

          9    After one year, that grows to $9.97.  After two

         10  years, it's $10.18.  And ten years it's --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: How many hours

         12  entailed?  Or is it just  --

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ALLOCCO: I

         14  believe it's around 20 hours.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Twenty hours.

         16  Can someone work more than 20 hours, or it has to be

         17  20 hours?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ALLOCCO: Yes,

         19  it's flexible. You can work more than 20 hours.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Are there

         21  benefits  --

         22                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: It has to conform

         23  to a school schedule.  You know, basically, what

         24  happens is, they go to a post in the morning.  They

         25  go home, or go somewhere else, and they come back in
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          2  the afternoon.  That's why it's not an easy sell.  I

          3  mean, the world has changed.  We have a lot of two-

          4  income families.  So it's a dwindling universe or

          5  potential universe of employees for these types of

          6  jobs.  It's a part- time job, where you have to show

          7  up twice a day you know, for probably a couple of

          8  hours each appearance.  That's not an easy sell.  So

          9  we're asking the help of the Council.  We sent a

         10  letter to help us recruit.  I believe in our current

         11  structure, we have about 150 openings.  So anything

         12  you could do to help us, we'd be most appreciative.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Would increasing

         14  the hourly rate make a difference?

         15                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: It's hard to say.

         16    I mean, maybe.  But you know, how much can we

         17  increase it to?  It's just, I think the structure in

         18  this day and age causes as much a problem as the

         19  hourly wage.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Are there any

         21  benefits attached to the jobs?  Does someone who

         22  works part- time in these hourly jobs get benefits?

         23                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: I don't know.

         24  But we'll get you the specifics on that.  We'll send

         25  it to the Council.  And if you can, send it to all
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          2  Council Members.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Because

          4  obviously, you know, our children in our schools are

          5  a major concern.  And it it's just a question of you

          6  know, maybe a little bit more money, or you know,

          7  some benefits, that might, you know, make a

          8  difference in recruiting.  And you know, we'd hate

          9  to see, God forbid, some accident because we didn't

         10  have enough crossing guards.  You know, it seems to

         11  be a small price and it doesn't seem like a large

         12  budget item based on those hourly rates.

         13                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes, you know,

         14  it's not.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  Well,

         16  we'll look to see if we can  --  okay, and if you

         17  could just provide us that data, that would be

         18  helpful, and we'll try to do everything we can on

         19  our side.

         20                 I'm going to turn it back to Chair

         21  Vallone.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Just regarding

         23  crossing guards, we always say we need more of

         24  whatever that committee happens to be examining

         25  right now, but regarding crossing guards, this is
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          2  the official position.  We don't have enough.  The

          3  positions that you need aren't filled right now.

          4  You're down over 100 I believe.

          5                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: It's 150 I

          6  believe.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: 150?  The

          8  Commissioner has asked the Council to help with

          9  recruiting efforts.  It's a very difficult job to

         10  fill, because of the hours.  So please be out there

         11  in your districts, and letting people know that

         12  there's a position that's available.

         13                 Poster.  Well actually, we'll get

         14  some of the information regarding whether there are

         15  benefits and salaries and things like that from your

         16  office and provide them to the Council Members so

         17  they can know a little bit about what they speak

         18  when they try to recruit for these positions.

         19                 The money  --  we've always budgeted

         20  money, as Chair Weprin said, for security guards.

         21  The fact that you don't have enough  --  is our

         22  money still necessary?  Or is it because you don't

         23  have enough?   Or is it more necessary now to help

         24  you attract more security guards?

         25                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: That's a good
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          2  question.  I think we have to look at it a little

          3  closer ourselves.  You know, maybe there's another

          4  universe of people that we should be looking at to

          5  hire.  Maybe we need students, or something along

          6  those lines.  We just have to think a little

          7  differently than we thought in the past.  Because

          8  it's just  --  you know, many families probably, you

          9  know two- income families of people working  --

         10  both people are working full time, you just don't

         11  have that number of people available to take these

         12  jobs. So maybe we have to look elsewhere.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well we'll work

         14  with you on that.  Council Member Katz, for our last

         15  question from Council Members.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I'm sorry, and

         17  just very briefly, is there an age cutoff for

         18  crossing guards?

         19                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: I don't believe

         20  there is.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I mean, because

         22  I know Mr. Chair, in my district, we had a vast need

         23  for crossing guards.  And the hold up wasn't really

         24  you guys.  It was really the fact that we had no one

         25  to take the jobs.  I mean, I'd be willing to  --  I
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          2  know this sounds maybe odd, but maybe like the

          3  senior centers, or maybe the high schools, and I

          4  don't know, try to get into the homes of maybe women

          5  that find themselves now home when the children are

          6  at school.  We'd be happy to help you try to

          7  recruit. But I know it's difficult getting folks.

          8                 Just also quickly, what are the

          9  qualifications for the civilian employees that the

         10  Council Member was talking about? The 400 civilian

         11  employees, do we know what the qualifications are?

         12                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: A high school

         13  diploma and I don't think there's any age limits on

         14  that.  I think there's a test, a typing test.  You

         15  know, basic qualifications.  Again, 311 and probably

         16  on our website. If it's not on our website, we'll

         17  get it on our website.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: All right.  If

         19  someone could easily just fax us or whatever, the

         20  information for the qualifications.  I know the

         21  Council Member is interested for her district, I'm

         22  sure we have people that may be interested.

         23                 Last question.  Can you give us a

         24  very brief update on the ECTP?  On where we are with

         25  the Emergency Command.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: On the what?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: PSAC, PSAC 2.

          4                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Oh, PSAC, I'm

          5  sorry.  Well, as I was talking to the Chairman

          6  before, there is an article today in the press about

          7  it.  This is DoITT project.  They're hopeful of

          8  finally closing a deal for a location in the Bronx.

          9  That's what's holding it up.  They don't have a

         10  contract with the owner of the property.  Now we do

         11  have  --  you know we have another answering center.

         12    It's in our own Police Headquarters.  And so we're

         13  located in Metrotectors, where the bulk of call

         14  answering center is.  But we also have another

         15  location Police Headquarters.  So I wouldn't want

         16  you to think that there isn't any alternate sites,

         17  but in this day and age, we need something, you

         18  know, much better, and we need a totally redundant

         19  system, and that's what if give us.

         20                 But that's the hold up, waiting for

         21  an agreement between the City and the property

         22  owner.  I know DCAS alone would do it, is very much

         23  engaged in that.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Once the

         25  contract is signed, and we know exactly the space
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          2  that we're looking at, in order to hold the

          3  facility, perhaps we can have more in detailed

          4  conversations about when and how it's moving

          5  forward, and the different agencies that are working

          6  together for it.  But do you have a timeframe, about

          7  when you think it might be done?

          8                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: I really can't,

          9  because if the attention to this project as really

         10  shifted to DoITT and it would be speculation on my

         11  part.  We were engaged in the planning for it, now a

         12  good two years ago.  And then it's kind of been put

         13  on the side until we get the property.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Council Member

         16  Katz, it's a good question.  I was actually about to

         17  say that I'd had many conversations with the Acting

         18  Chair of DoITT, and Commissioner Kelly, much of

         19  which, unfortunately has to stay off the record.

         20  Those are the reasons why I haven't been as vocal at

         21  this hearing as I have been in the past about the

         22  fact that we need a backup center done yesterday.  I

         23  know that Commissioner Kelly agrees with me on that.

         24    It's been four years, and I made it very clear to

         25  both Commissioners that I understand what's
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          2  happening right now, and the delay right now.  That

          3  none of us on this Committee will stand for another

          4  hearing next year where we're told we're moving in

          5  the right direction, we're close to finding a site.

          6  So they are very aware of that situation, and

          7  Commissioner Kelly agrees with us on that.

          8                 I guess there's one last question

          9  Commissioner, from the Chair Weprin.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Commissioner,

         11  there's been some I guess discussion or rumors that

         12  there's some kind of cutback in the harbor unit

         13  patrols, the police boats that patrol the harbor.

         14  Can you give us an update on what the status is of

         15  the  --  the current status of the harbor patrols,

         16  and you know, potential increases or decreases?

         17                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: I'm unaware of

         18  any cutbacks, and we're not looking to increase.  We

         19  have about 25 boats.  We have big boats and smaller

         20  boats that we deploy.  We'll deploy more people.  We

         21  usually bring in a Summer detail that works during

         22  the Summertime.  I don't know.  You're obviously

         23  getting information from somebody who is not in the

         24  Summer detail, or I don't know, if there's overtime

         25  being cut, or something like that.
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          2                 Feel free, just between you and I.

          3  Who is telling you this?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Councilman

          5  Gerson.  Your Councilman.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: There was

          7  concern about the boats that patrol around your

          8  residence Commissioner.  No, seriously, there was,

          9  at one point, folks approached us that there was a

         10  need for additional vessels, and as a result of a

         11  backlog in the upgrade that the actual patrol

         12  strength was going to at least temporarily be

         13  reduced.  And I don't know if that's true or not, my

         14  concern was to see if it is true, and whether  --

         15  and irrespective of that, are you satisfied with the

         16  level of the harbor unit, both in terms of the

         17  vessels that are functioning and the personnel

         18  assigned therein.  Is there  --

         19                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: No, I think  --

         20  I see no immediate needs.  The vessels, they get all

         21  the  --  you know, but we have all the   --  a

         22  normal replacement process that will kick in when

         23  it's needed.  Unless you know something that I don't

         24  know, I don't know of any particular concerns.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you Council
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          2  Member Gerson.

          3                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: You know, the

          4  Coast Guard has much more aggressive patrols now in

          5  the harbor, particularly down in your district. I

          6  was just talking to the Admiral and the Captain of

          7  the port yesterday about their department.  We work

          8  well with them.  But I see no immediate need for an

          9  increase at this time.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you Council

         11  Member.  Just for planning purposes, when the

         12  Commissioner is done, which will be very soon, we

         13  will be taking a five minute break.  Every time I

         14  say last question, another Council Member has a

         15  question.   This is absolutely the last question.

         16  It will be a quick one from Council Member Helen

         17  Sears.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you Madam

         19  Chair.  Good morning Commissioner.  My question is

         20  very fast.  Are you having any success in finding a

         21  site for the 110th Precinct?  That the community and

         22  that precinct has been bursting for years and years.

         23                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: No, I know it's

         24  needed.  That's an old facility, like so many of our

         25  facilities, particularly the 110.  And you and I
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          2  have had talked about this before.  I don't believe

          3  a site has been selected.  It's one of those

          4  precincts that constantly shows up in the budget,

          5  and constantly kind of moves out.  You know, so

          6  there is no site that I'm aware of that is good for

          7  the 110.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Okay, thank

          9  you.

         10                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: There's always a

         11  possibility of reconstruction at the precinct

         12  itself, but that means getting another location

         13  where you operate out of temporarily.  But I don't

         14  think a decision has been made in that regard.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you very

         16  much.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you

         18  Council Member. Commissioner, you are the epitome of

         19  doing more with less, which is what has made it so

         20  difficult for us to convince others to get you more

         21  police officers, unfortunately.  And Robert

         22  Jackson's point was well taken, for anyone who has

         23  been a victim of a vicious robbery or a rape,

         24  they're not interested in hearing that crime is down

         25  a certain percentage.  And that's why you and I and
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          2  all of us agree we can't rest on our laurels, and

          3  that's why we got the new police officers, and we

          4  want to continue to bring crime down to levels that

          5   --  unseen levels. Levels you know, that will keep

          6  a safest City in America, and hopefully will make us

          7  the safest City in the world.  We all here look

          8  forward to working with you to get that done in the

          9  future.  And let me turn it over to Chair Weprin.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes, thank you

         11  Commissioner once again.  We appreciate your

         12  appearances before these Committees, and your

         13  accessibility of your office to the Council, and

         14  obviously, if there are any other inquiries that

         15  come up between now and the adoption of the budget,

         16  I assume you'll be available to answer them.  And if

         17  you could provide that data that was requested, I

         18  guess there was something on crossing guards and

         19  something else, I don't remember what all the other

         20  data was, but I'm sure somebody was taking notes.

         21                 And I just want to note for the

         22  record, it's three minutes to 12, so we got you out

         23  on time.  I can't promise you the media outside is

         24  going to get you out, but in any case, thanks again,

         25  and we're going to take a five minute recess.
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          2                 And then we'll hear from the Office

          3  of Emergency Management.

          4                 A recess was taken.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Joseph Bruno, of

          6  the Office of Emergency Management.  Commissioner

          7  Bruno.

          8                 And if you could introduce your

          9  colleague as well.

         10                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: This is Deputy

         11  Commissioner Rachel Stein Dickinson, who is with me.

         12    She's in charge of Administration and Finance at

         13  OEM.

         14                 Well good afternoon Chairman Weprin,

         15  Chairman Vallone, and the Members of the Committee

         16  on Finance and Public Safety.  I'm Joseph Bruno,

         17  Commissioner of the New York City Office of

         18  Emergency Management, OEM.  I'm pleased to be

         19  testifying before you today about OEM's Fiscal Year

         20  2007 budget.

         21                 I've now been at OEM for more than

         22  two years, and I'm proud to say that through our

         23  efforts, and the efforts of many other agencies, New

         24  York City continues to be one of the best prepared

         25  cities in the nation.  We are working hard on a
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          2  daily basis to fulfill every part of our mission.

          3  From helping the City plan and prepare for

          4  emergencies; to educating New Yorkers about ways

          5  they could better prepare; from coordinating and

          6  supporting emergency response efforts; to collecting

          7  and disseminating critical information.  And of

          8  course, working to secure funding in support of the

          9  City's overall preparedness.

         10                 Although I did just appear before you

         11  in March, I wanted to update you on a couple of

         12  important issues that have progressed since then.

         13  The TRIFECTA drill and our Coastal Storm plan.

         14                 On March 26th, we held the TRIFECTA

         15  exercise, which was designed to test the City's

         16  ability to implement the Citywide Information

         17  Management System.  As you know, it involved and

         18  improvised explosive device on a freight train that

         19  detonated next to the LIRR passenger train, causing

         20  the dispersion of a dangerous chemical.  The

         21  exercise focused upon a safe response to a hazardous

         22  material incident, triage, decontamination, fatality

         23  management, mortuary operations, and crime scene

         24  management.  Additionally, as I've said, a review of

         25  the Citywide Information Management System, known as
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          2  CIMS, was an objective of this exercise.  I am very

          3  pleased to advise that CIMS worked very well.

          4                 As you are also aware, for the past

          5  year, OEM has been working to revise and update the

          6  City's Coastal Storm plan. Planners from OEM and

          7  numerous agencies and not- for- profit partners are

          8  going through the plan with a fine- toothed comb to

          9  incorporate lessons learned from this past year, and

         10  ensure that New York City is fully prepared for the

         11  start of the upcoming hurricane season. The plan

         12  should be completed shortly.  In fact, it's

         13  virtually complete.

         14                 I also want to point out that while

         15  we hear of a June 1st date of the official start of

         16  the annual hurricane season, here in the northeast,

         17  the period of coastal storm activity runs generally

         18  from August 1st through October.  And we will be

         19  fully prepared for our season.

         20                 On that point, we are designing a

         21  series of interrelated exercises, known as HurrEx.

         22  We will begin with a table top exercise focusing

         23  upon storm tracking and the decision making process

         24  prior to a hurricane.  This will be followed with a

         25  full- scale field exercise that will focus on our
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          2  ability to activate evacuation centers and hurricane

          3  shelters and execute a coastal storm evacuation.

          4                 I should note also that OEM is also a

          5  participant in the federal northeast region

          6  hurricane exercise run by the Department of Homeland

          7  Security, in New London, Connecticut.  It will be

          8  held on June 22nd and 23rd, and we will be present

          9  and a player in that exercise.  This dovetails quite

         10  well with our table top on June 8th, and our full

         11  scale in July of 2006.

         12                 Let me now provide a snapshot of our

         13  budget for next year.

         14                 OEM's projected total Fiscal Year '07

         15  expense budget is $6.3 million.  To supplement his

         16  funding, OEM has been actively involved in pursuing

         17  outside funding to support our agency's mission of

         18  ensuring that the City of New York and its residents

         19  are prepared for, and can respond to any emergency

         20  condition that may arise.  Additionally, OEM works

         21  closely with the Office of Management and Budget,

         22  and the Mayor's Office to advocate for the City's

         23  fair share of Homeland Security funding from both

         24  Albany and Washington.  As you know, Mayor Bloomberg

         25  has been one of the major advocates in urging that
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          2  federal funds be apportioned based on risk, and I am

          3  extremely pleased to report that Congress has come

          4  to an agreement to distribute funding using risk as

          5  a significant determining factor.

          6                 The projected Fiscal Year '07

          7  personnel service budget of OEM is $2.532 million,

          8  which supports 22 OEM employees. OEM has an

          9  additional 34 employees paid through grant funding,

         10  and 57 staff members on loan from multiple City and

         11  State agencies, as well as private and not- for-

         12  profit groups.  Drawing on the expertise and talent

         13  of these diverse entities supports OEM's

         14  interdisciplinary approach to emergency management.

         15                 OEM's projected Fiscal Year '07 OTPS,

         16  or Other Than Personnel Service budget is $3.793

         17  million, which will cover operating and

         18  administrative costs for our facilities and staff.

         19  In addition to maintaining our agency headquarters,

         20  OEM's expense budget supports our Emergency

         21  Operations Center, the City's central planning and

         22  coordination point during an  emergency event.  And

         23  our backup EOC.  OEM also supports a number of

         24  mobile assets that are deployable for major field

         25  responses.
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          2                 OEM does not have a capital budget.

          3  The Department of Design and Construction is

          4  managing the capital funding designated to support

          5  the building of OEM's new agency headquarters at 165

          6  Cadman Plaza.  This project will be the City's first

          7  green agency headquarters, and is very near

          8  completion.  We hope to move in by the end of the

          9  Summer.  Additionally, we're looking forward to

         10  moving into our new warehouse space at 930 Flushing

         11  Avenue in Brooklyn, as the ULURP process was

         12  successfully completed on May 10th, before this

         13  body.

         14                 In the past year, OEM successfully

         15  secured $10.5 million in federal, state, and private

         16  funding.  Without this outside funding, many of

         17  OEM's finest programs, including large scale

         18  preparedness exercises and public outreach would not

         19  be possible.  An additional $8.2 million in grant

         20  applications are currently under consideration by

         21  federal and state funds.

         22                 Again, I want to thank you for the

         23  opportunity to testify.  And I look forward to

         24  continuing to work with this Council on issues

         25  pertaining to emergency preparedness and response.
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          2  Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you

          4  Commissioner.  We appreciate the fact that a lot of

          5  your funding sources come from other than the

          6  general fund.  And know you referred in your

          7  testimony certain grants that you received.  Can you

          8  give us you know, a little bit more detail, status

          9  report about potential grants, particularly in the

         10  counter- terrorism area that your agency has applied

         11  to or received since September 11, 2001?  And are

         12  there any other prospective grants that are in the

         13  pipeline?

         14                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Yes, let's talk

         15  about prospective.  We have applications in for $8.2

         16  million in grant funding from the Department of

         17  Homeland Security.  That would support GIS mapping

         18  initiatives, which are very important to the Police

         19  and Fire Departments in the event of any type of

         20  incident, particularly if we needed to map certain

         21  parts of the City for the purposes of restricting

         22  access.  Additionally, Community Emergency Response

         23  Team expansion is part of that funding.

         24                 We have quite a bit of money asking

         25  for human services, which relate to family
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          2  assistance and disaster assistance services centers.

          3    Technology of course, is always a big part of what

          4  we're seeking, and we've asked for, in that grant,

          5  about $2 million for additional technology.

          6                 We are pleased to state that DHS has

          7  decided to start funding emergency preparedness

          8  education programs, and we're asking for about

          9  another $2 million so we can continue our outreach.

         10  Currently, we're outreaching to the coastal storm

         11  areas, to talk to them about a potential for

         12  hurricanes in New York.

         13                 And last but not least, we maintain

         14  the database of the City's assets, which would be

         15  used in any incident that might occur in the City of

         16  New York.  And we're asking for additional money to

         17  expand that database to include private sector

         18  assets into it.

         19                 So that's what we're seeking for the

         20  future.  In the past, some funds that are continuing

         21  to come to us, we have funding for mass casualties,

         22  out of MMRS grant.  We have Homeland Security

         23  funding that continues to come to do exercises and

         24  drills.  And additionally, to do business continuity

         25  planning for the agencies in City government and the
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          2  private sector.  And additionally to do the Citywide

          3  Incident Management program training.  And

          4  acclamation in the City of New York.

          5                 So those are a few of the things

          6  we're doing.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  Thank you.

          8    I'm going to turn it over to Chair Vallone.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you again

         10  Commissioner. And I know most of your testimony was

         11  also testified to not too long ago in our original

         12  hearing.  Are there any differences between the two

         13  that I happen to miss?  Or any updates from the last

         14  time to now?

         15                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: One was the

         16  TRIFECTA exercise, which I don't think we had had.

         17  And also our Coastal Storm, which is now virtually

         18  ready for issuance.  At least issuance in the sense

         19  that it will provided to all of the agencies that

         20  participate in it, and of course, to give

         21  information to the public and to the City Council of

         22  what we're doing.

         23                 So those are the two major things

         24  that we've been working on.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay.  Just in
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          2  that regard, in relation to the information, I would

          3  request that you give us a copy of it perhaps before

          4  I read about it in the Times this time. Okay?

          5                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: We'll do our

          6  best.  We're certainly going to release a lot of

          7  information on it.  And certain information we're

          8  not going to release, but virtually the plan will be

          9  known to everyone.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay.  Even if

         11  it meant we'll keep it obviously confidential if you

         12  want us to, but I'd like a chance to examine it

         13  before I get asked questions on it.

         14                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: I think your

         15  office already asked for that.  We're certainly

         16  going to bring you into the loop very quickly.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you.  This

         18  is an unusual question, and I apologize for not

         19  telling you I was going to ask this, I had

         20  forgotten.  I got a letter from DEPS yesterday.

         21  I've been working with DEP and Dave and I, and Chair

         22  Gennaro regarding security for our watershed. And

         23  asking them about why they don't receive any

         24  Homeland Security money for that purpose.  And they

         25  didn't seem to have an answer for it at the hearing,
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          2  so we followed up with a letter.  And their response

          3  to us was basically, they haven't applied.  They

          4  don't basically intend to apply.  And that

          5  responsibility lies with you and OMB.  So my next

          6  letter, which I'm writing right now is to you and

          7  OMB to find out whether you have -  whether that

          8  statement is correct, and what is the status of

          9  funding for our watershed.  Homeland Security

         10  funding?

         11                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: The way the

         12  funding operates, New York City gets certain amount

         13  of funding from DHS.  OEM, OMB, and the Criminal

         14  Justice Coordinator are the three agencies that work

         15  together to determine where that money will be

         16  allocated.  I know that  --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Are there any

         18  individual agencies that get money directly from the

         19  federal government?

         20                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Well I believe

         21  that the   -- all the money goes to the State of New

         22  York, and it's allocated out.  There are other

         23  grants, other than DHS funding which some people do

         24  get directly.  The Police Department does get some

         25  funding.  But generally, most funding goes through
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          2  the City of New York.  The OMB and the agencies that

          3  I mentioned, we, and CJC look at the applications

          4  from the agencies as to what they are seeking. DEP

          5  does have, and has had some requests for funding,

          6  but I can't tell you precisely what's happened to

          7  every one of them.  And whether it was related

          8  directly to the watershed, I don't know the answer

          9  to that.  But if you make a request to me, we'll try

         10  our best to answer that question.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Yes, I will be

         12  following up with that.

         13                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: What Rachel is

         14  saying to me, and I think it's consistent with what

         15  I've said, for DHS funding, the City submits one

         16  application.  It gathers up all the information from

         17  various agencies that are seeking, as we put in, as

         18  the Police Department puts in, the Fire Department.

         19  I personally don't know what DEP has put in, but

         20  we'll take a look at that.  Then it comes back and

         21  it's allocated.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I am aware of

         23  that funding situation.  I'm also aware that there

         24  are grants out there, and that they've restructured

         25  the cops' money to allow for counter terrorism
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          2  funding.  And it's hard to believe that there isn't

          3  a grant out there for  --  which would be accessible

          4  by us for enable us to protect our watershed.  So I

          5  will be asking you, sending you a request to find

          6  out what's out there, what we'll be doing to

          7  retrieve that money.

          8                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Councilman, I'm

          9  assuming that DEP gave you its own tax levy funding

         10  for that operation.  They do have security, and I'm

         11  assuming they gave you detail on what that was.  Did

         12  they indicate to you that they were seeking

         13  additional funding for that  --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: No, that's my

         15  problem.  They said that was not their purview.

         16                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Well, it would be

         17  their purview to suggest that they would like the

         18  funding for that.  Whether they get it or not, I

         19  agree with Dave, there are three agencies involved.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I'll be

         21  following up with letters to them and you just to

         22   --

         23                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: I probably will

         24  take some of your remarks, and pass it on, and say

         25  give me an explanation of why.  Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BRUNO: Fine.  As long as

          3  it's getting back to us.  It just seems to me that

          4  there should be some Homeland Security money

          5  available for our watershed protection, and I want

          6  to work with you  --

          7                 I've got no further questions.  We

          8  have Council Member Helen Sears had a question.

          9                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: How are you?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you.

         11  Good to see you. It's a question having to do with

         12  outreach.  And I know you do a lot of that.  And how

         13  do we inform people in the City of New York. But I

         14  know that people really  --  in case of an emergency

         15    --  and I know we have media and that kind of

         16  stuff, but they do not know where to go.  And I was

         17  just wondering.  There are 59 community boards in

         18  the City.  Has information ever been given to 59

         19  boards, in terms of the districts they cover, and

         20  where they, in those boundaries, would go in case of

         21  a disaster?  I don't think that anything like that

         22  has ever been distributed.

         23                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: We distribute

         24  Ready New York to all the community boards.  And

         25  also to all the Council Persons who serve in those
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          2  areas.  We also do a tremendous amount of outreach

          3  now to community groups, community board meetings,

          4  church groups, wherever we can to outreach to them.

          5  When you say "where they would go", do you mean in a

          6  coastal storm?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: In a coastal

          8  storm or another disasters, a case of terrorism.

          9                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Our Ready New

         10  York educational program talks about a variety of

         11  specific hazards.  Talks about sheltering.  Talks

         12  about evacuation.  In specific evacuation, for

         13  example, a coastal storm evacuation, we will be

         14  providing, and are providing already information

         15  about where people can evacuate to. A full plan will

         16  be issued very shortly to the people of the City. We

         17  do it through, as you say, media generally.  But

         18  we've been doing  --  for example, right now  --

         19  outreach into all the ethnic communities along the

         20  coastal shores.  We are meeting with  -- we've done

         21  approximately 30 interviews with local papers,

         22  ethnic papers, ethnic radio stations, so we can

         23  start reaching people who don't read the New York

         24  Times necessarily.  Who rely on their ethnic paper

         25  or local paper for instance.  So we've done a lot of
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          2  that.  We certainly have reached out through the

          3  Council and through the community.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Well we have

          5  distributed  -- and it's done very well  --  New

          6  York Ready.  Ready New York.  I've distributed

          7  thousands and thousands.  But that's not saying

          8  where to go in that.

          9                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Well it wouldn't.

         10    Because it -

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: That's why I'm

         12  raising the question.

         13                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Well there isn't

         14  one place to go.  For example, if we have an

         15  explosion that occurs in a particular area of the

         16  City, our plan calls for the opening of Ready

         17  Receiving Centers.  First we would have to know

         18  where it occurs.  If it occurred in Upper Manhattan,

         19  we know that we would start opening up houses of

         20  worship for people to just go into, and have a

         21  respite.  Have some water.  So that's a plan we

         22  already have in place.  The houses of worship, they

         23  know that if an incident occurs, they're going to

         24  get a call from us to make their space available.

         25  They have a direct relationship with us, so if they
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          2  needed any supplies, we would work getting those

          3  supplies there. That would be kind of an immediate

          4  thing in a no- notice situation.

          5                 With a notice situation, which would

          6  be a hurricane, we would track a hurricane coming up

          7  the coast for five days before it ever got here.  At

          8  that point, we already will have, and have 65

          9  evacuation centers that will be identified and lots

         10  of shelters. At that point, the information will be

         11  broadcast all over.  And people will be able to

         12  access that information now, or five days before a

         13  hurricane.  Hopefully, they'll do it now.  We tell

         14  them to make a plan.  One of the parts of the plan

         15  we tell them to make is find out where you live.  Do

         16  you live in the zone?  If so, what evacuation center

         17  should you go to if you need it.  If you don't need

         18  it, we say stay with family or friends.

         19                 So it depends on the type of

         20  emergency.  A no- notice emergency is more

         21  difficult.  We don't know that an explosion is going

         22  to occur.  Or you know, chemical events might occur,

         23  which would make part of the City not usable.  But

         24  we do have a plan, if that happens, to sector off

         25  that area of the City, and start opening up
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          2  receiving centers so people can get back together a

          3  bit mentally and otherwise, relax for a minute, and

          4  then move on to whatever the City can provide for

          5  sheltering.

          6                 The same shelters we would use for a

          7  coastal storm, we would use in the event we had to

          8  house people for some period of time because an area

          9  of the City was no longer usable.  Until we made it

         10  clear and clean.

         11                 So it's hard to say exactly where

         12  everything  -- because there's no one place.  It

         13  would depend on the emergency. But in a coastal

         14  storm, that will be very clear where they go. There

         15  will be 65 locations to go to in the City of New

         16  York.  And everyone should know, and we should all

         17  encourage them to know where that location is.  And

         18  when the call comes to go, that's where they should

         19  go.  Or, they should go to their alternate plan of

         20  staying with family or friends.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you.

         22  Thank you Mr. Chair.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you

         24  Council Member Sears. See it's nice not to have to

         25  rush, right?  You were very good. Yes.
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          2                 Commissioner Bruno, you mentioned

          3  your Trifecta exercise being perhaps the only update

          4  from our last  --  between our last hearing and now.

          5    You probably know that I was a vocal proponent of

          6  actually getting a CIMS system here in New York

          7  City, and hopefully helped in crafting it, as much

          8  as possible.  I --

          9                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: We had a number

         10  of meetings.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: We did have a

         12  couple of meetings, yes.  So I would like to know

         13  actually, what the exercise entailed.  What we

         14  learned from the exercise. What went well, and

         15  perhaps what needs to be improved.

         16                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: The exercise

         17  entailed a simulated explosion on a commercial rail,

         18  with a passenger train passing  --  a Long Island

         19  Railroad train passing with passengers. We simulated

         20  that explosion.  We simulated 20 plus deaths, and

         21  about 80 or so injuries.  We tested one, how would

         22  the agency respond with a hazmat incident.  We know

         23  in a hazmat incident, the Police Department as the

         24  lead agency, has command.  And in the operations

         25  section, the Fire Department, the Police Department,

                                                            116

          1  FINANCE AND PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  and in this case, with the chemicals, the Department

          3  of Environmental Protection would be a unified

          4  operations section.  So we tested that.  We wanted

          5  to see how it would work.

          6                 What virtually happened, and which we

          7  like, is what actually happened.  It is the Police

          8  Department and the Fire Department who happened to

          9  be two Chiefs that were on that particular day, that

         10  work together quite a bit, and they agreed to go at

         11  a unified command immediately.  Because of the size

         12  of the incident.  We like that, that they used some

         13  flexibility of CIMS allow that.  To the Police

         14  Department, it was clearly an explosion. We didn't

         15  know if it was an explosion and what the cause was,

         16  but the Police Department decided to go to a unified

         17  command.  So that worked well.  We were very pleased

         18  with that.

         19                 Plus, it set up separate command

         20  section, a unified command section and a unified

         21  operation section.  That was important, because it

         22  was a very large incident.  The command was a

         23  strategic control and decision making for that

         24  incident.  The operations section was tactical.

         25  What was happening on the ground?            Initially
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          2  , they started with both in the same area. The

          3  incident was too big for that.  We had over 20

          4  people killed. We had to clear and to through and

          5  investigate a number of railroad cars.  We had to

          6  pull people out.  Had to deal with people on the

          7  ground.  And we had to deal with perhaps a plume

          8  that might be occurring because of this incident.

          9                 So the breakup of that was exactly

         10  what CIMS anticipates.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And that

         12  happened in the course of the  --

         13                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: In the course of

         15  the exercise, with no prior planning, just  --

         16                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: No prior

         17  planning. These people came and responded.  They had

         18  no idea of what was going to happen.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Can you just,

         20  for people who aren't as involved in this as you and

         21  I, explain what happens at an operations command

         22  center and the command center I should say.

         23                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: A unified

         24  command, we're looking at the entire incident.  What

         25  has happened here?  How long  -- what's the impact
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          2  of this?  Vis- a- vis the entire City.  What

          3  strategic decisions must be made?  Is this part of a

          4  larger incident that may be occurring in the City?

          5  Is it terrorism?  Is it criminality?  And what else

          6  may be occurring?  What other areas of the City

          7  could be affected along with what we're dealing

          8  with? So actually, it's strategic.  What's the

          9  strategy for dealing with this very large incident?

         10                 The tactical or operations section is

         11  where you're deciding who is going to enter these

         12  particular cars?  What level of protection are they

         13  going to wear?  How are they going to report back?

         14  How many dead do we have?  Make sure we have a

         15  mortuary operation going.  Make sure we identify as

         16  best we can.  Open up a family assistance center, so

         17  for people who now believe that their family may

         18  have been on that particular train.  Open up a

         19  missing persons program out of 311, to start getting

         20  information from the field to 311,so we could start

         21  working missing persons with PD, with 311 and the

         22  field operations.  It's a very tactical, boots on

         23  the ground.  How does Fire need their rescue  --

         24  Search and Rescue, which you know, they do in a

         25  hazmat incident?  And how does PD support them?  And
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          2  how does DEP come in and finally tell us what

          3  chemical do we have, how dangerous is that chemical

          4  to the rest of the community and the City?  And how

          5  do we best mitigate it?  And that works very well.

          6  We were very, very pleased with their work.        It

          7  was a large incident.  We had over 2,000 people

          8  involved.  It costs probably more than $500,000 to

          9  run that.  And we think we learned one, that face to

         10  face, placement of command at both the operations

         11  and the unified command section was very, very

         12  helpful.  It happened to be the two commanders, the

         13  Police and Fire had done a job not too long before

         14  that.  And because of that relationship, as soon as

         15  they got together, and regardless that CIMS said it

         16  could be a PD command, single command, they said,

         17  we've worked well together.  Let's work this one

         18  together.

         19                 Now it was a simulation.  We

         20  understand that.  But I think that that's the kind

         21  of thing we expected, and it seems to be working.

         22  On the other side of the  --  I'm sorry, on the

         23  other side  --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: No, I was about

         25  to go the other side, obviously on something so
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          2  vast, there must have been  -- you expected to see

          3  some problems, so what do we need to work on?

          4                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Well, one of the

          5  things we saw is that DEP arrived earlier than they

          6  should have.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: That's very

          8  rare.

          9                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: That's rare. And

         10  they were excited.  They were prepositioned, and

         11  some of those people, we didn't bring them through

         12  the streets, we prepositioned them.  We had set for

         13  them a lag time.  So they came a little early, and

         14  when they set up for their decon area, they had the

         15  decon people who were going into the actual

         16  restricted zone  --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Let me just hold

         18  on a second. Two things.  First I want to clarify my

         19  joke.  With the Astoria flood, they were a little

         20  late.  But other than that, they've done a good job.

         21    But how would they show up early in an exercise

         22  like yours?

         23                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Well what we did

         24  was, we staged them.  Rather than run them through

         25  the streets, with the danger of that, we staged them
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          2  outside.  And we said, this is the timing. You

          3  should come in a little bit  --  at this time.  And

          4  X number of minutes later, you should be arriving.

          5  Based upon our knowledge. They ran in a little

          6  earlier.  They were excited.  That was one part.

          7  And that is easily fixed.  Because in a real

          8  emergency, they're going to get there when they get

          9  there.  They're not a   -- they're not the Fire

         10  Department or the Police Department.  They don't

         11  have that type of resources.

         12                 But when they did come, they set up

         13  their decon area in an area that did not allow other

         14  movement of vehicles.  So we learned that they've

         15  got to understand that they've got to position their

         16  decon in another spot.  Very practical solution.

         17                 The other thing, we thought the

         18  missing persons part of it went well.  We thought

         19  that the mortuary operations went well.  We probably

         20  could have zeroed in a bit more on  --  I don't

         21  think we did enough to really evaluate it.  We had

         22  excellent press coverage there, and sometimes  --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I'm sorry.

         24  Evaluate what? What did you want to zero in on?

         25                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Well, we'd like
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          2  to have seem the operation a little closer.  I don't

          3  think we took a good enough look it.  We had  --  we

          4  would have had somewhere around 28 dead. We didn't

          5  pay enough attention.  That was my point.  We had it

          6  all set up.  We set it up in an area of the yard  --

          7    we were in the Maspeth Rail Yard  --  down and

          8  away from most of the action.  And because of that,

          9  we all  --  a lot of people zeroed in on the action,

         10  and not so much there.  We'll be much more careful

         11  the next time we do this, to ensure that we get a

         12  better view of what they did.  We think they did a

         13  good job.  But we didn't view as it well enough from

         14  the management point of view.

         15                 So that would be a couple if the

         16  things that I think were lessons learned.  We're

         17  very pleased with the CIMS.  We're very pleased with

         18  the way our Police and Fire handled the

         19  investigation, the access to restricted areas.  We

         20  could have probably done a slightly better job in

         21  handling the persons who were injured.  We saw a

         22  real lag before we could get people out of the area.

         23    One of the reasons for it, which I learned later

         24  on, and I was kind of critical of how long people

         25  were having to wait for EMS to come in.  One of the
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          2  reasons was, you had to have a reading of whether

          3  these people were contaminated in some way, where

          4  taking them out of that zone would have potentially

          5  injured other first responders and others who were

          6  outside.

          7                 But we've asked EMS to look at that a

          8  little more closely.  We've  --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: EMS has

         10  complained to us in the past that they believe that

         11  they should be allowed closer to the actual

         12  incident.  Did that in any way affect the slower

         13  removal of the injured?

         14                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: One of the things

         15  that happens at every large incident, whether real

         16  or exercise, is we have so many vehicles coming in.

         17  They clog up the entire area.  It happened again

         18  even in this incident.  People come in.  They're

         19  excited.  They leave their vehicles right in the

         20  center of the whole area.  They don't move to the

         21  side so we then have difficulty bringing in other

         22  vehicles.  It's probably one of the biggest things

         23  we have to correct.  And it's one that we continue

         24  to work on.  And I'd say if there was another

         25  failing, that was one of them.  Same type thing.
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          2  They clog  --  we got it moved out.  This should be

          3  almost a routine.  Your vehicles have to be off the

          4  street when we need another service coming in.  EMS

          5  was behind that a little bit.  But it wasn't so much

          6  that only.  It was the issue of they were thinking

          7  more about setting up a triage area, even in the

          8  zone, so we could start treating people in the zone,

          9  and not worry about their contamination affect if we

         10  take them out of the zone.

         11                 Those are a few things we learned,

         12  and that's why we do the exercises.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I'm sure I could

         14  learn  --  I have a thousand more questions.  It's

         15  so fascinating actually.  And I commend you for

         16  doing the exercise.  But I know CCRB is here, and

         17  your time is  --  you're over your time.  When do

         18  you plan on having another exercise?

         19                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: We have an

         20  exercise on June 8th. We will have HurrEx Table Top.

         21    And in early July, we will have a hurricane

         22  exercise, a live exercise in New York City, where we

         23  test our evacuation centers.  And our hurricane

         24  shelters.  And an actual evacuation.  So you'll see

         25  some action in a few months.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Will your plan

          3  be released before or after those exercises?

          4                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Before.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Before?  Okay

          6  good.  So we'll look forward to the results  --

          7                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: We will be

          8  testing that plan so it will be before.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Great.  Great.

         10  As I said, I have many more question regarding that,

         11  but we'll have to save that for another day.

         12                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: We'll see each

         13  other along the road.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Last thing.  Are

         15  you involved in this whole Amtrak situation that's

         16  happening right now?

         17                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Yes, we are.

         18  We're at the scene.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And by way of

         20  example, this is --  how  --  what is EOM's function

         21  at a situation like we're seeing right now?

         22                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Well right now,

         23  we're all at the command center.  Amtrak is handling

         24    --  New Jersey Transit is doing the actual moving

         25  trains out of the tunnels.  There's one train in
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          2  there that we're still looking at, and trying to

          3  determine whether it has to be evacuated.  It looks

          4  like one train has to be evacuated.  And a train is

          5  being pushed in through the New Jersey side.  So PD

          6  and Fire right now, along with OEM are standing by

          7  to assist Amtrak if they need it.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well that's my

          9  question.  This is a multi- agency, multi- state

         10  response.  So how  --  what's the chain of command,

         11  and how are you involved in that?

         12                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: For the incident,

         13  for the New York City side, it's a unified command,

         14  OEM is coordinating it, ensuring all the agencies

         15  are there.  Right now, the only agencies that are

         16  there right now are the Fire Department, Police

         17  Department, and OEM.  We will bring in any other

         18  agency as required.  But we'll wait for Amtrak to

         19  ask for it from us.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Amtrak is in

         21  charge of the scene?

         22                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Yes.  It's on

         23  their facility, right.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay.

         25                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: It's in their
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          2  tunnel, between New Jersey and New York.  And they

          3  are taking trains back to New Jersey right now.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: All right.  I'm

          5  sure we'll learn something from this also.  And I

          6  look forward to working with you on that.

          7  Commissioner, thank you for all the work you do on a

          8  daily basis.  And I look forward to hearing from you

          9  again.

         10                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Thank you very

         11  much.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you

         13  Commissioner.  We've been joined by Council Member

         14  Mike McMahon, from Staten Island. Welcome.  Along

         15  with Council Member Helen Sears, who we heard from

         16  before.

         17                 I will now hear from the Civilian

         18  Complaint Review Board.  Do you have prepared

         19  testimony?

         20                 COMMISSIONER STONE: Yes, I do.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Do we have it?

         22  If you could just wait a minute.

         23                 COMMISSIONER STONE: I'm Franklin

         24  Stone, I'm a Commissioner with the CCRB.

         25                 MS. FINKLE: Florence Finkle, the
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          2  Executive Director.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Proceed.

          4                 COMMISSIONER STONE: Chairman Vallone,

          5  Chairman Weprin, and Members of the Public Safety

          6  and Finance Committee. Good afternoon.  My  name is

          7  Franklin Stone, and I am a member of the Civilian

          8  Complaint Review Board.  I am honored to be

          9  testifying on behalf of the board, at the request of

         10  its Chair, Hector Gonzalez, who apologizes to the

         11  Committees for his unavoidable absence today.  With

         12  me is Florence Finkle, the CCRB's executive

         13  director, whose testimony will follow mine.

         14                 As Chair Gonzalez testified before

         15  the Public Safety Committee in March, the CCRB is

         16  struggling to handle responsibly a record number of

         17  complaint filings.  Although the board has increased

         18  its productivity, it now receives more complaints

         19  from the public than it can investigate, mediate,

         20  and close in a single year, even at current funding

         21  levels.  At a time when CCRB requires more

         22  resources, not fewer, in comparison to last year's

         23  adopted budget, the Administration's Fiscal Year

         24  2007 Executive Budget plan reduces the CCRB's

         25  authorized headcount 24 positions, and its funding
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          2  by more than $1 million.  As a result, we are here

          3  today to ask that the New York City Council add

          4  $1,344,640 to the CCRB's Fiscal Year 2007 budget.

          5                 New Yorker's demand for CCRB's

          6  services has grown consistently and substantial over

          7  the past four years.  The CCRB received 6,796

          8  complaints in 2005, and increase of 10 percent over

          9  2004, and of 46 percent since 2002.  While the

         10  agency does not typically speculate on the causes of

         11  fluctuations in the complaint rate, there are two

         12  aspects to the current trend worth noting. First,

         13  the increase has been driven by complaints made

         14  directly to the CCRB, in particular, by telephone

         15  complaints.  Since 2002, the number of CCRB

         16  complaints filed directly with the CCRB has

         17  increased by 128 percent, including 148 percent

         18  increase in telephone complaints, that is from 1,653

         19  in 2002, to 4,100 in 2005. Though the rise in

         20  complaint filings began before the implementation of

         21  the 311 system in March,2003, and has continued

         22  since the system reached maturity, and not all

         23  telephone complaints to the agency are transferred

         24  through 311, the system seems to have played some

         25  role in the increase.
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          2                 Second, complaints involving abuse of

          3  authority allegations such as question and/or

          4  stopped, have risen at rates higher than those

          5  containing other allegations.  During 2002, for

          6  example, the agency received 515 complaints in which

          7  a citizen alleged that he was improperly questioned

          8  and/or stopped, a figure that increased by 225

          9  percent to 1,674 in 2005.

         10                 Of course, it's important to

         11  differentiate between a rise in complaints and a

         12  rise in police misconduct.  More complaints could be

         13  a sign that New Yorkers are increasingly aware of,

         14  or have greater faith in the CCRB, or that the total

         15  number of police- civilian encounters has grown.

         16  Whatever the reason for the increase, however, it is

         17  beyond dispute that when the CCRB receives more

         18  complaints, staff must conduct more investigations,

         19  and submit more cases for closure.

         20                 In order to continue increasing its

         21  productivity, the board needs funding for staffing

         22  levels commensurate with the number of complaint

         23  filings.  Based upon an analysis of CCRB complaint

         24  data, there is no indication that complaint filings

         25  can be expected to decrease.  To the contrary, over
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          2  the course of 2005, and during the first four months

          3  of 2006, the complaint rate has continued to rise.

          4  In fact, the number of complaints filed from January

          5  through April of 2006 is 16 percent higher than the

          6  number filed during the same period in 2005.

          7                 Last year, thanks to you, the New

          8  York City Council, for the third year in a row, the

          9  adopted budget added $1 million to the CCRB's

         10  funding.  Your support has been essential to the

         11  board's operations and to the improvements in its

         12  productivity.  The CCRB closed 6,522 cases in 2005,

         13  approximately 700 more than in 2004, and 1,600 more

         14  than in 2003, productivity improvements of 12

         15  percent, and 34 percent respectively.  In addition,

         16  the board reduced the cost per case closure during

         17  each of the last four  -- past four fiscal years,

         18  from $2,275 in 2002, to $1,739 in 2005, a drop of 24

         19  percent.  Yet the CCRB could still not keep pace

         20  with complaint filings.  During 2005, the agency's

         21  average open docket stood at 3,518, compared to

         22  3,126 in 2004, and 2,056 in 2002.

         23                 While complaints have dramatically

         24  increased since 2002, the Administration's five-

         25  year budget plans during this same period have not
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          2  allocated any additional funds to the agency.  The

          3  current Executive Budget plan calls for a 10 percent

          4  overall reduction in CCRB funding, that would

          5  require cuts to the CCRB's investigative staff of 13

          6  percent.  The plan once again eliminates the 24

          7  positions the Council has added during the past

          8  three adopted budgets, reducing the agency's overall

          9  headcount from 184 to 160.  And decreasing the

         10  number of investigators the City can employ from 147

         11  to 123.  A headcount this low, would severely

         12  compromise the CCRB's ability to fulfill it's core

         13  mission, the timely and detailed investigation of

         14  complaints.

         15                 As Chair Gonzalez testified in March,

         16  last December, the CCRB submitted a request to the

         17  Office of Management and Budget, asking that

         18  $1,344,640 be added to the CCRB's Fiscal Year 2007

         19  and out- year budgets to fund an additional 27

         20  investigators, and a ninth investigative team.

         21  Chair Gonzalez had hoped that the CCRB would be able

         22  to sit out what Council Member Weprin has referred

         23  to as the "budget dance", the cutting by the

         24  Administration of programs that everyone fully

         25  intends the Council to restore.  However, the agency
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          2  did not succeed in persuading the OMB  to add this

          3  funding to five- year Fiscal Year 2007 budget plan.While

          4  we believe that relying on the New York City Council

          5  to fund basic operational needs on a year- to- year

          6  basis in the adopted budget is not efficient, we

          7  have no choice at this point, but to appear here,

          8  corsage, as it were, in hand.

          9                 I want to thank you again for

         10  understanding the importance of an effective CCRB,

         11  and for your continued support in the years since

         12  you established this agency.  Provided with

         13  sufficient resources, the CCRB has demonstrated it

         14  can provide efficiency and quality services to your

         15  constituents.  Having an effective CCRB not only

         16  improves the quality of policing, but also enhances

         17  the public trust in the vast majority of officers

         18  who do their jobs effectively and honorably.

         19                 I will answer any questions you have

         20  now, or after Ms. Finkle's testimony.  Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Go ahead Ms.

         22  Finkle.

         23                 MS. FINKLE: Chairman Vallone,

         24  Chairman Weprin, and Members of the Public Safety

         25  and Finance Committees.  I'm Florence Finkle, and
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          2  I'm the Executive Director of the Civilian Complaint

          3  Review Board.

          4                 My testimony will focus on three

          5  issues.  The CCRB's 2005 performance; the projected

          6  impact the Executive Budget plan will have on its

          7  performance; and third, the details of how we intend

          8  to use the $1.3 million we're requesting you add to

          9  the agency's Fiscal Year '07 adopted budget.

         10                 As Mr.. Stone testified, in 2005, the

         11  CCRB closed a total of 6,522 cases, a 12 percent

         12  increase over the 5,800 it closed in 2004, and a 34

         13  percent increase over 4,883 it closed in 2002.  The

         14  CCRB's productivity gains resulted from two primary

         15  factors.  An increasingly high investigator

         16  headcount; and the institution of efficiency measure

         17  to handle the increase in complaints.

         18                 The agency has increased its

         19  investigator headcount through two means.

         20  Concentrating resources in the Investigations

         21  Division; and, with the cooperation of the Office of

         22  Management and Budget, acting quickly to fill open

         23  investigator lines.  In 2000, 69 percent of the

         24  agency's employees worked in the Investigations

         25  Division.  Over the past six years, the agency has
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          2  streamlined its non- investigative operations, and

          3  reallocated positions to the Investigations

          4  Division, as non- investigative employees left the

          5  agency.  In 2005, 80 percent of agency employees

          6  worked in the Investigations Division.  While the

          7  agency's average headcount rose only 10 percent from

          8  2000 to 2005, from 153 to 179, the average number of

          9  investigators grew by 28 percent, from 112 to 143.

         10                 Second, the agency moved quickly to

         11  replace investigators as attrition occurred.  Since

         12  Fiscal Year '05, the Office of Management and Budget

         13  has expeditiously approved the CCRB's request to

         14  hire investigators, permitting the CCRB to maintain

         15  an overall headcount far higher than that permitted

         16  by out- year budgets.  In 2005, the CCRB was able to

         17  maintain an average investigator headcount of 143,

         18  the highest in its history. With more investigators,

         19  average individual case loads decreased during 2005

         20  to a three- year low of 19 cases, even as complaint

         21  filings increased.  With fewer cases on their

         22  individual dockets, investigators were able to spend

         23  more time on each case, and therefore close more

         24  cases in a single year.  From 2003 through 2005, the

         25  average number of investigators on staff rose from
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          2  121 to 133, to 143.  At the same time, the average

          3  number of cases each investigator submitted to the

          4  board for closure grew from 40 to 44, to 47, a

          5  productivity increase of 18 percent in two years.

          6                 With the funding the Council provided

          7  for the CCRB in adopted budgets, OMB's cooperation,

          8  and an aggressive strategy to maximize the

          9  percentage of our employees investigating cases, the

         10  CCRB has been able to employ more investigators,

         11  who, as a result, have become more productive

         12  investigators.

         13                 The agency has also taken steps to

         14  improve the efficiency of investigations themselves,

         15  by concentrating investigative efforts on civilians

         16  who demonstrate a willingness to pursue their

         17  complaint.  While investigators continue to take the

         18  required number of steps to locate and gain the

         19  cooperation of complainants and alleged victims

         20  before recommending to the board that a case be

         21  closed without conducting a full investigation,

         22  prolonged and extra attempts to interview these

         23  civilians have been curtailed.  For example,

         24  investigators no longer will make time consuming

         25  field trips simply to interview complainants and
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          2  alleged victims who have not expressed an interest

          3  in following up on their complaints.

          4                 The agency has also tried to expand

          5  its limited resources on cases in which the facts

          6  and legal issues are not clear cut.  If a civilian

          7  provides in his or her own statement, information

          8  that would exonerate an officer, for instance, it

          9  may not be necessary to interview other witnesses

         10  and officers. However, in cases in which it appears

         11  an officer committed misconduct, and in cases in

         12  which it is clear   --  unclear what happened,

         13  investigators will pursue all investigative leads.

         14  By focusing on cases that require the most extensive

         15  investigation, the agency has decreased the

         16  resources devoted to cases where factual and legal

         17  issues are more easily resolved.

         18                 Despite significantly improving its

         19  productivity, the CCRB has been unable to close as

         20  many cases as it has received. From January 1, 2005

         21  to December 31, 2005, the agency's docket rose from

         22  about 3,200 cases to about 3,500 cases.  The average

         23  time it took the agency to close investigations

         24  increased by two weeks, from 280 to 294 days.

         25                 While the number of complaints the
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          2  agency received did not rise as steeply in 2005 as

          3  it had in 2004, the combined increases over the last

          4  several years have been substantial.  And complaints

          5  are still rising.

          6                 Although it's undisputed that

          7  complaints have risen 47 percent in just three

          8  years, the Executive Budget would require the CCRB

          9  to reduce its investigative staffing by 24

         10  positions. With an investigative headcount of

         11  approximately 123 investigators, The CCRB projects

         12  that the average caseload per investigator will

         13  increase from 19 in 2005 to 28 in 2006, and 37 in

         14  2007.  Increases of 47 and 95 percent respectively.

         15  As a result, the agency's monthly case load will

         16  rise from an average of about 3,500 in 2005 to about

         17  4,000 by 2007, and increase of 15 percent.

         18                 With only 123 investigators on staff,

         19  the Investigations Division monthly docket, which

         20  doesn't include cases pending board closure or

         21  Mediation Unit cases, will increase at an average

         22  rate of more than 130 cases per month.  And 123 CCRB

         23  investigators will not be enough to prevent case

         24  completion times from rising to unreasonable levels.

         25    The time it takes to complete full investigations
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          2  will increase from nine and a half months in 2005,

          3  to 361 days in 2006, and 401 days, or 13 months in

          4  2007.

          5                 The average age of substantiated

          6  cases, which is by date of occurrence, will rise to

          7  390 days, and 432 days in 2006 and 2007.  The

          8  Department has publicly stated that it needs at

          9  least one month to evaluate and review cases the

         10  board substantiates and refers.  And the Department

         11  cannot bring charges against, or discipline an

         12  officer more than 18 months after the date of

         13  incident.  Should an average substantiated

         14  investigation take 432 days, in far too many cases,

         15  the Department will lack time to bring charges or

         16  institute discipline before the statute of

         17  limitations lapses.  In fact, the number of cases in

         18  which the statute of limitations will expire before

         19  the board can even forward the case the Department

         20  will increase.

         21                 In 2002, the board substantiated only

         22  four cases more than 18 months or older, as measured

         23  from the date of occurrence.  In 2003 and 2004, that

         24  number rose to 11 and 10 cases respectively.  We

         25  project that the number of cases will rise from
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          2  eight in 2005 to 13 in 2006, and 24 in 2007.  Thus

          3  preventing the Department from disciplining officers

          4  who have committed misconduct.

          5                 In order to cope with the increased

          6  work load, on December 29, 2005, the board submitted

          7  a request to the Office of Management and Budget for

          8  additional resources.  The CCRB requested a total of

          9  approximately $1.2 million in both PS and OTPS funds

         10  to add 27 investigative positions to its Fiscal Year

         11   '07 and out- year budgets.  And $131,000 to fund

         12  the reestablishment of a ninth investigative team,

         13  for a total of approximately $1.34 million.  We are

         14  now compelled to ask that you consider adding this

         15  funding to our Fiscal Year 2007 adopted budget.

         16                 Our projections show that with 150

         17  investigators, and in the absence of overtime

         18  spending, the agency will be essentially   --  will

         19  be able to essentially maintain the status quo,

         20  reducing its docket by approximately ten cases per

         21  month.

         22                 Reestablishing a ninth investigative

         23  team, disbanded in March 2003, due to budget cuts,

         24  is essential to ensure that the three supervisors of

         25  each investigative team are able to appropriately
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          2  hire, train, evaluate and oversee their staffs.

          3  From 2002 through 2005, the size of an investigative

          4  team's average docket increased by 51 percent, and

          5  the number of line investigators on each team

          6  increased by 25 percent.  As a result, the agency

          7  has struggled to comply with its own internal case

          8  review requirements and provide adequate supervision

          9  with investigative staff.

         10                 The CCRB is dedicated to

         11  investigating every complaint we receive.  But we're

         12  receiving more complaints now than we have in years.

         13    And in order to do our job properly, we simply

         14  need more resources.  It gives us no joy to come

         15  year after year t the City Council and request

         16  funding for the adopted budget, in order to support

         17  our basic operations.  But our current circumstances

         18  give us no other choice than to rely upon you.

         19                 Thank you for your attention, and Mr.

         20  Stone and I welcome any questions you have.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I share your

         22  frustration.  I'm tired of dancing myself.  You

         23  know, all I can say is that your restoration is on

         24  our preliminary list, as it was in our response to

         25  the Mayor's Preliminary Budget, with all the City
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          2  Council restorations.  And I know your agency in

          3  particular is one that the City Council has had a

          4  long history of supporting, and being involved in

          5  the creation, and at times, I guess, it's been a

          6  rocky relationship with the Administration over your

          7  agency, or the Police Department.  But certainly, I

          8  think it's safe to say that you can count on

          9  significant support in this budget process from the

         10  Council.  And of course, obviously, it's very hard

         11  to plan, as you pointed out, with investigators,

         12  with staff.

         13                 Can you give us an update on whether

         14  you lost any staff due to the uncertainty of the

         15  funding?  Or is it basically everybody just assumes

         16  that the Council is going to come and you know,

         17  Knight in Shining Armor and rescue you like some of

         18  the other agencies?

         19                 COMMISSIONER STONE: I don't think

         20  that we've lost any staff to the fact that this

         21  year's adopted budget is so much higher than the

         22  out- year budget.  And I would never take for

         23  granted  --  we appreciate your support over the

         24  last several years.  But we would never take for

         25  granted that a restoration is an automatic.  In
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          2  fact, we're actually asking for more money than the

          3  restoration, than the normal restoration.  Mainly

          4  because if we get simply the $1 million in the

          5  adopted budget, we're still unable to reform our

          6  ninth investigative team.  That additional money in

          7  part, would fund more than just 24 investigators, it

          8  would provide for 27.  And it would allow us to hire

          9  the supervisors for a ninth investigative team.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  I

         11  appreciate that.  I'm going to turn it over to Chair

         12  Vallone.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you.

         14  Councilman Weprin is correct.  I don't think anyone

         15  is as tired of dancing as he is. No one dances over

         16  here on the City Council's side more than he does.

         17  Having to sit through every one of these hearings

         18  from morning through evening.  And I, you know,

         19  associate myself with his statements, as it relates

         20  to funding for your agency.

         21                 Your testimony was comprehensive, and

         22  so just about everything regarding the increase in

         23  complaints, and your ability to handle that.

         24  Obviously, complaints have been going up since what,

         25  2002 I believe?  Do you envision that this is
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          2  something that's going to continue to happen?  Do

          3  you envision dropoffs? Because I know you were

          4  unclear about the reason for the rising complaints,

          5  but how do you see the future regarding that?

          6                 MS. FINKLE: Actually, complaints have

          7  been increasing even since 2001, despite the tragedy

          8  of 9- 11, our complaints that year were up just a

          9  little bit over 2000.  And the evidence  --  the

         10  complaints this year, in 2006 are up more than 10

         11  percent over what we received in 2005, as Mr. Stone

         12  testified.  So all the evidence indicates that

         13  complaints are going to continue to increase.  We

         14  see no reason to believe that they're going to drop.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And despite

         16  that, the Executive Budget would eliminate 24

         17  positions, and drop you down from 184 to 160.

         18                 As David said, we'll do what we can.

         19  I'm going to turn it back to Council Member Weprin.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes, actually,

         21  one more question.  What's been the nature of the

         22  increases or decreases, or you know, level off of

         23  311 referrals?  I mean, how much of your complaints

         24  come from 311 versus other sources?  And has that

         25  gone up or down in recent history?
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          2                 MS. FINKLE: The 311 reports that we

          3  get on a monthly basis indicate that the number of

          4  referrals we're getting from them are continuing to

          5  increase.  We have attempted to track the number of

          6  complaints that fall within our jurisdiction, that

          7  stem directly from 311 complaints.  And I'm not sure

          8  that we have yet that reliable data.  What is clear,

          9  as Mr. Stone testified, is that complaints that are

         10  made by telephone, directly to us  --  and those

         11  include 311 calls  --  have dramatically increased.

         12  And that's the primary  --  that's what's been

         13  driving the complaint increase.  It has  --

         14  certainly Internet complaints have increased, but

         15  the gross number of complaints we get through e-

         16  mail is not that high.  The vast majority of

         17  complaints that we get are made by telephone, and

         18  that's what's been driving the increase.  In fact,

         19  89 percent of the complaints that we got last year

         20  were made by telephone.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: So you don't have

         22  a separate tracking of which ones were by telephone

         23  direct, and which ones were by 311 referrals?

         24                 MS. FINKLE: We, about a year and a

         25  half ago, started to try to track that with our  --
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          2  we altered our complaint tracking system in order to

          3  capture whether the call was made through 311.  But

          4  sometimes people don't have   --  in the off hours,

          5  we have a voicemail system that captures telephone

          6  complaints.  And it's not always clear when people

          7  are transferred directly by 311, or whether they

          8  aren't.  We can only ask that question of a caller

          9  when we get them live.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: What percentage

         11  of your callers are live versus recorded on tape

         12  after hours?

         13                 MS. FINKLE: I don't have that

         14  information with me. But if you need it, I can give

         15  it to you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes, if you could

         17  locate it, and just get it to us, that would be

         18  helpful.

         19                 I believe Council Member Sears has a

         20  question.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Yes, thank you

         22  Mr. Chair.

         23                 In 2005, you had closed a total of

         24  6,522 cases.  And earlier, I think one of you said

         25  that it was hard to determine why there were the
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          2  increases in the complaints, either due to the

          3  police increase of offenses, or if they're just

          4  using the system more than the civilians had done

          5  before.  When you close a case, would that not

          6  indicate to some degree, what the offense was, so

          7  that it would give you some idea of just the nature

          8  of the cases, and whether you have an increase in

          9  offense A, or offense B?

         10                 MS. FINKLE: Well, one thing we do

         11  know, and I think Mr. Stone testified about this, is

         12  that the proportion of complaints that we're getting

         13  that involve abuse of authority allegations, like

         14  stop and/or question, have been rising.  And force

         15  complaints have dropped off slightly.  So there has

         16  been significant increase in the proportion of our

         17  complaints that involve improper searches and

         18  seizures.  Which are the majority of allegations

         19  that fall within the abuse of authority category.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: And tell me,

         21  how are those complaints resolved?  After you do an

         22  investigation, or you close it?  What are the end

         23  results?  What are your conclusions?

         24                 MS. FINKLE: Well, we have a variety

         25  of ways to close a case.  We can close a certain
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          2  percentage of our cases after an investigation.

          3  More than 50 percent of our cases, though, the

          4  complainant and alleged victim does not follow

          5  through on their complaint, and then in a small

          6  percentage of the cases, we mediate the complaint,

          7  or we close the complaint through our mediation

          8  program, which we're trying to grow.

          9                 The rate at which  --  of the full

         10  investigations we closed in 2005, we substantiated

         11  about 10 percent, which is just a little bit lower

         12  than the five- year average of 12 percent.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Now when you go

         14  to mediation, and the case is closed through

         15  mediation, how  --  what are the end results of

         16  mediation?  Is there a compensatory thing?  Or is it

         17  strictly  --  I'm not quite certain what the end

         18  result really means.

         19                 MS. FINKLE: The end result of a

         20  successful mediation is that the parties at the

         21  table have agreed that the issues raised by their

         22  complaint have been resolved.  And it's unlike civil

         23  litigation that you might be more familiar with,

         24  where usually some sort of compensatory or monetary

         25  component is a part of the mediation settlement.
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          2  Here, we have a program where the board  -- we hire

          3  outside trained, experienced mediators, usually our

          4  mediations have at least  --  well, we try to co-

          5  mediate.  We have two mediators.  The complainant

          6  and the subject officer or officers have to

          7  voluntarily agree to mediate.  The Department has

          8  been very supportive of this program.  And the

          9  mediations typically last about an hour.  The

         10  complainant typically is asked to describe what

         11  happened to him or her, and the officer responds,

         12  and then a dialogue ensues.  And the mediators are

         13  empowered to meet individually with the parties if

         14  they think that will help the mediation progress.

         15                 But what's interesting about the

         16  mediations, is that a lot of these complaints stem

         17  from misunderstandings between the civilian and the

         18  officer.  The civilian may not possess all the

         19  information that the officer has about  --  and may

         20  not understand the authority that the officer has.

         21  And the officer may not understand what impact his

         22  or her conduct had on the civilian.  And all that

         23  can get discussed in these mediations.  Mediations

         24  that actually get to the table, we're successful

         25  about more than 95 percent of the time.  So the
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          2  parties typically sign a resolution agreement, and

          3  they decide that that discussion has resolved the

          4  issues for them.  It's a very, very positive

          5  process.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: In the academy

          7  training, does your agency have a session or

          8  whatever that may be?  In part of the training of

          9  the new officers?  Or the cadets?

         10                 MS. FINKLE: We used to be routinely

         11  asked to speak at the academy training, but that has

         12  not been the case for several years.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Was it just

         14  stopped arbitrarily?  Or was there a specific reason

         15  for that?

         16                 MS. FINKLE: I do not know.  I don't

         17  know.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: You know, Mr.

         19  Chairman, you might want to look at why that has

         20  stopped from the Police Academy. To have  --  I

         21  mean, I'm a graduate of the Civilian Police Academy,

         22  and I know what basically we had to go through.  And

         23  the volumes of stuff.  And it would seem that that

         24  would be one agency, one group, that would have a

         25  session, a class, that would absolutely talk about
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          2  your increases, what they are, how you resolve them.

          3    And develop a sensitivity awareness to the young

          4  officers.  If it stopped arbitrarily like that, it

          5  seems like it's time to reintroduce it.  Since

          6  there's such an increase in   --  caused either by

          7  misunderstanding  --  and certainly police

          8  auxiliaries can do a lot when they give reports, to

          9  talk about this at our precincts.

         10                 Thank you very much.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you Council

         12  Member.  Chair Vallone, do you have any questions?

         13                 Okay.  Thank you very much.  We've

         14  now going to recess the Committee hearing until

         15  approximately two o'clock, when we're going to hear

         16  from the five District Attorneys, and the Special

         17  Prosecutor.  We're accommodating the District

         18  Attorney's schedule since a couple of them could not

         19  make it until two o'clock. So we were prepared to

         20  proceed, but in the interest of accommodating the

         21  District Attorneys, we're going to recess until two

         22  o'clock.

         23                 A recess was taken.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Good afternoon.

         25  And welcome to the continued Finance Budget hearing,
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          2  joint with the Public Safety Committee today.  We

          3  are about to hear from our five District Attorney's

          4  as well as our Special Prosecutor.  What we usually

          5  do, is we allow you know, all the DAs to choose

          6  among themselves who's going to go first, so we

          7  don't have to make choices.  I usually defer to the

          8  senior DA, Mr. Morgenthau, but you know, I'll leave

          9  it up to them first.  We'll have a number of members

         10  joining us.  We have Council Member Lou Fidler, from

         11  Brooklyn, who has been a strong advocate for the DAs

         12  for many years, and many budget seasons.

         13                 And of course, I'm David Weprin,

         14  Chair of the Finance Committee.  Also a strong

         15  advocate for the District Attorneys.  But the real

         16  champion is right next to me, and that's Chair Peter

         17  Vallone, Jr., who has argued in budget negotiations

         18  year after year for extra money for the District

         19  Attorneys.  And we have our Minority Leader, another

         20  strong advocate for the District Attorneys, Jim

         21  Oddo, from Staten Island.

         22                 As you know, we've recommended

         23  significant increases in the budget of the District

         24  Attorneys in our response to the Mayor's Preliminary

         25  Budget.  The feedback we've gotten from the other

                                                            153

          1  FINANCE AND PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  side, at this point, is not negative, and we hope to

          3  continue as we go through budget negotiations and

          4  expect to see significant increases in your budgets.

          5    And of course, obviously, you're such and

          6  important part of the Criminal Justice system, that

          7  in the past, has often been overlooked.  And we're

          8  very happy that we seem to be on the same page, and

          9  look forward to working with you.

         10                 Speaker Christine Quinn, as you know,

         11  made restoration and increases of money to the

         12  budget.  One of her top priorities, when she did her

         13  speech, her major speech a couple of months ago, in

         14  response to the Mayor's budget, and we expect her to

         15  be joining us shortly.  She's in another meeting but

         16  she's going to be coming up because she wanted to

         17  highlight how important District Attorneys and their

         18  budget,  --  and the Special Prosecutors, well, I

         19  won't leave you out, the Special Prosecutor  --  to

         20  the workings of the City Council, and the workings

         21  of the City, and we expect when she comes up, we'll

         22  allow her to make a statement.

         23                 Chair Vallone.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you.  It

         25  was not too long ago that I made my position clear,
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          2  at the same hearing regarding you know, my respect

          3  for the jobs that you do, and my concern for the

          4  almost impossible situation you're in.  So I'll

          5  forego that today in the interest of time.

          6                 I do want to mention though, that

          7  it's my extreme pleasure to be sitting up here, not

          8  only with Chair Weprin, but with two other of the

          9  most vocal advocates for District Attorney's

         10  positions down here at the City Council.  So thank

         11  you all for being here, and we look forward to your

         12  testimony.

         13                 You've got to push that button in.

         14  All right.

         15                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY MORGENTHAU: In the

         16  next meeting, he may be the senior DA.  We're

         17  grateful to the Council for understanding our

         18  problem, understanding the importance of the City

         19  that the District Attorney's Offices be properly

         20  prosecuted, properly funded.  And the move to

         21  continue the grant for partial restoration of our

         22  budget is very important and the recommendation by

         23  the Speaker that $40 million in cuts for the City

         24  Prosecutors be fully restored over the next four

         25  years.  We've never had a restoration of the
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          2  allowances.  It was a little over $7 million cuts

          3  made in 2003, so it's very important that those cuts

          4  be restored.  The Mayor, in his State of the City

          5  Address said, "Putting New York on the road to long-

          6  term success rests on our ability to continue making

          7  the safest big city in America even safer.  Public

          8  safety is the foundation of our City's prosperity."

          9  Well, we endorse that, we agree with that.  And we

         10  hope that the City Council will persuade the Mayor

         11  that it's important to support the DA's budget, and

         12  give us the necessary resources to be a crucial part

         13  of making the City the safest in the country.

         14                 One area that we're particularly

         15  concerned about, of course, child abuse  --  and I

         16  know the Speaker is concerned about that  --  We're

         17  also interested about the gun prosecution and we've

         18  asked for money for that.  And that's very

         19  important.  It's one thing to go around and buy guns

         20  in Atlanta, but it's equally important to prosecute

         21  the guns once they reach New York.  And we think

         22  additional resources are needed to accomplish that.

         23                 We also would urge you to see that we

         24  get parity with the Corporation Counsel.  We think

         25  it's very important that the Corporation Counsel be
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          2  properly funded.  But our needs for retaining people

          3  are just as crucial, and vital as the Corporation

          4  Counsel.  So while we applaud the money for the

          5  Corporation Counsel, we say we need that money just

          6  as badly, if we're going to do the job that

          7  everybody expects us to do.

          8                 So we thank you, the leadership of

          9  Councilman Weprin, Councilman Vallone, Councilman

         10  Oddo, the Minority Leader, Councilman Fidler.  We

         11  appreciate your interest and support.

         12                 And I'll turn it over now to  --

         13  who's next?  Rob Johnson.

         14                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY JOHNSON: Good

         15  afternoon.  I want to thank both Chairs, and the

         16  other Council Members for your continued support,

         17  just like my colleague.  And I just also want to

         18  briefly touch on some of our concerns, and highlight

         19  to you some of our successes.

         20                 Just last week, in Bronx County,

         21  Pfizer opened up a new state- of- the- art plant

         22  research laboratory.  Also, in recent times, the

         23  Fulton Fish Market  --  formerly known as the Fulton

         24  Fish Market  --  has relocated to the Bronx.  The

         25  Yankees, as you know, have announced an $800 million
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          2  plan to build a new Yankee Stadium as we speak.

          3  There is a Metrotech office building on Hutchinson

          4  River Parkway, that is almost 100 percent occupancy,

          5  and in fact, there are plans to build two towers to

          6  adjoin Metrotech. And in addition to that, in Bronx

          7  Park, where the Botanical Gardens and the Bronx Zoo

          8  are housed, the Bronx River flows, and herring have

          9  been introduced to the Bronx River for the first

         10  time in over 300 years.

         11                 So in the words of the old song, The

         12  Bronx is Up. You know, they say the Battery is down,

         13  but I think they're talking geography in the song.

         14  Here, we're talking about literally, the Bronx is

         15  up.  And I think it's incumbent upon all of us to

         16  maintain that.  And the most important thing, or

         17  equally important to all these businesses that are

         18  investing in our community, and I always say that

         19  people don't make investments like this unless they

         20  feel safe, and they feel their investment is going

         21  to be protected.  But equally important is

         22  protecting the citizens who are going to work in

         23  these locations, and who live in our county.

         24                 And under some very, very trying

         25  times, we still have been extremely successful in
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          2  doing that.  And I've reported time and time again

          3  about the reductions in violent crimes since 1990.

          4  From 1990 to 2005, 71 percent reduction.  Homicides

          5  down 80 percent; grand larceny auto, down 82

          6  percent; burglaries down 79 percent.  This is a

          7  great deal of success.  But at the same time, we

          8  have to be mindful of the fact that one of the ways

          9  that's occurring is through increased arrests that,

         10  over the last two to five years, as we stand this

         11  far, the ComStat numbers this week, are up, in terms

         12  of shooting incidents two years ago, and shooting

         13  incidents five years ago.

         14                 And in the Bronx, although we have

         15  68.6 percent of the population, even with the

         16  drastic reductions, we still have 23 percent of the

         17  homicides the City has seen, and 22 percent of the

         18  shooting incidents.  These remain causes for

         19  concern.

         20                 The other cause for concern, like my

         21  colleague, Bob Morgenthau said, is child abuse.  And

         22  I think in these areas, it's been highlighted.  You

         23  know, we've spoken about the incidents involving

         24  Nixzmary Brown and Quaishawn Browne, and addition to

         25  the tragedy that those incidents represent, they
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          2  have also represented additional burdens, in that

          3  the good news is that whatever abuse is occurring,

          4  people are reporting more frequently, so that we've

          5  seen the numbers of reports to ACS go up.  In

          6  January of this year, from 1,400 last January, to

          7  2,200 this January.  So that while that's good news

          8  that people are talking about it, and so one of the

          9  only ways to combat it is to have people come

         10  forward about it, it means an additional burden on

         11  our offices.

         12                 Similarly, we've seen dramatic

         13  occurrences with respect to guns in the Bronx in the

         14  last month or so.  We've seen 18- year old Samantha

         15  Guzman innocently gunned down.  We've seen two-year

         16  old David Pluchecko (phonetic) Jr. die at the hands

         17  of gunfire.

         18                 So one of the things I would like to

         19  do, in addition to requesting money, is to applaud

         20  the Mayor for taking this message on the road, and

         21  trying to put some additional heat on the states

         22  which are sources of these illegal guns ending up on

         23  the streets of New York City.  And I've been

         24  encouraging the citizens in my county to join him in

         25  that mission.  Because it is an important one.
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          2                 At the same time, as Mr. Morgenthau

          3  has indicated, the prosecution here is important.

          4  And I'm just going to highlight two other requests

          5  that we made.  One of them is regarding gun

          6  prosection.  We've asked for additional Assistant

          7  DAs and investigators in this area.  And in the area

          8  of child abuse.  We've asked for a half a million

          9  dollars plus, in each of these areas, which I think

         10  is more than reasonable, and absolutely necessary.

         11  We have already a Child Abuse Response Unit that has

         12  been seeing 2,000 reports to our office annually

         13  from ACS, and that's only going to go up, I believe,

         14  due to the fact of these highlighted incidents.

         15                 So in these two areas, and in other

         16  areas  --  you know, I think Mr. Morgenthau

         17  mentioned, but if he didn't I will  -- our baseline

         18  budgets have suffered since Fiscal Year 2002, and

         19  it's never been restored.  Even the portion that's

         20  been restored due to through the revenue plan is not

         21  something that we can count on from year to year,

         22  because it's been done annually.

         23                 So these are major, major concerns,

         24  and coupled with the fact that the Independent

         25  Budget Office yesterday indicates that there may be

                                                            161

          1  FINANCE AND PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  an additional $100 million of revenue available to

          3  the City, I believe this is the time to deal with

          4  this most important issue for our citizens.  This is

          5    --  the time is right. The money is there.  The

          6  threat is real to each and every one of us.  And I'd

          7  like to see that you know  --  I'd like to reiterate

          8  that the Bronx is Up, but I'd like to encourage all

          9  of us to do what we can to keep it up.  Thank you

         10  very much.

         11                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY HYNES: Chairman

         12  Weprin and Chairman Vallone, with me today is my

         13  Chief Assistant, Amy Feinstein and my Counsel, Lance

         14  Ogeest (phonetic) in case any questions are needed

         15  answered by them.  As you'll hear from us, we're

         16  very grateful for the constant support we've had

         17  from the Members of the Council.  In good times and

         18  bad times, you've been there for us.  We're very,

         19  very grateful for the fact that the new Speaker,

         20  Chris Quinn has been aggressively in our side.  And

         21  I know that each individual Member here, in addition

         22  to Chairman Weprin and Chairman Vallone, and Council

         23  Member Koppell and Council Member Fidler, and

         24  Council Member Oddo have been supporting us.

         25                 You know, the plain fact is, the
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          2  Police Department has done a terrific job.  The

          3  communities in various parts of our City have done a

          4  great job working with the Police.  But there's

          5  little doubt that were it not for the component that

          6  we supply, we would not have levels of public safety

          7  that we have not seen since the '60s.  Certainly, in

          8  my county, and I think for the other counties as

          9  well.

         10                 The problem we're dealing with is and

         11  incredible increase in arrests.  The Citywide arrest

         12  increase is two percent. That means, in Kings

         13  County, that's an increase of 11.9 percent. Which

         14  translates into 8,000 more arrests.  And we have to

         15  process every one of those through our Early Case

         16  Assessment Bureau.  One of the ways we've dealt with

         17  that is to put an ad in the Law Journal for

         18  volunteer attorneys.  And it's been responded to.

         19  We've had at any one time as many as a dozen

         20  volunteers.  And they come on hoping that as fiscal

         21  levels get better, we can then translate them into

         22  full paid lines as we have.

         23                 Another disturbing problem this year,

         24  is that there's a four- month increase of 2.3

         25  percent in the City of arrests, that is 4.1 percent
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          2  in Brooklyn.  That's another thousand more cases we

          3  have to deal with.

          4                 And finally, last year, in April of

          5  2005, there were about 9,000 cases pending in the

          6  Criminal Court.  Today, it's almost 13,000 cases.

          7  That's an increase of over 26 percent.  And it's

          8  again, all about the problems of hiring.  And then

          9  finally, you know, in Nixzmary Brown, that tragedy

         10  was in my county, the result of the way that child

         11  was brutalized and killed, there's been a 46 percent

         12  increase in child abuse reports.  And all of that

         13  has to be absorbed by our current staff.  So

         14  clearly, what you've done here in helping us get

         15  some of the money back will allow us to increase our

         16  staff.

         17                 But there's another issue, and both

         18  DA Morgenthau and DA Johnson has touched on it, and

         19  that's retention.  The people who are at risk in our

         20  staff are essentially the fourth, fifth, and sixth

         21  year people.  Those are the people who are actively

         22  recruited by medical malpractice firms.  And the

         23  numbers are astounding.  I mean, if I pay $50- or

         24  $60,000, these kids are being offered $80-, $90-,

         25  $100,000.  I can't keep them.  And yet, I believe,
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          2  if we had sufficient resources to increase the level

          3  to close to $70,000 those kids would turn down these

          4  medical malpractice jobs.

          5                 So you know, I thank you for all of

          6  the help you've given us in the past, and I ask you

          7  to just continue to fight for us, and to convince

          8  the Mayor that of all of the good he's done in

          9  restoring our budget, there's more he can do.

         10  Again, thank you very much.

         11                 Young DA Brown is with us.

         12                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY BROWN: I said at

         13  the beginning that we ought to proceed by size

         14  place.  I was out- voted four to one.  I provided

         15  each of you with a booklet, as I do each year at

         16  this time, which sets for our accomplishments as an

         17  office during the past year, in laying out in some

         18  detail our fiscal situation, particularly with

         19  respect to the budget cuts that all of us have

         20  suffered over the last four and a half years.  And

         21  the impact that those cuts have had on the day- to-

         22  day operation of our offices.

         23                 Let me say at the outset that all of

         24  us are grateful to the Speaker Quinn, and to each of

         25  you for your commitment to work toward full
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          2  restoration of those budget cuts.  Those cuts

          3  amounted to almost 20 percent of our budgets over

          4  the course of the last four and a half years.  And

          5  they've seriously impacted upon our ability to carry

          6  out our statutory and our Constitutional

          7  responsibilities.

          8                 I don't know, in all candor, that I

          9  can say it any better than the Speaker herself has

         10  said it, but prosecutors are integral parts of our

         11  criminal justice system.  It makes little sense to

         12  add funding to enable the police to hire more

         13  officers, make more arrests, without ensuring that

         14  we, as prosecutors can process those arrests in a

         15  timely and efficient manner.  But beyond that, the

         16  reductions in our budgets are penny wise and pound

         17  foolish.  Cuts in our budgets mean increased case

         18  processing time, which translates into greater

         19  police and correction court costs. Whatever is cut

         20  from our budget is, in the final analysis, costs the

         21  City in the long run, a great deal more than the

         22  City saves.              And of course, it impacts

         23  as well, upon our ability to handle our long- term

         24  investigations into areas such as mid to upper-

         25  level drug trafficking and organized crime, and auto
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          2  theft, and insurance fraud and so many other kinds

          3  of criminal activity.

          4                 And similarly, as has been touched

          5  upon, if additional resources are being provided to

          6  enhance the City's response to cases involving the

          7  physical and sexual abuse of children, as well they

          8  should be, it's imperative, that we, as prosecutors,

          9  be in a position to aggressively investigate and

         10  prosecute those cases.

         11                 Last year, there were approximately

         12  11,000 cases of child abuse, maltreatment, neglect,

         13  reported to the State's central registry in Albany,

         14  from Queens County alone.  Approximately 2,268 of

         15  those cases were referred to us to investigate as

         16  possible criminality.  And clearly, we need the

         17  resources to carry out that responsibility.

         18                 So has been said by my colleagues,

         19  we're hopeful that over the course of the next five

         20  weeks or so, as you negotiate the City's Fiscal '07

         21  budget with the Mayor, that you'll be able to

         22  provide us with some level of relief.  In the

         23  meanwhile, we all look forward to working closely

         24  with each of you and the Speaker and your other

         25  colleagues as well, in continuing to keep the City
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          2  safe, and improving the quality of the lives of

          3  everyone who lives and works here.  Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.  And

          5  before you begin DA Donovan, I'd just like to

          6  recognize that we've been joined by a delegation

          7  from China, led by Meg Chin Zing (phonetic).  Deputy

          8  Director General, in the back of the chambers now.

          9  This is joint meeting of the Public Safety Committee

         10  and the Finance Committee. The gentlemen sitting to

         11  our right are the five  --  well, gentlemen and one

         12  lady  --  are the five District Attorneys and the

         13  Special Prosecutor here in New York City who are in

         14  charge of keeping us safe, and doing an excellent

         15  job, despite not having the resources that they

         16  need, and that's pretty much the topic of this

         17  hearing.  But we welcome you here, and if you have

         18  any questions, feel free to come up and ask.  Thank

         19  you.  Sorry Dan.  Please continue.

         20                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY DONOVAN: Thank you

         21  Mr. Chairman. I'd like to thank you and the

         22  Committee, both Committees, for your unwavering

         23  support.  This is my sixty appearance before you.

         24  And I have almost nothing to add from the other six

         25  times I've been here.  And you know our plight.
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          2                 Besides retention, we have difficulty

          3  recruiting. First year lawyers in firms this year

          4  are starting at $145,000. The six of us have tried

          5  to keep that from our staff.  But it's getting more

          6  and more difficult every time the Law Journal

          7  publicizes it.  You know, the Police Department

          8  recently realized the difficulty they're having in

          9  recruiting too, with a starting salary of $25,000.

         10  And it's been proposed that that starting salary be

         11  raised by $11,000.  I think each of us would like to

         12  raise the salaries of our staff members by $11,000

         13  as well.  And I believe that $11,000 increase would

         14  help us to recruit talented lawyers.

         15                 My six times, my five previous times

         16  I've been here, I've announced to the Committees the

         17  staff members, the lawyers in my office who have

         18  left.  Since the March hearing, in the last two

         19  months, I've lost two more staff members.  In total,

         20  out of 43 lawyers, my turnover has been 22, or 50

         21  percent of my staff.  In the last two months, I've

         22  lost two more members, one of which has remained in

         23  the field,  --  Joe  --  and one of the others, who,

         24  believe it or not, my friend Joel, who worked  --

         25                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY HYNES: She worked
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          2  for me two times before this.

          3                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY DONOVAN: All right.

          4    My good friend, Joel Klein,  --  the Chancellor is

          5  going to be thrilled to hear this  --  one of my

          6  lawyers is leaving to pursue a Masters Degree, to

          7  become a teacher, because the guaranteed salary for

          8  a teacher is so much more than that of an Assistant

          9  District Attorney.  So she's undertaking a two- year

         10  Masters Degree program. She's a sixth year lawyer.

         11  She's the lawyer that my friend Joe Hynes was

         12  talking about, the ones that we can't hold on to.

         13  And she's leaving to become a teacher because that's

         14  a much more secure salary and benefit package than

         15  we can offer our lawyers.  People who have gone to

         16  law school, and who are indebted over $100,000 in

         17  student loans.

         18                 The other  --  the comparison of our

         19  staff and the Police Department, is the turnover in

         20  the Police Department is usually after a 20- year

         21  commitment, a 20- year career.  And we lose people

         22  in our fourth, fifth, and sixth years.  I think all

         23  of us would be thrilled if we were able to keep our

         24  lawyers for 20 years.

         25                 The gun prosecutions that Rob and
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          2  Joe, Mr. Morgenthau and Judge Brown have spoken

          3  about, we started a no- plea policy on guns in

          4  Staten Island.  Unless a person who is arrested with

          5  possession of a gun tells us where they got that gun

          6  from, we don't plea bargain.  They have to go to

          7  trial.  And what that's going to do though, is

          8  result in more trials.  Which means we're going to

          9  need more staff to help the Mayor's effort and to

         10  help the efforts of the Police Department in finding

         11  out where these guns are coming from, we're sticking

         12  to our guns.  Except we don't have the resources in

         13  order to do that, in order to help this joint

         14  efforts.

         15                 The last thing I'd like to touch

         16  upon, because I've said, we've said it all the many

         17  times we've been here, is part of our

         18  responsibilities to each of our counties, besides

         19  prosecuting crimes, we're responsible for

         20  investigating crimes.  My District Attorney Police

         21  Squad is at less than half the members that I had

         22  two years ago.  And because the Police Department is

         23  limited in their resources, they're not filling in

         24  our squads any longer.  At some point, there will no

         25  longer be Detective Squads in DA's offices.  We will
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          2  have to hire detective investigators in order to

          3  fulfill our obligation by the City Charter, in order

          4  to investigate crimes.  That's going to cost us

          5  money.  That's going to be another resources that's

          6  going to become necessary for us to absorb in order

          7  to fulfill our obligations to the people in our

          8  counties.

          9                 Something we don't address regularly,

         10  and we're very fortunate to have police officers

         11  assigned to our offices, but at some point we'll

         12  have none.  As I said, I have half the number I had

         13  two years ago.  So that's another thing I'd like to

         14  bring to your attention.

         15                 Again, thank you.  Unfortunately, on

         16  Staten Island, we haven't introduced any new fish to

         17  our waters, as District Attorney Rob Johnson has,

         18  but we are struggling just to keep the people of

         19  Staten Island safe, and you guys have been great

         20  advocates for that, and we appreciate it.  Thank

         21  you.

         22                 SPECIAL PROSECUTOR BRENNAN: Thank you

         23  very much.  I too would like to thank the Council

         24  Chairs for their support.  You have been steadfast

         25  in your support, and I'm sure the combination of
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          2  your support and the Speaker's support of the DAs,

          3  probably convinced the Executive side to put more

          4  money in our budgets for next year.  But I'd like to

          5  point out that what they've done isn't enough.  I'd

          6  like to just draw a couple of distinctions between

          7  the Executive Budget proposes, and what the Council

          8  is proposal is.

          9                 The Council has proposed to gradually

         10  bring all our offices back where they were.  And

         11  that's where we need to be. It's not just that we

         12  need to be back where we were, but we need to catch

         13  up for all those lost years.  What I am looking at

         14  now, and I'm sure what the other DAs are looking at

         15  now, is a staff that is very thin in the middle.

         16  For years 2002, 2003, 2004, 2005, when we could not

         17  hire a full class of rookies, as we call them, of

         18  new staff to come into the office.  We are losing

         19  those people, and there were few of them to begin

         20  with.  That's where we need to make it up.  And we

         21  need the resources to make that up.

         22                 The Mayor's budget, the Mayor's

         23  proposal, as grateful that we are for it, doesn't

         24  quite get us there.  It does propose, for the first

         25  time in many, many years, baseline additions to our
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          2  budget, and we are very grateful for that.  However,

          3  those baseline additions are committed to new

          4  initiatives.  They don't put us back where we were

          5  before.

          6                 The Council's proposal does.  I think

          7  the Council's proposal is very far- sighted.  The

          8  Executive Budget continues with a portion of the

          9  additions to our budget being in that revenue

         10  proposal, which none of us are very happy about.

         11  And I think we need to end that program and move on.

         12    Not just put us back where we were, but allow us

         13  to expand our efforts into new areas.  My office

         14  does Citywide narcotics prosecutions.  Which is a

         15  huge mandate, because New York City is an

         16  international drug trafficking center, as well as a

         17  place where there are very real, serious

         18  neighborhood narcotics problems.  And so, we need to

         19  support our continued efforts in that regard.

         20                 I have a couple of requests that I'd

         21  like to address your attention to.  One is in the

         22  area of child abuse.  We would request that the City

         23  Council consider adding to the allotment with the

         24  child abuse grant  --  and I'd like to point out

         25  that whereas you may not think about the connection
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          2  between narcotics and child abuse, we see it all the

          3  time.  In one of our recent cases here in the City,

          4  we executed a search warrant, and found three small

          5  children in the apartment, all under the age of

          6  eight.  And in that apartment, it was filthy, there

          7  were four pit bulls.  There was a gun in an unlocked

          8  closet, well within the reach of those children. And

          9  there were narcotics all over the place.  In that

         10  case, we coordinated with the local DA's office, and

         11  determined that we would bring the child abuse

         12  charges in that case, because it was the same

         13  evidence in both instances.  I think we can

         14  certainly support that we have a major role to play

         15  in this area.  We look for additional support.

         16                 I see Speaker Quinn has joined us.

         17  And again, thank you Speaker Quinn  --

         18                 SPEAKER QUINN: I'm sorry I'm late.

         19                 SPECIAL PROSECUTOR BRENNAN: Thank

         20  you.  You didn't miss anything important.  I'm

         21  speaking.

         22                 SPEAKER QUINN: Notice that the only

         23  woman at the table said that, so you all need to be

         24  fully deferential.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  At this
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          2  point, we actually just heard from each of the

          3  District Attorneys, and each one, in your absence,

          4  praised your initiative and the Council's initiative

          5  in not only restoring the DAs' budgets, but

          6  obviously, expanding it as needed, to get them back

          7  to pre- 2001 levels.

          8                 SPEAKER QUINN: That's because they

          9  know I have a box in my office, and I can hear

         10  everything that gets said up here. No, I'm only

         11  kidding.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: So why don't we

         13  let Speaker Quinn make a statement if you'd like.

         14                 SPEAKER QUINN: Thank you.  I honestly

         15  have no statement to make.  I wanted to come up and

         16  listen to the District Attorneys and the Special

         17  Prosecutor for Narcotics, who help give me more

         18  information to use in my work advocating for greater

         19  resources for the office.  And also for my work

         20  advocating for expanded resources for child advocacy

         21  centers across the City.

         22                 So I had hoped to be here for a

         23  little bit longer than I'm going to be here, but I'm

         24  really here just to listen and to learn more.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  Thank you.
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          2    We've also been joined by a few more colleagues.

          3  We have Council Member Oliver Koppell, from the

          4  Bronx.  The former Attorney General of the State.

          5  And we had Councilman Eric Gioia, who was just here.

          6    I'm sure he'll return.  --

          7                 SPEAKER QUINN: Mr. Chairman, I'm

          8  sorry, I apologize. I just want to add one thing for

          9  the record. Because I want to thank Council Member

         10  Lou Fidler and Peter Vallone Jr., the Chair of our

         11  Public Safety Committee, for so many years, having

         12  laid the groundwork for this institution taking the

         13  position that we did on District Attorneys.  And

         14  also, I appreciate the recognition from the folks at

         15  the table.  This is really a decision that was made

         16  by the entirety of this body, not just by my office

         17  alone, and really, Peter and Lou laid the groundwork

         18  for that in their first four years here.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I'll address this

         20  to everyone. Obviously, you have strong support in

         21  the Council, and I think there's a much better

         22  start, at least, to the budget relationship this

         23  year, with Speaker Quinn, and the Mayor.  And we

         24  also have the extra money, which also helps, as far

         25  as the negotiations.
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          2                 But have you had conversations on the

          3  Mayor's side, on OMB's side as we proceed through

          4  budget negotiations as to their feelings?  And we

          5  haven't gotten the negative feedback to our

          6  proposal, the question is, are you affirmatively

          7  going what you can to try to convey your message to

          8  the Administration how important it is to get these

          9  additional funding?

         10                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY DONOVAN: We are in

         11  constant conversation with the Criminal Justice

         12  Coordinators Office and OMB. And you know, while as

         13  I think Chair Vallone indicated, that has not been

         14  completely negative, you know, they're not fully on

         15  board with everything we're recommending, obviously.

         16    They are continuing to look to us.  We are

         17  continuing to send them information about our needs.

         18    And we have great hope that they will be

         19  responsive, particularly considering the position

         20  the City is in right now financially.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Special

         22  Prosecutor Brennan, did we interrupt your statement?

         23    Were you done?  Because feel free to continue if

         24  that accidentally happened.

         25                 SPECIAL PROSECUTOR BRENNAN: That's
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          2  okay.  But my statement is before you.  You have a

          3  written copy of it.  The only thing I didn't touch

          4  on I think was our request for a gun initiative.

          5  But that's in the document before you.

          6                 SPEAKER QUINN: Tell us about the gun

          7  initiative if you don't mind.

          8                 SPECIAL PROSECUTOR BRENNAN: All

          9  right.  Again, this is an area where you might not

         10  necessarily see the clear nexus between our office

         11  and that mission.  But narcotics and guns go hand in

         12  hand throughout the City.  You see it all the time.

         13  And I believe in 184 search warrants we've had so

         14  far this year, we've recovered guns.  We need more

         15  funds in order to build our investigations.

         16  Investigations like this are extremely expensive,

         17  and we have to dedicate both assistants and

         18  investigators' time into this.  Our investigative

         19  staff, as well as our assistants have been cut back

         20  since the budget cuts started.  We've had, I believe

         21  it's four investigator positions that have never

         22  been replaced.  As we've had retirements, we've

         23  never been able to replace people.

         24                 So that's again, another area where

         25  we're looking for funding to beef up our efforts in
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          2  that regard.  And to address a problem which is

          3  absolutely critical in the City.  I don't have to

          4  tell you, we saw another example of it last week.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Chair Vallone, do

          6  you have any questions?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well just again,

          8  for the Speaker's benefit, let me also say that you

          9  know, we've supported you here at the Council in the

         10  past, but the level of support from Christine Quinn,

         11  has not been seen before.  And I applaud her for her

         12  efforts on your behalf down here.  It is  --  I am

         13  just tickled pink to have an ally like Christine

         14  Quinn when it comes to fighting for this District

         15  Attorney's money.  And the fact that she's here

         16  today you know, says volumes.  I know that she's met

         17  with some of us individually to become an expert in

         18  these figures, and the short version is that your

         19  funding is now down 17 percent from 2001, $40

         20  million.  While index crimes may be down, arrests

         21  are up, as DA Hynes says.  Arrest arraignment time

         22  is creeping upward again, through no fault of your

         23  own, because of your resources, you can't retain

         24  your counsel.  And in fact, I explained to the Corp.

         25  Counsel as he sat in that seat just this week, that
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          2  we did not begrudge him his money, but that he

          3  should bring the message back that whatever he

          4  needs, you need at least as much.

          5                 And again, I've made my position

          6  clear many times, so I won't say it again.

          7                 The money that  --  again, because

          8  Speaker Quinn has spearheaded child abuse

          9  investigations  --  what is the need for that money?

         10    And how would your individual offices be able to

         11  use that money?

         12                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY HYNES: We have a

         13  Child Advocacy Bureau, and we have a Child Advocacy

         14  Center.  In the wake of this Nixzmary Brown's

         15  tragedy, we had a proliferation of complaints.  And

         16  so I had to draft people from other parts of the

         17  office, which causes a hole, wherever you grab

         18  people or draft people, whether it's in the Trial

         19  Division, or the Investigative Division, it impacts

         20  ultimately on arrests to arraignment.  It impacts

         21  ultimately on our ability to dispose of cases that

         22  have sufficient trial.  So, you know, it has an

         23  effect that's you know, linked. But when Speaker

         24  Quinn spoke a couple of  --  a month ago I guess,

         25  with I guess the real DA in the City, at that press
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          2  conference, I mean, she hit the nail right on the

          3  head.  I mean, we need additional resources to beef

          4  up our child abuse response.

          5                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY JOHNSON: May I just

          6  add that we're working in conjunction with four

          7  hospitals in which we respond to centers where a

          8  multi- disciplinary team  --  there's a Bronx multi

          9  disciplinary team that includes our Child Abuse

         10  Response Unit, and that team is comprised of police,

         11  Department of Education, the hospitals, ACS.  And

         12  it's designed to be a very labor- intensive

         13  investigations, in that speaking to children is not

         14  the same as speaking to an adult victim.  It's

         15  designed to minimize the impact on the victim by not

         16  having repetitive interviews.  And we have only one

         17  Assistant DA working full time on this matter.  And

         18  you know, when I called her this afternoon to try

         19  and get some of the statistics, she wasn't available

         20  because she was at a hospital doing a joint

         21  interview.  And as I indicated before, we receive

         22  about 2,000 complaints from ACS annually.  And ACS,

         23  I understand, just on the January numbers, went from

         24  1,400 bonus complaints to 2,200 bonus complaints,

         25  that they received.  After the tragedies that we've

                                                            182

          1  FINANCE AND PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  spoken about.

          3                 So our request is to continue this

          4  mission, but not to put a burden on people, not to

          5  have to pull people away from other cases that the

          6  Child Abuse Sex Crimes Bureau is doing.  So we

          7  requested four additional Assistant DAs, and six

          8  investigators in order to take care of this

          9  important task.

         10                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY MORGENTHAU: I mean,

         11  we got a Child Abuse Unit since 1989.  But it's

         12  overwhelmed now, by the amount of work  --  the

         13  Mayor has allocated an additional $16 million for

         14  new initiatives through services to children.  And I

         15  applaud that.  But that also means that at the end

         16  of the line  --  and we're at the end of the line in

         17  terms of dealing with those abuse cases  -- that's

         18  got to be properly funded.  And so, we asked for

         19  $479,000 to deal with this additional case load,

         20  which we welcome.

         21                 I want to say two other things.  I

         22  appreciate the Speaker's interest in restoring

         23  budget cuts.  It's extremely constructive.  I think

         24  parity with the Corporation Counsel is critical.  I

         25  mean, for the past few years, they got a 20 percent
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          2  increase in salaries, and now the Mayor's budget,

          3  there's another $9 million proposed.  But the bottom

          4  line is that the economic health of this City, and

          5  public safety, go hand in hand.  And your not going

          6  to have the economy of this City grow unless people

          7  feel safe.  And the 41 million visitors in Manhattan

          8  alone last year, people are not going to come here

          9  and spend money unless they feel safe.  So it's

         10  really very short- sighted to say, well, we're not

         11  going to fund the prosecutors to the extent

         12  necessary.

         13                 And we want the City to grow.  We

         14  want it to grow, and it will grow, if it's a safe

         15  city.  And that's why I applaud what the initiative

         16  taken by this Council to restore over  a period of

         17  time, the $40 million in budget cuts, and to fund

         18  important areas like gun prosecutions.  I mean, you

         19  know, it's kind of ridicules to talk about what

         20  they're selling in terms of Virginia and Georgia and

         21  Florida.  And yet, we're not devoting the resources

         22  to prosecute the cases when those guns arrive in New

         23  York.  And that requires money.  And that should be

         24  available.

         25                 Let's not blame the people down
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          2  South, unless we're doing the job that we should be

          3  doing up here, and we're not doing it, because we

          4  don't have the resources.

          5                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY BROWN: I just want

          6  to underscore for a moment if I might, the issue of

          7  our child abuse prosecutions. I had said earlier the

          8  fact that last year, in 2005, we had 11,000 cases of

          9  child abuse reported to the central registry in

         10  Albany form Queens County.  And 2,268 of those cases

         11  were referred to us to investigate the possible

         12  criminality.  I think the important point to be made

         13  at this juncture is that I took a look at the

         14  figures for the first four months of this year.

         15  Last year, we had 652 cases referred to us to

         16  prosecute for possible criminality. This year, we're

         17  up to 1,337 for the first four months.  That's a 105

         18  percent increase.  And that has not changed.  It

         19  continues to walk that line.

         20                 So hope is that we're going to see

         21  some very specific funding thanks to your

         22  initiative, with regard to our child advocacy

         23  centers, and our ability to prosecute those rather

         24  tragic cases.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Speaker Quinn,
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          2  you had a question?

          3                 SPEAKER QUINN: Yes, I just was

          4  wondering if people could go across borough wise,

          5  and just tell us which boroughs have commingled

          6  might not be the right word, but would have child

          7  advocacy centers where there are you know, ACS

          8  workers, or Social Service Workers, it might be Safe

          9  Horizon, DAs and police precincts right in the site.

         10    Because I understand, it might not be the best

         11  model for child advocacy centers, where you have all

         12  of the staff there together, there are others that

         13  are quite good, that don't have actually the

         14  District Attorneys or the police officers there on

         15  site.  So I just wanted to, for the record,

         16  understand which boroughs have them starting.  The

         17  other issue is they need to have more hours, but

         18  even where you have a commingled one, it doesn't

         19  mean you're all set.  That's not our point here

         20  either, but  --

         21                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY DONOVAN: As you

         22  know, you visited our Child Advocacy Centers.  I

         23  think you were pretty impressed, because it's got

         24  every co- located agency necessary to handle the

         25  kids.  We have a two- way mirror that the children
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          2  will not have repetitive interviews, and DA Johnson

          3  said.  It's a beautiful center, and I think it does

          4  great things.

          5                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY MORGENTHAU: And

          6  there has to be prompt intervention.  And the Social

          7  Workers have to understand that if they find

          8  evidence of a crime being committed against a child,

          9  that they can immediately reach the police and the

         10  DA, who will intervene and help them and support

         11  them.

         12                 SPEAKER QUINN: District Attorney

         13  Morgenthau, in Manhattan, do we have a co- located

         14  facility?

         15                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY MORGENTHAU: We do.

         16  And we're working  --

         17                 SPEAKER QUINN: Where is the co-

         18  located one?

         19                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY MORGENTHAU: Well we

         20  have a collaborative in Harlem  --

         21                 SPEAKER QUINN: Does it have the

         22  precinct on site and the DAs?

         23                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY MORGENTHAU: We work

         24  with the Harlem Hospital, with the public defenders,

         25  so when there's an abuse case, everybody is notified
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          2  and all the facilities are available.

          3                 SPEAKER QUINN: Yes, I don't  --

          4                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY MORGENTHAU: We're

          5  not trying to get  --

          6                 SPEAKER QUINN: I don't  -- just for

          7  the record, because I may not be clear in what I'm

          8  speaking about.  I don't think in Manhattan we have

          9  a co- located facility.  We have facilities that

         10  work collaboratively, but in my vision of co

         11  location facility, you would actually have a holding

         12  cell, a police precinct, the District Attorneys and

         13  the Social Workers.  In Manhattan, we don't have

         14  that yet, I don't believe.

         15                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY MORGENTHAU: Well,

         16  we tried to get funding for that.

         17                 SPEAKER QUINN: Yes, yes, of course.

         18                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY MORGENTHAU: And

         19  haven't succeeded.

         20                 SPEAKER QUINN: Right.  And in Queens?

         21                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY BROWN: In Queens,

         22  we do indeed have a co- located facility.  It's the

         23  old Medical Society building on Queens Boulevard in

         24  Forest Hills.  And at that location, we have the

         25  Police Department, their Special Victims Child Abuse
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          2  Unit is there; ACS is there; our office is there;

          3  Safe Horizons, which provides for the counseling and

          4  the victim services.  And also, significantly, we

          5  have a full- time doctor from LIJ's Schneider's

          6  Children Hospital.  And that's where we last year,

          7  handled our 2,268 investigation of child abuse, and

          8  where we're handling the increased number this year

          9  as well.

         10                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY JOHNSON: Our

         11  facility in the Bronx is not co- located.  We have

         12  four hospitals, St. Barnabas, Montefiore, Lincoln,

         13  and Jacobi, in which we respond.  And the members of

         14  the team will respond to these four sites.  And we

         15  could do these interviews at the facilities in our

         16  office, but we usually do not.  And one of the

         17  benefits of having this is that all four teams work

         18  collaboratively to deal with how to approach these

         19  issues, to make sure that the response is timely.

         20  And it is working for us in the sense that we don't

         21  have to move the victims, that we respond to where

         22  the hospital  --  in the neighborhood where the

         23  victim is.  So we have essentially what we're

         24  talking about in terms of the services without

         25  having one centralized facility to do it.
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          2                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY DONOVAN: Speaker,

          3  our facility is centralized, and we're actually

          4  moving it into our building, which we're thrilled,

          5  because our lawyers are on the sixth, seventh,

          6  eighth, and ninth floors, and we're moving it to the

          7  fifth floor. So it's going to be very easy.  In the

          8  interim, we do have a facility at St. Peter's

          9  Church, and we also have a child interview room in

         10  our office that we use to video tape and walls are

         11  microphoned, and the child doesn't even know they're

         12  being interviewed.

         13                 SPEAKER QUINN: I just want to add

         14  kind of something.  I mean, the facilities that

         15  aren't co- located are very good as well.  I just

         16  happen to think the other is a slightly stronger

         17  model just for the kind of longer- term work of the

         18  Council to kind of put in all of our heads, and the

         19  District Attorneys heads, in the course of having

         20  different meetings at that some of the child

         21  advocacy centers across the City, and also visiting

         22  some other institutions, I think we are failing to

         23  really utilize the skills of some of the medical

         24  doctors out there in the community. And I think that

         25  we would also be well served in our  --  after the
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          2  budgets are done  --  to put our heads together and

          3  there's a lot of pediatricians and doctors out there

          4  who want to work with government on this, who are

          5  anxious to be more involved in catching child abuse

          6  very, very early.  And the doctors at child advocacy

          7  centers I think are prepared to help lead us in

          8  figuring out how we bring more effectively ER

          9  doctors and regular pediatricians with offices into

         10  our efforts to fight child abuse, and to identify it

         11  more quickly.  So that's another project I think we

         12  all should work together on.

         13                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY MORGENTHAU: I think

         14  that there are a lot of doctors that want to be

         15  involved, and there are seven centers affiliated

         16  with hospitals that deal with child abuse.  And we

         17  have a seven- day- a- week, 24- hour day hotline, so

         18  they can call us when there's a problem.  And these

         19  doctors, I think, want to stay   --  and these

         20  social workers  --  what to say with their own

         21  centers and hospitals.  I don't think they would

         22  want to serve in a single center.  I think that  --

         23                 SPEAKER QUINN: I agree with you.  I

         24  think in Manhattan, I mean, I think that is clear.

         25  I think in Manhattan, we're going to move to do a
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          2  co- located facility.  We would have to start

          3  another one.  I agree with you.  I think we couldn't

          4  take one that is, and expand it to that.  I think we

          5  would need to add to our realm.  But you know, I

          6  think with the pediatricians, there's just

          7  tremendous opportunities there, outside one of these

          8  centers as well.

          9                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY BROWN: I had

         10  mentioned the fact that we have a full- time doctor

         11  from LIJ Schneider Children's Hospital at our Child

         12  Advocacy Center.  I think it should be noted that we

         13  have that doctor there simply because LIJ has

         14  donated that doctor's services.  In other words,

         15  there's no City funding for that doctor whatsoever.

         16  And we're very fortunate indeed to have that doctor

         17  there.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: That center also

         19  exists due to the Council Funding for Safe Horizon.

         20  Is that correct?  Yes.

         21                 SPEAKER QUINN: Thank you all very

         22  much.  Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes, we've also

         24  been joined by Councilman Jim Gennaro, from Queens.

         25  And I believe Councilman Fidler had a question.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I'm puzzled.

          3  Where's Jack McCoy?  I don't know.  I guess that's

          4  not going to help me move up when Felder and Oddo

          5  and the Funniest Councilman contest I guess.

          6                 Actually, at this time of the year,

          7  I'm used to doing annual tarontella, but the cumbia

          8  spirit at the moment just kind of doesn't lend

          9  itself.  But I did catch, during Special

         10  Prosecutor's testimony, a reference to maybe my

         11  pettest (sic) peeve in the entire New York City

         12  budget, which is the play for pay mechanism by which

         13  the Administration has you know, funded the District

         14  Attorney's offices, and Council Member Vallone tells

         15  me that 80 percent of the money that you get from

         16  this prosecute the guys who can get you the money

         17  back plan, is actually front loaded to you at this

         18  point. I just want to one, know if that is in fact

         19  your experience?  Are they doing that?  And two, do

         20  you ever see the other 20 percent?  And three, how

         21  much money is represented by that 20 percent?

         22                 SPECIAL PROSECUTOR BRENNAN: For us

         23  Council Member Fidler, it's only 27 percent that's

         24  front loaded.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Anybody else?
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          2                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY DONOVAN: Actually

          3  Council Member, it's 82 percent that's front loaded.

          4    And the difficulty with that always is that's a

          5  year to year and we can't hire staff based on

          6  something that's not in the baseline.  So although

          7  that's helpful, you know, we're not going to reject

          8  any funding and resources that are given to us, it

          9  doesn't help us as a baseline increase that's being

         10  proposed by the Council with the  --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: So the Special

         12  Prosecutor only gets 27 percent of her money front

         13  loaded.  You get 82 percent.  Is that for all five

         14  DAs?

         15                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY JOHNSON: It's 82

         16  percent for the Bronx, and the other 18 percent

         17  represents about a half million dollars that we will

         18  be waiting for.  And you know, the 82 percent we

         19  won't be able to plan on next year, and the half

         20  million, we can't plan on this year or next year

         21  immediately.  We can't make plans for that.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: All right, so

         23  in the Bronx, that represents a half a million

         24  dollars, which I guess could be nine or ten ADAs,

         25  just on opening salaries, just for that.
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          2                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY JOHNSON: Exactly.

          3                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY HYNES: For us, it's

          4  a million and a quarter.  But as DA Donovan points

          5  out, and DA Johnson supports, that doesn't give us

          6  long- term planning.  It's baseline  --  it's not a

          7  baselined piece.  But you know, you can't be

          8  choosers when you're like us.  I left off the first

          9  part.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Well, you

         11  shouldn't have to be beggers.  You know,  --

         12                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY HYNES: That's the

         13  word I was going to use.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Well, and the

         15  fact of the matter is that I,  --  for a Mayor who

         16  prides himself on his business background, I don't

         17  understand why he doesn't get the point that the

         18  money that comes in this fashion doesn't allow for

         19  you to administer your offices in a business- like,

         20  efficient fashion.  Not to mention the fact that I

         21  think there is an absolute moral question about

         22  suggesting to prosecutors that the need to prosecute

         23  you know, certain people to make sure they make

         24  their threshold of money recovered, so that they can

         25  hire people in their office.  I think there's just
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          2  something morally repugnant about that, and you can

          3  be sure that every time OMB comes into this room to

          4  discuss the budget, I will point that out to them.

          5                 My second question I suppose is, I've

          6  heard a lot of testimony regarding prior funding

          7  levels, and increased arrests. That doesn't even

          8  begin to address the proactive programs that some of

          9  you run to prevent crime.  To discourage recidivism,

         10  to encourage young people not to take the wrong

         11  path.  How do these budget cuts affect your offices

         12  in terms of your ability to run those programs,

         13  which you know, clearly are extraordinarily penny

         14  wise?

         15                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY HYNES: Well I

         16  couldn't risk cutting any of those programs, so the

         17  drug treatment program could lose staff.  The Youth

         18  and Congregation partnership we have with the faith-

         19  based institutions, we have 76 of them in Brooklyn.

         20  I couldn't cut that staff.  We have a reentry

         21  program, which has cut recidivism dramatically, from

         22  70 percent to 22 percent.  We certainly couldn't cut

         23  that staff.  So I mean, what we had to do really, is

         24  I stated earlier, we had to turn to the volunteer

         25  people.  People who would respond to the Law
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          2  Journal.  It was a patch kind of thing that we had

          3  to deal with.  Because it would be absolutely

          4  counter productive if we stopped any of our

          5  prevention programs, which are dramatically

          6  successful.  Not by my assessment, but I mean, you

          7  take the Center on Alcohol and Substance Abuse at

          8  Columbia University, run by Joe Califono, they

          9  studied the drug treatment program for five years,

         10  and found it to be the most effective drug treatment

         11  modality in the country.  And each of my colleagues

         12  has a drug treatment program as a result of that.

         13                 So I mean, you know, we're faced with

         14  a reality. That you have to have the line protected

         15  and what happens is, our kids are carrying case

         16  loads of 150 to 200 cases.  And I don't mind

         17  admitting that it is very, very tough to do the

         18  right thing when you have that kind of caseload.

         19  So, but you have to make do.  You know, we would

         20  love to see the restoration that you're proposing.

         21  Because that makes perfect sense, restore it over a

         22  period of time.

         23                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY BROWN: Let me just

         24  point out to you that I came this morning from the

         25  United States Tennis facility in Flushing Meadow

                                                            197

          1  FINANCE AND PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  Park.  We had  --  and no, I was not playing this

          3  morning  --  but I came there this morning because

          4  we took 1,000 kids from the Rockaways.  This is the

          5  ninth year that we've done it.  It's part of our Say

          6  No to Violence Program.  We brought 1,000 kids to

          7  the tennis center this morning for a day of tennis.

          8  I'd love to expand that program beyond where it is

          9  now, which is just the Rockaways.  But I don't have

         10  the facilities or the money to do it.  And

         11  certainly, you know, I'm funding this all out of my

         12  own budget.  I do it because it's the right thing to

         13  do.  Because it means something in the last

         14  analysis.  And certainly, you know, this is an area

         15  that I'd love to go ahead and expand upon.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Well I just

         17   --  you know, I just want to conclude by you know,

         18  joining Chairman Vallone.  He said he's tickled

         19  pink.  I'm tickled green that the Speaker is with

         20  us.  And that's not an Irish reference.  That's a

         21  money reference. You know, we have been attempting

         22  to row this boat up the river with you up stream for

         23  the last four years, to try and get you near whole.

         24  And the battle each time is  --  you know, has to

         25  start off for some reason, by restoring cuts to your

                                                            198

          1  FINANCE AND PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  baseline to begin with, no less bringing us past

          3  that point in the river.  And this year, I'm quite

          4  optimistic, and I'm very proud that the Speaker has

          5  asked me together with Council Member Vallone, to be

          6  the point person for the initiative that she

          7  announced in the budget to make sure that we go

          8  beyond that point in the river this year.

          9                 One of you said to me right before

         10  the hearing started, "Well here we are again.  It's

         11  deja vue all over again". I watch Law and Order 12

         12  times a week, so I can do reruns.  But the fact of

         13  the matter is, it's not going to be a rerun this

         14  time. We're going to take this episode a little bit

         15  further.  And it may not be the conclusion, but we

         16  are definitely going to make progress in the Council

         17  this year, to making sure that we fulfill the first

         18  obligation of any government, and that is to keep

         19  people safe. That is the job the six of you do

         20  together with our Police Department.  Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you Council

         22  Member Fidler. The next contestant in the contest

         23  for second funniest Council Member is Simcha Felder,

         24  is Jim Oddo.  But before we get to Jim, Council

         25  Member Gennaro was actually next on the list.  He
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          2  just wanted me to convey to you all his support for

          3  you.  He did have to leave for a doctor's

          4  appointment, but he has been a big support of you.

          5  And he wanted to apologize.  Council Member Oddo.

          6  It's open mike tonight.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: We're doing it

          8  for charity, by the way.  We're having a comedy

          9  night, and all of us will get up there and the money

         10  we raise, we're going to donate to charity. Dan

         11  Donovan often believes he's the funniest elected

         12  official on Staten Island, but this is not the case.

         13                 Council Member Fidler sort of stepped

         14  on my line, because I was going to say that these

         15  hearings are like a Seinfeld episode that we've seen

         16  time and time again, except they're not funny.  And

         17  what I mean by that is, I know what you folks are

         18  going to say, and you know what we're going to say.

         19  And I find it interesting  --  I think there's an

         20  analogous dynamic within the Council, within this

         21  side of City Hall, to the point that DA Morgenthau

         22  made about the Corp. Counsel folks, and parity.  And

         23  I've said this to you folks before, that I'm

         24  frustrated by the fact that within our own

         25  institution, historically, amongst my colleagues
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          2  both past and present, there seems to be a much

          3  stronger urgency to fund the Legal Aid Society, both

          4  the criminal side and legal services side, more of

          5  an urgency to fund those folks who do good work,

          6  most times, to fund those folks, than there is an

          7  urgency to fund you.  And I frankly  --  I have

          8  never really understood that.  And it's taken

          9  incredible work buy Peter Vallone, and Fidler, and

         10  now Christine Quinn to sort of change the framework.

         11    It's our job in the next few weeks to kind of get

         12  the masses within this body to follow that

         13  leadership.

         14                 And I just want to say one other

         15  thing.  And that's earlier today, when the Police

         16  Commissioner testified, I said to him,  --  I

         17  thanked him, and said that he and the Department and

         18  the Mayor were doing God's work in terms of guns.

         19  And I think DA Morgenthau's comments are the

         20  comments that will stay with me from this hearing,

         21  and about talking about not only looking south, but

         22  as we look south, and we do those good things to try

         23  to stem the flow, how do we do that?  How are we

         24  consistent in making some incredibly strong stands

         25  on that?  But at the same time, not living up to our
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          2  financial commitment to prosecute those gun runners

          3  and those criminals here today.  And I thought that

          4  was the most honest and powerful statement we've

          5  heard on that issue in a long time.               And

          6  I'll close by saying that we will do our best on

          7  this side to convince our colleagues to stand united

          8  to fight for as much money as we can get for you

          9  guys.  And try to get the Administration to do more

         10  than what it's done to date.

         11  Thank you.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: We've been

         13  joined by Council Member Vincent Gentile, from

         14  Brooklyn.  Thank you Council Member Oddo.  Very

         15  moving.  Not too funny, but very moving.

         16                 Are there any other Council Members

         17  with questions? Council Member Gentile.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Thank you Mr.

         19  Chairman and Mr. Chairman.  And I just want to add

         20  my voice too, to the fact that I'm a warrior in this

         21  war also, having been an Assistant DA for a while.

         22  In Queens, yes.  And Dave Weprin's backyard.  But

         23  not for one or two or three years, but for 11 years.

         24    So I've been through this on both sides of the

         25  equation.  And I was on your side of the equation
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          2  when things were even better, and we had a hard

          3  time.  So I can just imagine what you're telling me

          4  now, and projecting myself into the situations you

          5  describe, and knowing how tough it was back in the

          6  90s, and to hear what is happening now, it really is

          7  difficult.

          8                 On this side of the equation, I've

          9  heard this story before.  And as Councilman Oddo

         10  said, I think it's taken a while to change the look

         11  and approach that this Council has taken toward law

         12  enforcement and the District Attorney's funding.

         13  It's beginning to happen, because of the advocacy of

         14  those that you see up here.  And your continued

         15  advocacy too.  So I guess what we're saying is that

         16  you're not alone.  That we're here as a group, and

         17  will continue to fight and to be sure that your part

         18  of the law enforcement community is treated just as

         19  seriously and just as important as every other part

         20  of the law enforcement community.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I actually have a

         22  question for Special Prosecutor Brennan.  I'm

         23  looking at the beautiful annual report, and I

         24  noticed among your Assistant District Attorneys,

         25  obviously, you're headquartered in New York County,
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          2  so you have quite a few in New York County, but you

          3  also have quite a few in Kings County and Bronx

          4  County.  But I noticed only one in Queens County,

          5  Assistant DA.  Why is that?

          6                 SPECIAL PROSECUTOR BRENNAN: That's

          7  the way the DAs set up their office.  So you'll have

          8  to speak to the DAs about that.  Our office is a

          9  creation of an agreement among the five District

         10  Attorneys.  I'm appointed by the five DAs.  We

         11  support the other offices with a variety of

         12  resources.  The central office is one aspect of the

         13  office.  We also offer support to the other DA's

         14  offices in other ways.  So this is the way the DAs,

         15  in their great wisdom, have decided to set up the

         16  office.  And the office is proudly successful.  It

         17  is the only office of its kind in the nation.  And

         18  it is well recognized throughout the nation as a

         19  leader in this area.  So I only say that somewhat in

         20  jest.  It works quite well.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I'm sure DA Brown

         22  will tell us that his staff obviously supplements

         23  the Assistant in the drug area.  DA Brown?

         24                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY BROWN: We have a

         25  very active Narcotics Investigations Bureau, and a
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          2  Narcotics Trial Bureau in the office.  And so we

          3  handle a lot of our cases in- house.  But by the

          4  same token, we do work very closely with the Special

          5  Narcotics Prosecutor on those case which cross the

          6  county boundaries.

          7                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY MORGENTHAU: When

          8  Special Narcotics was set up, there were central

          9  lines and decentral lines.  And each county got

         10  decent lines.  In other words, we could have put

         11  eight people working in the Manhattan's DA's office.

         12  We thought that was wasteful, so we took all of our

         13  money which we had for decentral lines, and put that

         14  in to the Special Narcotic budget.  So that's why

         15  you see more people from New York County, because we

         16  didn't keep them.  Whereas the other counties kept

         17  some of their people, we didn't keep any.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, that's

         19  fine.  As long as it works, I mean,  --  Chair

         20  Vallone.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Let me just

         22  conclude, basically, by saying that  --  and Council

         23  Member Oddo's entirely correct.  We're not only

         24  fighting with the other side, but many times, we

         25  find ourselves here fighting with our own colleagues
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          2  for your funding.  I'm not sure why that is either.

          3  But it absolutely exists, so we enlist your aid in

          4  convincing some of our colleagues about the

          5  necessity to fund you.  And if they don't   --  I

          6  mean, maybe they just don't understand you know,

          7  what is it is exactly you do, but if they don't

          8  perhaps they understand the increased costs to the

          9  City when you lack funding.  The costs to

         10  Corrections for people sitting in jail longer than

         11  they should be awaiting trial or waiting

         12  arraignment.  The costs to the Police Department for

         13  police officers sleeping in the hallways, waiting to

         14  be see an e- cap assistant, and arraignment

         15  assistant.  The costs to this City, in perhaps lost

         16  tourism if a crime makes national headlines, or

         17  potentially lost lives.

         18                 So we look forward to working with

         19  you.  Your allies here look forward to working with

         20  you in convincing the rest of this Council to get on

         21  board.  As I said, it's the fact that the Speaker is

         22  here for this hearing, and the work that she's done

         23  already on this is going to be a huge asset to us.

         24  DA Donovan you look like you want to say something.

         25                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY DONOVAN: Yes.  I
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          2  know that you are very concerned with a bill that's

          3  being proposed, which would allow a defendant to sue

          4  the City if they're not arraigned within a 24 hour

          5  period.  And that's going to cost the City of New

          6  York millions and millions of dollars.  If a portion

          7  of that money was put in all of our budgets, it's

          8  more likely that people then would be arraigned

          9  within a 24-hour period, but to propose a bill and

         10  to pass a bill that guarantees a defendant the right

         11    --  I can't speak for the five other of my

         12  colleagues who are here, but I suspect that they

         13  would all think that that would be a ridiculous

         14  relief, rather than funding us at a portion of that

         15  money, that it would probably guarantee more often

         16  than not that people would be arraigned in a proper

         17  amount of time.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well, thank you

         19  for that support.  I have been fighting against that

         20  bill, and I don't believe  --  I think you're all on

         21  the record saying there's nothing else humanely

         22  possible for any of you to do to increase the speed

         23  between arrest and arraignment, other than get more

         24  resources from us.  So it's not like giving a

         25  lawsuit to anyone who is going to light a fire under
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          2  you, so... But that is something we will absolutely

          3  discuss with all of you down the road.  I know we're

          4  running a little behind schedule, and you all need

          5  to go, but Jimmy Oddo has one last question.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Yes, one just

          7  exclamation point on the points we made about the

          8  internal conflict within the Council.

          9                 It's unfathomable to me to have a

         10  colleague stand on the floor of the Council and cry

         11  gun violence front and center in front of the

         12  cameras at the wake and the funeral of a child, and

         13  then not make that natural leap, that natural nexus

         14  to the fact that the DAs are under-funded and can't

         15  achieve the results we want.  You know, it's not

         16  that difficult to make that connection.  And yet,

         17  time and time again, some of our colleagues don't.

         18  So you wonder.  You scratch your head and you wonder

         19  exactly what is the agenda.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Well, that

         21  concludes the District Attorney portion.

         22                 We want to thank you all for your

         23  cooperation with the Council, and for your

         24  accessibility on a regular basis, whether it be in

         25  the budget process, or throughout the year, and we
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          2  do appreciate that.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 (Hearing concluded at 4:00 p.m.)
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